

REPORT

Mary River Project

2022 Marine Mammal Aerial Survey Program

Submitted to:

Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation

2275 Upper Middle Road East - Suite 300, Oakville, Ontario, L6H 0C3

Submitted by:

WSP Canada Inc.

102, 2535 - 3rd Avenue S.E., Calgary, Alberta, T2A 7W5, Canada

+1 403 299 5600

166372401-428-R-Rev0-59000

27 April 2023

Distribution List

Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation

Executive Summary

In July and August 2022, WSP Canada Inc. (WSP), on behalf of Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation (Baffinland), completed a Marine Mammal Aerial Survey Program (MMASP) designed to assess narwhal distribution and abundance in the Regional Study Area (RSA) and Admiralty Inlet. The 2022 MMASP was staged in two separate legs. Leg 1 (19 July to 2 August) targeted a 15-day window at the end of July and early August to collect data on the presence/absence and distribution of marine mammals in the RSA relative to ice conditions at that time of year and prior to the start of shipping operations. Shipping operations began on the evening on 30 July 2022. Leg 2 (9 to 23 August) targeted a 15-day window in August to obtain an annual abundance estimate for the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet narwhal summer stocks during the open-water season. Survey design and data collection methodology previously developed by Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO) (Matthews et al. 2017; Marcoux et al. 2016; Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a; Asselin and Richard 2011) and implemented by Golder Associates Ltd. (amalgamated under WSP Canada Inc. in January 2023) in 2019 (Golder 2020a), 2020 (Golder 2021a), and 2021 (Golder 2022c) was adopted to allow for comparable abundance estimates.

Two types of aerial surveys were flown: a visual-based survey in which marine mammal sightings were collected along established line transects using a double-platform approach with Marine Mammal Observers (MMOs) stationed at independent observation platforms at the front and rear of the aircraft, and a photographic-based survey in which digital single-lens reflex (DSLR) cameras were installed on the aircraft to collect high definition photographic images of the survey area directly below the aircraft. Photographic surveys were flown in areas of high narwhal concentrations where accurate counts would be difficult to obtain using visual means. Marine mammal sightings, environmental conditions and survey data were entered into a database (Mysticetus©).

During the visual-based surveys, a total of 3,359 sightings (i.e., group of individuals within one to two body lengths of each other) of 7,621 individual marine mammals were recorded by the observers during July and August 2022 (including Legs 1 and 2 surveys in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet). A total of eight different marine mammals species were observed during the surveys: narwhal (*Monodon monoceros*; 2,397 sightings totalling 4,863 individuals), ringed seal (*Pusa hispida*; 477 sightings totalling 541 individuals), harp seal (*Pagophilus groenlandicus*; 243 sightings totalling 1,753 individuals), beluga whale (*Delphinapterus leucas*; 28 sightings totalling 208 individuals), bowhead whale (*Balaena mysticetus*; 19 sightings totalling 27 individuals), polar bear (*Ursus maritimus*; 16 sightings totalling 18 individuals), bearded seal (*Erignathus barbatus*; nine sightings totalling nine individuals), and walrus (*Odobenus rosmarus*; one sighting of an individual walrus). Unidentified seal (167 sightings totalling 196 individuals) and unidentified whale (five sightings of individuals) were also recorded during the surveys.

During the photographic surveys, a total of 9,740 sightings of 15,966 individual marine mammals were recorded by the 2022 MMASP photo analysis combined across all surveys. Photographic surveys were conducted in high density areas of Milne Inlet, Tremblay Sound and Admiralty Inlet. Three different species of marine mammals were recorded for the photographic surveys: narwhal (9,730 sightings totalling 15,936 individuals), beluga whale (five sightings totalling 25 individuals), and bowhead whale (five sightings of individual bowhead whales).

At the beginning of the Leg 1 survey program, open water was present in the central portion of Navy Board Inlet, south Milne Inlet (Assomption Harbour and Koluktoo Bay), Tremblay Sound and in eastern Eclipse Sound (i.e., Pond Inlet strata). By the end of the Leg 1 survey program, open water was present throughout the RSA.

Results from the 2022 Leg 1 survey indicated high narwhal numbers at the start of the program (21–24 July) with narwhal numbers dropping during the second half of the program (27 July–1 August). Prior to the first ore carrier transit on 30 July 2022, large numbers of narwhal had already migrated through the RSA and were primarily concentrated in south Milne Inlet and Tremblay Sound.

For the Leg 2 surveys, narwhal summer stock abundance was calculated for the Eclipse Sound stock, the Admiralty Inlet stock, and the combined Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet stocks. The 2022 narwhal abundance estimate for the combined Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet stocks was 46,408 narwhal (CV = 0.13, 95% CI of 36,129-59,611) based on aerial surveys conducted on 17-18 August 2022. This estimate was not statistically different than the combined stock abundance calculated during the previous DFO survey conducted in August 2013 (45,532 narwhal, CV = 0.33, 95% CI of 22,440–92,384; Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a), the 2019 Baffinland estimate of 38,677 (CV = 0.11, 95% CI of 31,155-48,015), and the 2020 Baffinland estimate of 36,044 (CV = 0.12, 95% CI of 28,267-45,961). The 2022 combined estimate was statistically lower than the 2021 Baffinland estimate of 75,177 (CV = 0.08, 95% CI of 63,795-88,590).

For Eclipse Sound stock alone, the narwhal abundance estimate was 4,592 narwhal (CV = 0.10, 95% CI of 3,754–5,617) based on an average of Baffinland's aerial surveys conducted on 17 and 21 August 2022. The 2022 estimate was statistically higher than the 2021 estimate of 2,595 (CV = 0.33, 95% CI of 1,369–4,919; Golder 2022c), indicating that narwhal numbers appear to be increasing from the numbers observed in 2021. The 2022 estimate remains statistically lower than the 2016 estimate of 12,039 (CV = 0.23, 95% CI of 7,768–18,660; Marcoux et al. 2019) and the 2019 abundance estimate of 9,931 (CV = 0.05, 95% CI of 9,009–10,946; Golder 2020a), indicating that narwhal numbers remain lower than 2016 and 2019 levels. The 2022 estimate was not statistically different than the 2013 abundance estimate of 10,489 (CV = 0.24, 95% CI of 6,342–17,347; Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a) or the 2020 abundance estimate of 5,018 (CV = 0.03, 95% CI of 4,736–5,317; Golder 2021a).

For Admiralty Inlet stock alone, the narwhal abundance estimate was 43,042 narwhal (CV = 0.15, 95% CI of 32,218-57,502) based on an average of Baffinland's aerial surveys conducted on 14 and 18 August 2022. This estimate was not statistically different than the abundance calculated during the previous DFO survey conducted in August 2013 (35,043 narwhal, CV = 0.42, 95% CI of 14,188-86,553; Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a) and the 2020 Baffinland estimate of 31,026 (CV = 0.14, 95% CI of 23,406-41,126). The 2022 estimate was statistically higher than the 2019 Baffinland estimate of 28,746 (CV = 0.15, 95% CI of 21,545-38,354). The 2022 estimate was statistically lower than the 2021 Baffinland estimate of 72,582 (CV = 0.09, 95% CI of 61,333-85,895).

Findings from the aerial surveys are consistent with results obtained via the Bruce Head Shore-Based Monitoring Program conducted in 2022 (WSP 2023), suggesting that narwhal numbers in the RSA appear to be increasing from the numbers observed in 2021. Given that the combined stock estimate for Admiralty Inlet and Eclipse Sound indicated that the regional narwhal population remained stable relative to pre-shipping conditions, and in consideration of the available IQ regarding the degree of exchange between narwhal groups on their summering grounds, the observed changes in narwhal abundance in Eclipse Sound in recent years likely reflects a natural exchange between the two putative stock areas that began prior to Baffinland shipping operations, with animals shifting between Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet based on where habitat conditions may be more favorable that season (e.g., ice coverage, prey availability, predation pressure). With the recent influence of rapidly warming ocean temperatures and longer open-water seasons due to climate change, more pronounced changes in habitat conditions are to be expected throughout the Arctic along with commensurate changes in animal distributions and migratory movements. For example, it is well documented that sea ice in the Arctic is presently undergoing rapid

reduction due to climate warming (Stroeve et al. 2012; IPCC 2013; Overland and Wang 2013) and this has been directly associated with notable shifts in species distributions for both Arctic marine mammals (Laidre et al. 2008, 2015; Frederiksen and Haug 2015; Nøttestad et al. 2015; Víkingsson et al. 2015; Albouy et al. 2020; Chambault et al. 2022;) and their prey (Frainer et al. 2017; Steiner et al. 2019, 2021; Møller and Nielsen 2020). How this might be manifesting on a micro-geographic scale in the North Baffin region is presently unclear, although some insight is offered when considering changes reported in other Arctic environments in close proximity to Eclipse Sound.

Two major oceanographic changes have recently been observed in coastal areas of Southeast Greenland; a lack of pack ice in summer and increasing ocean temperatures (NAAMCO 2021). This has had cascading effects on the marine ecosystem, as observed through shifts in fish species assemblages in the region (i.e., change in fish community structure) and previously undocumented occurrences of temperate water cetaceans in Southeast Greenland in high abundances (e.g., humpback whales, fin whales, killer whales, pilot whales and white beaked dolphins) (NAAMCO 2021). Traditional narwhal habitat in this area has become restricted by the warming oceans and the ability of narwhal to adapt to warming water temperatures is constrained due to their general physiology. Shifts in narwhal distribution in Greenland have also been documented in recent years, with multiple sightings of narwhal in areas well north of their traditional range (e.g., Dove Bay, Greenland Sea, Northeast water and Petermann glacier front) (NAAMCO 2021). Current evidence suggests that a combination of hunting and climate change is negatively impacting the long-term viability of narwhal stocks in Southeast Greenland (NAAMCO 2021).

A recent study by Chambault et al. (2022) predicted the future distribution of Eastern Baffin Bay narwhal under two different climate change scenarios using narwhal satellite tracking data collected over two decades. The long-term predictive models suggested that the current distribution of Baffin Bay narwhal during summer will undergo a northward shift of more than 200 km by the end of the century to cope with climate change, and that summer narwhal habitats in this region were predicted to decline from 31 to 66% over this period, depending on the climate model. These changes may already be underway in the Eastern Canadian Arctic and may affect Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet differently.

For the above reasons, the potential for climate-driven shifts in species distributions cannot be ignored as a potential driver of the recently observed changes in summer narwhal distribution in Eclipse Sound. To better understand what is occurring, additional engagement and monitoring with Inuit stakeholders and regulatory agencies are needed, inclusive of collaborative regional-scale monitoring to better understand how climate change is impacting the Baffin Bay narwhal population as a whole.

᠋᠄ᡃᠣᢂ᠋ᢣ᠋᠂ᠳ᠖ᡃᠣᠲ᠘᠋᠁

Cdt^a L^a Column 5 books for, boll books for 3,359 Cdt bet (it's boll books for a Cort Lipton 3,621 a control book for the state of the control books for the state of the control books for the state of the control books for the control boo

በበኈጛሳሶ $\Delta - b \sim b$ ንኈ ነው ነው ጋኈሳላልኈ (Mysticetus©).

Lip ibacide ibalcies ibalcies

٩٥- ^حشن ٢٥٠ م٥م ٢٥٠ م

Δ⁶Λ⊲⁵, ΔL⁶Uσ ΛC⁵b⁵δP4TD4⁵⁶, Ͻϳϳϳϲ⁻ ϷϿ⁵σ⁶Γ⁶, Δ⁶CP4L⁴CP4L⁴CL⁶αΠΓ⁶CP⁶D⁶ 43,042 Ͻϳϳϲ⁻ (άͺͺϷ²⁶,²,²⁶,²,²⁶,²,²,²⁶,²,²⁶,²,²,²,²,²

95% alartic ddclardr allann 63,795-88,590).

'b\bloc - 2 'b\bloc \set - 2 'b\bloc \set - 2 'b\bloc - 2 'b\blo

 $\land C^{b} \supseteq < C^{b} \supseteq < \sigma \cap < \sigma \cap < \sigma^{b} \supseteq < \sigma^{b}$

⁵రినిస్తెస్తార్. రిసిోచింగిలో 50నిన్ గాండి సింగ్రిల్లి గాండింది సింగ్రించింది సింగ్రించింది కింగ్రించింది రి మిందినే విల్లింది సింగ్రిల్లి సింగ్రిల్లి సింగ్రిల్లి సింగ్రిల్లి సింగ్రిల్లి సింగ్రిల్లి సింగ్రిల్లి సింగ్రిల్ విసిపిలింగిలో 50నిన్ సింగ్రిల్లి 30 రిగిన్ పింగ్రిల్లి సింగ్రిల్లి సింగ్రిల్లి సింగ్రిల్లి సింగ్రిల్లి సింగ్రి సింగ్రిల్లి సింగ్రిల్లి సింగ్ 25 విడిలి సింగ్రిల్లి సింగ్రిల్లి సింగ్రిల్లి సింగ్రిల్లి సింగ్రిల్లి సింగ్రిల్లి సింగ్రిల్లు సింగ్రిల్లు సింగ్ 25 విడిలి సింగ్రిల్లు సింగ్రిల్లు సింగ్రిల్లు సింగ్రిల్లు సింగ్రిల్లు సింగ్రిల్లు సింగ్రిల్లు సింగ్రిల్లు సింగ్లు సింగ్లు సింగ్లు సింగ్రిల్లు సింగ్లు సి

᠘᠋᠄᠌ᡷᡃ᠂᠋᠕᠋᠋᠋ᢥ᠋ᡗ᠊᠅᠘᠋ᠧᠧ᠋᠋᠋ᠧ᠋᠋᠋᠋ᡘ᠆ᡧ᠈ᢣ᠅᠋᠅᠋ᢄ᠆ᡆᠺᡬ᠅᠋ᢂ᠈ᢣ᠋᠅᠋᠉᠅᠋᠉᠋᠅᠆᠅ᢣ᠅᠋ᢉ᠅᠋᠋᠆᠅᠋᠉᠅᠋ᡘ᠅᠘᠅᠘ᢋ᠅᠘ᢋ᠅᠘ᢋ᠅᠘ᢋ᠅᠘ᢋ᠅᠘ᢋ᠅᠘ᢋ᠅᠘ᢋ᠅᠘ᢋ᠅᠘ᢋ᠅᠘ᢋ᠅᠘ᢋ᠋

᠕᠋᠋᠕᠆ᡩᡄᠴ᠘᠋᠘ᢞᠾᠣ᠂᠕ᡃᢣᢉᡃ᠋᠋ᢁᢉᠧᡲ᠘᠋᠂

ርረዾንך ፲ርረወንጋ ላናናህው አጭቦትምበናበሎካሥሩ ላረንትናውርጋΔ°ዉናም^ቦ°ው ርኮሀላ Lናት ለርጭናልቦሎ 4° 4° ◄<</p>
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄
◄ ◊<<p>
\CLD
\CLD ・PPやCシ< ΔPQの DPやd DPでDとやご >200 PとTC Dやしいつ いのようのもくのやしい マレン ۹۲۶۵

ᡆᢣ᠋᠋᠋᠋᠋᠅ᢗ᠋᠋᠋᠋᠔᠆᠋᠋᠋᠃᠘ᡄ᠋᠋᠋᠃᠔᠘ᡄ᠋᠉᠘᠆᠉᠂᠘᠆᠉᠂᠘

'bb>\'sσ\Por σ Ας (4) Lobb S Por 14 4Lo 18 4Pr 2022. Carbon S Por Carbon S Por S Ac (4) Lobb S Por S Por S Por S Ac (4) Lobb S Por S Ac (4) Lobb S Por S Por S Ac (4) Lobb S Por S Ac (4) Lobb S Por S Por

᠘᠙ᢀ᠋ᡦ ᡬᡶᡄᡃᡄ᠕᠋ᢗ᠋᠋᠋᠋᠖᠖ᢞᡗᢨᠣ.

Ხ୮५ᲚᲡና 2021).

 $\begin{array}{l} \begin{array}{l} \displaystyle \langle i c_{n} h \rangle & C_{n} h \rangle F > \Delta \dot{h} c \ 5021 \\ \\ \displaystyle \langle 1 \rangle h \rangle & S \rangle \\ \\ \displaystyle \langle 1 \rangle h \rangle \\ \\ \\ \displaystyle \langle 1 \rangle h \rangle \\ \\ \\ \displaystyle \langle 1 \rangle h$

Study Limitations

WSP Canada Inc. has prepared this document in a manner consistent with that level of care and skill ordinarily exercised by members of the engineering and science professions currently practising under similar conditions in the jurisdiction in which the services are provided, subject to the time limits and physical constraints applicable to this document. No warranty, express or implied, is made.

This document, including all text, data, tables, plans, figures, drawings and other documents contained herein, has been prepared by WSP for the sole benefit of Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation (Baffinland). The Executive Summary was translated into Inuktitut and provided by Baffinland to WSP. In the event of discrepancies in information or interpretation, the English version shall prevail. This report represents WSP's professional judgement based on the knowledge and information available at the time of completion. WPS is not responsible for any unauthorized use or modification of this document. All third parties relying on this document do so at their own risk.

The factual data, interpretations, suggestions, recommendations, and opinions expressed in this document pertain to the specific project, station conditions, design objective, development and purpose described to WSP by Baffinland, and are not applicable to any other project or station location. In order to properly understand the factual data, interpretations, suggestions, recommendations and opinions expressed in this document, reference must be made to the entire document.

This document, including all text, data, tables, plans, figures, drawings, and other documents contained herein, as well as all electronic media prepared by WSP are considered its professional work product and shall remain the copyright property of WSP. Baffinland may make copies of the document in such quantities as are reasonably necessary for those parties conducting business specifically related to the subject of this document or in support of or in response to regulatory inquiries and proceedings. Electronic media is susceptible to unauthorized modification, deterioration, and incompatibility and therefore no party can rely solely on the electronic media versions of this document.

Table of Contents

1.0	INTR	ODUCTION	1
	1.1	Project Background	1
	1.2	Regulatory Drivers and Community Engagement	3
	1.3	Adaptive Management Protocol	4
	1.3.1	Low Risk Threshold	4
	1.3.2	Moderate Risk Threshold	5
	1.3.3	High Risk Threshold	5
	1.4	Existing Environment	6
2.0	LEG	1: EARLY SHOULDER SEASON SURVEYS IN ECLIPSE SOUND	14
	2.1	Introduction	14
	2.1.1	Objectives	14
	2.2	Survey Team and Training	14
	2.3	Study Area and Design	15
	2.4	Material and Methods	18
	2.4.1	Field Methodology	18
	2.4.2	Data Analysis	19
	2.5	Leg 1 Survey Results	19
	2.5.1	Ice Cover	19
	2.5.2	Survey Coverage	22
	2.5.3	Sighting Conditions	23
	2.5.4	Survey Sightings	27
	2.5.5	Relative Abundance of Marine Mammals	34
	2.5.6	Comparison with Previous Surveys	35
	2.6	Discussion	36
	2.6.1	Narwhal	36
	2.6.2	Other Marine Mammals	

	2.6.2.1	Cetaceans	39
	2.6.2.2	Pinnipeds	40
	2.6.2.3	Polar Bear	42
3.0	LEG 2	OPEN-WATER SURVEYS IN ECLIPSE SOUND AND ADMIRALTY INLET	43
	3.1	Introduction	43
	3.1.1	Objectives	43
	3.2	Survey Team and Training	43
	3.3	Study Area and Design	45
	3.4	Materials and Methods	47
	3.4.1	Field Methodology	47
	3.4.1.1	Visual Survey	47
	3.4.1.2	Photographic Survey	48
	3.4.2	Data Analysis	50
	3.4.2.1	Visual Survey	50
	3.4.2.1.	1 Distance Analysis	50
	3.4.2.1.	2 Perception Bias	52
	3.4.2.2	Photographic Survey	52
	3.4.2.3	Abundance Estimates	54
	3.4.2.4	Trend Analysis	55
	3.4.2.4.	1 Aerial Abundance Estimate Trend Over Time	55
	3.4.3	Quality Management	56
	3.5	Leg 2 Survey Results	56
	3.5.1	Survey Coverage	56
	3.5.2	Sighting Conditions	57
	3.5.3	Visual Survey Sightings	61
	3.5.4	Photographic Survey Sightings	65
	3.5.5	Narwhal Abundance Estimates	73
	3.5.5.1	Visual Survey Data Characteristics	73
	3.5.5.2	Photographic Survey Data Characteristics	76
	3.5.5.3	2022 Narwhal Abundance	77

	3.5.5.3.1	Eclipse Sound Stock	77
	3.5.5.3.2	Admiralty Inlet Stock	81
	3.5.5.3.3	Combined Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet Stocks	82
	3.5.6	Abundance Comparison with Previous Years	83
	3.6 Di	scussion	
	3.6.1	Narwhal Abundance and Distribution	
	3.6.2	Other Marine Mammals	
	3.6.2.1	Bowhead Whale	
	3.6.2.2	Killer Whale	93
	3.6.2.3	Beluga Whale	93
	3.6.2.4	Pinnipeds	93
	3.6.2.5	Polar Bear	94
4.0	LEG 3: C	LEARANCE SURVEY	96
5.0	SUMMAR	RY	98
6.0	RECOM	IENDATIONS	100
7.0	CLOSUR	E	101
8.0	REFERE	NCES	

TABLES

Table 1: Summary of 2022 Leg 1 survey flights. Systematic transect lines (S), dedicated transect lines (D), and reconnaissance (R) were flown over five surveys in nine strata	22
Table 2: Number of sightings (including off-effort) in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet grids during Leg 1	27
Table 3: Number of animals (including off-effort) in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet grids during Leg 1	28
Table 4: Marine mammal sighting and animal detection rates (relative abundance) during Leg 1	34
Table 5: Narwhal detection rates (relative abundance) during Leg 1 surveys	35
Table 6: Relative abundance (animal detection rate) of marine mammals for systematic transects in RSA during Leg 1 in 2019, 2020, 2021, and 2022	36
Table 7: Dimensions of images at three possible altitudes and image interval needed for 15% endlap	49
Table 8: Availability bias correction factors	51
Table 9: Visual (V) and photographic (P) survey effort undertaken during Leg 2	57
Table 10: Marine mammal sightings (including off-effort) in Eclipse Sound grid during Leg 2	61

Table 11: Marine mammal sightings (including off-effort) in Admiralty Inlet grid during Leg 2	62
Table 12: Photographic survey sightings in the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet grids during Leg 2	66
Table 13: Count difference between first and repeat reads of the photographs	76
Table 14: Narwhal abundance estimates from visual surveys in Eclipse Sound grid during Leg 2	78
Table 15: Narwhal abundance estimates from photographic survey in Eclipse Sound grid during Leg 2	79
Table 16: Narwhal abundance estimates from combined visual and photographic surveys in Eclipse Sound grid during Leg 2	80
Table 17: Narwhal abundance estimates from visual surveys in Admiralty Inlet grid during Leg 2	81
Table 18: Narwhal abundance estimates from photographic surveys in Admiralty Inlet during Leg 2	82
Table 19: Narwhal abundance estimates from combined visual and photographic surveys in Admiralty Inlet grid during Leg 2	82
Table 20: Narwhal abundance estimates for the combined Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet stocks during Leg 2	83
Table 21: Comparison of narwhal abundance estimates for Eclipse Sound, Admiralty Inlet, and combined stocks	83
Table 22: Test statistics for comparison between years	85
Table 23: NIRB Project Certificate No. 005 Terms and Conditions relevant to the 2022 MMASP	98

FIGURES

Figure 1:	Marine Mammal Regional Study Area	2
Figure 2:	2022 Marine Mammal Survey Team — Leg 1	. 14
Figure 3:	Geographic strata for 2022 marine mammal aerial surveys in the Regional Study Area	.16
Figure 4:	Transect lines for Eclipse Sound grid during Leg 1	. 17
Figure 5:	Ice chart for 22 July 2022 (left; Canadian Ice Services) and satellite image for 21 July 2022 (right; Zoom Earth; https://zoom.earth) showing ice conditions in Eclipse Sound area at the start of Leg 1 aerial surveys.	.20
Figure 6:	Ice chart for 30 and 31 July 2022 (Canadian Ice Services) showing ice concentrations in Eclipse Sound at the start of Baffinland shipping.	.20
Figure 7:	Satellite imagery of remaining ice in Milne Inlet provided by Fednav for 30 July 2022 (left); photo of ice belt at Stephens Island highlighted in fushia rectangle on satellite image (top right); photo of ice belt highlighted in yellow rectangle on satellite image (bottom right).	.21
Figure 8:	Ice chart for 1 August 2022 (left; Canadian Ice Services) and satellite image (right; Zoom Earth; https://zoom.earth) showing ice conditions in Eclipse Sound area at the end of Leg 1 aerial surveys.	.22
Figure 9:	Ice cover during Leg 1 of the 2022 MMASP.	.24
Figure 10): Fog cover during Leg 1 of the 2022 MMASP	.24
Figure 11	: Fog intensity during Leg 1 of the 2022 MMASP	.25

Figure 12: Beaufort Sea State during Leg 1 of the 2022 MMASP.	26
Figure 13: Glare cover during Leg 1 of the 2022 MMASP.	26
Figure 14: Glare intensity during Leg 1 of the 2022 MMASP	27
Figure 15: Distribution of cetaceans during Leg 1 - July and August 2022	29
Figure 16: Beluga whale concentration in Assomption Harbour on 26 July 2022	31
Figure 17: Distribution of pinnipeds and polar bears during Leg 1 - July and August 2022	33
Figure 18: 2022 Marine Mammal Aerial Survey Team — Leg 2 CKB Aircraft	44
Figure 19: 2022 Marine Mammal Aerial Survey Team — Leg 2 BBV Aircraft	44
Figure 20: Transect lines for Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet grid during Leg 2 surveys.	46
Figure 21: Geometry of oblique aerial photos (modified from Grendzdörffer et al. 2008)	48
Figure 22: Orthophotograph of an image taken at 610 m (2,000 ft) in Eclipse Sound on 20 August 2020	50
Figure 23: Ice cover during Leg 2 of the 2022 MMASP. Survey grid denoted with 'E' for Eclipse Sound and 'A' for Admiralty Inlet.	58
Figure 24: Fog cover during Leg 2 of the 2022 MMASP. Survey grid denoted with 'E' for Eclipse Sound and 'A' for Admiralty Inlet.	58
Figure 25: Fog intensity during Leg 2 of the 2022 MMASP. Survey grid denoted with 'E' for Eclipse Sound and 'A' for Admiralty Inlet.	59
Figure 26: Beaufort Sea State during Leg 2 of the 2022 MMASP. Survey grid denoted with 'E' for Eclipse Sound and 'A' for Admiralty Inlet	60
Figure 27: Glare cover during Leg 2 of the 2022 MMASP. Survey grid denoted with 'E' for Eclipse Sound and 'A' for Admiralty Inlet.	60
Figure 28: Glare intensity during Leg 2 of the 2022 MMASP. Survey grid denoted with 'E' for Eclipse Sound and 'A' for Admiralty Inlet.	61
Figure 29A: Distribution of marine mammals recorded during Leg 2 — Survey 2 on 14–16 August 2022 in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet grids	67
Figure 29B: Photographic surveys during Leg 2 — Survey 2 on 14–16 August 2022 in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet grids.	68
Figure 30A: Distribution of marine mammals recorded during Leg 2 — Survey 3 on 17–18 August 2022 in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet grids	69
Figure 30B: Photographic surveys during Leg 2 — Survey 3 on 17–18 August 2022 in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet grids.	70
Figure 31A: Distribution of marine mammals recorded during Leg 2 — Survey 4 on 21 August 2022 in Eclipse Sound grid.	71
Figure 31B: Photographic surveys during Leg 2 — Survey 4 on 21 August 2022 in Eclipse Sound grid	72
Figure 32: Perpendicular distances of narwhal sightings in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet survey grids	74
Figure 33: Distribution of narwhal sighting distances for Observer 1 and both observers combined (Observers 1 and 2) in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet survey grids. Distance is measured in meters.	75

Figure 34: Distribution of narwhal sighting distances for Observer 2 and both observers combined (Observers 1 and 2) in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet survey grids. Distance is measured in meters.	75
Figure 35: Detection Function for Photographic Survey Data at 610 m (2,000 ft).	77
Figure 36: Narwhal abundance estimates in Eclipse Sound over a span of 19 years along with Baffinland shipping activities for all vessel types (ore carriers, fuel tankers, sea lifts, tugs, and ice breaker)	86
Figure 37: Trend analysis for Eclipse Sound, Admiralty Inlet, and the combined Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet stock estimates using a resampling simulation method	87
Figure 38: Narwhal abundance estimates in Admiralty Inlet over a span of twenty years	88
Figure 39: Narwhal abundance estimates in the combined Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet over a span of ten years along with Baffinland shipping activities	89
Figure 40: Ice chart for 13 October 2022 (left; Canadian Ice Services) and satellite image for 14 October 2022 (right; Zoom Earth; https://zoom.earth) showing ice conditions in Eclipse Sound area at the end of the shipping season.	96
Figure 41: Ice chart for 23 October 2022 (left; Canadian Ice Services) and satellite image for 20 October 2022 (right; Zoom Earth; https://zoom.earth) showing ice conditions in Eclipse Sound area when land fast ice started forming.	97

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

MMO Training Manual

APPENDIX B Mapbook

APPENDIX C Distance Sampling and Mark-Recapture Models

APPENDIX D

Leg 2 Relative Abundance of Marine Mammals

Abbreviation and Acronym list

AIC	Akaike's Information Criterion		
AIN	Admiralty Inlet North stratum		
AIS Admiralty Inlet South stratum			
ASL	Above sea level		
Baffinland	Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation		
BF	Beaufort Sea State		
ВВ	Baffin Bay stratum		
Ca	Availability correction factor		
СІ	Confidence Interval		
CV	Coefficient of Variation		
DFO	Fisheries and Oceans Canada		
DS	Distance Sampling		
DSLR	Digital Single Lens Reflex		
ERP	Early Revenue Phase		
ESE	Eclipse Sound East stratum		
ESW	Eclipse Sound West stratum		
FEIS	Final Environmental Impact Statement		
ft	Feet		
Golder	Golder Associates Ltd.		
GPS	Global Positioning System		
IQ	Inuit Qaujimajatuqangit		
km	Kilometres		
km ²	Square kilometres		
km/h	Kilometers per hour		
kn	Knots		
m	Metre		
MEWG	Marine Environmental Working Group		

МНТО	Mittimatalik Hunters and Trappers Organization		
Milne Port	Port at Milne Inlet		
MIN	Milne Inlet North stratum		
MIS Milne Inlet South stratum			
MMASP	Marine Mammal Aerial Survey Program		
MMP	Marine Monitoring Program		
Mtpa	Million tonnes per annum		
MMOs	Marine Mammal Observers		
MR	Mark-recapture		
MRDS	Mark-recapture distance sampling		
MSV	Multipurpose support/supply vessel		
NB Navy Board Inlet stratum			
NEBI North and East Baffin Region			
NIRB Nunavut Impact Review Board			
NWBM	Nunavut Wildlife Management Board		
РАМ	Passive Acoustic Monitoring		
PI	Pond Inlet stratum		
Project	Mary River Project		
PC	Project Certificate No. 005		
QA/QC	Quality Assurance/Quality Control		
QIA Qikiqtani Inuit Association			
RSA	Regional Study Area		
SBO	Ship-based Observer		
Steenbsy Port	Port at Steensby Inlet		
TS	Tremblay Sound stratum		

1.0 INTRODUCTION

This report presents the results of the 2022 Marine Mammal Aerial Survey Program (MMASP) conducted on North Baffin Island during July and August 2022. Marine mammal aerial surveys were conducted by WSP using distance-based line-transect sampling combined with high-resolution photography. The primary objectives of the surveys were to collect data on the presence/absence and distribution of marine mammals prior to and during initial shipping operations in the Regional Study Area (RSA), and to obtain an annual abundance estimate for the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet narwhal summer stocks during the open water season.

1.1 Project Background

The Mary River Project (hereafter, "the Project") is an operating open pit iron ore mine owned by Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation (Baffinland) and located in the Qikiqtani Region of North Baffin Island, Nunavut (Figure 1). The operating mine site is connected to Milne Port, located at the head of Milne Inlet, via the 100 km long Tote Road. An approved but yet-undeveloped component of the Project includes a South Railway connecting the Mine Site to an undeveloped port at Steensby Inlet (Steenbsy Port).

To date, Baffinland has been operating in the Early Revenue Phase (ERP) of the Project and is authorized to transport 4.2 Mtpa of ore by truck to Milne Port for shipping through the Northern Shipping Route using chartered ore carrier vessels. A production increase to ship 6.0 Mtpa from Milne Port was approved for 2018–2022 and shipping is expected to continue for the life of the Project (20+ years). During the first year of ERP operations in 2015, Baffinland shipped ~918,000 tonnes of iron ore from Milne Port involving 13 return ore carrier voyages. In 2016, the total volume of ore shipped out of Milne Port reached 2.6 million tonnes involving 37 return ore carrier voyages. In 2017, the total volume of ore shipped out of Milne Port reached 4.1 million tonnes involving 58 return ore carrier voyages. Following approval to increase production to 6.0 Mtpa, a total of 5.1 Mtpa of ore was shipped via 71 return voyages in 2018, 5.9 Mtpa of ore was shipped via 81 return voyages in 2019, 5.5 Mtpa was shipped via 72 return voyages in 2020, and 5.6 Mtpa via 73 return voyages in 2021. In 2022, a total of 4.7 Mtpa of iron ore was shipped via 62 return voyages with the first inbound transit into the Regional Study Area (RSA) from Baffin Bay of the season occurring on 30 July and the last outbound transit of the season occurring on 13 October 2022.



1.2 Regulatory Drivers and Community Engagement

In accordance with existing Terms and Conditions of Nunavut Impact Review Board (NIRB) Project Certificate (PC) No. 005, Baffinland is responsible for the establishment and implementation of the Marine Monitoring Plan (MMP) which comprises environmental effects monitoring studies that are conducted over a sufficient time to allow for the following objectives:

- To measure the relevant effects of the Project on the marine environment.
- To confirm that the Project is being carried out within the pre-determined terms and conditions relating to the protection of the marine environment.
- To assess the accuracy of the predictions contained in the Final Environmental Impact Statement (FEIS) for the Project.

The MMASP is one of several monitoring programs that collectively make up the MMP for marine mammals. The MMASP was designed to address PC conditions related to evaluating potential disturbance of marine mammals from shipping activities that may result in changes in animal distribution, abundance, and migratory movements in the study area. Specifically, this included the following Terms and Conditions:

- Term and Condition No. 101 "The Proponent shall incorporate into the appropriate monitoring plans the following items:
 - b. Efforts to involve Inuit in monitoring studies at all levels.
 - c. Monitoring protocols that are responsive to Inuit concerns.
 - e. Schedule for periodic aerial surveys as recommended by the Marine Environment Working Group (MEWG)."
- Term and Condition No. 109 (for Milne Inlet specifically) "The Proponent shall conduct a monitoring program to confirm the predictions in the FEIS with respect to disturbance effects from ships noise on the distribution and occurrence of marine mammals. The survey shall be designed to address effects during the shipping seasons, and include locations in Hudson Strait and Foxe Basin, Milne Inlet, Eclipse Sound and Pond Inlet. The survey shall continue over a sufficiently lengthy period to determine the extent to which habituation occurs for narwhal, beluga, bowhead and walrus".
- Term and Condition No. 110 "The Proponent shall immediately develop a monitoring protocol that includes, but is not limited to, acoustical monitoring, to facilitate assessment of the potential short term, long term, and cumulative effects of vessel noise on marine mammals and marine mammal populations. The Proponent is expected to work with the Marine Environment Working Group to determine appropriate early warning indicator(s) that will ensure rapid identification of negative impacts along the southern and northern shipping routes."
- Term and Condition No. 111 "The Proponent shall develop clear thresholds for determining if negative impacts as a result of vessel noise are occurring".
- Term and Condition No. 126 "The Proponent shall design monitoring programs to ensure that local users of the marine area in communities along the shipping route have opportunity to be engaged throughout the life of the Project in assisting with monitoring and evaluating potential project-induced impacts and changes in marine mammal distributions".

Since 2013, regular community engagement meetings regarding the Project have been carried out in Arctic Bay, Clyde River, Sanirajak, Igloolik, and Pond Inlet. Primary concerns identified by the communities with respect to potential Project effects on marine mammals along the Northern Shipping Route include the following:

- Loss or alteration of narwhal and ringed seal habitat due to port construction and shipping.
- Injuries or mortality of marine mammals due to ship strikes.
- Acoustic disturbance effects on marine mammals from port construction and shipping that may lead to changes in animal distribution, abundance, migration patterns, and subsequent availability of these animals for harvesting.

1.3 Adaptive Management Protocol

Adaptive management is a planned and systematic process for continuously improving environmental management practices by learning about their outcomes (CEAA 2009). Adaptive management provides flexibility to identify and implement new mitigation measures or to modify existing ones during the life of a project. Adaptive strategies are implemented when unanticipated adverse effects are observed, or if effects exceed identified thresholds.

In support of Baffinland's Phase 2 Proposal for the Project, Baffinland developed a draft Adaptive Management Plan (AMP) which provides a framework for how adaptive management is incorporated into Project operations (Baffinland 2020). As part of this process, a Marine Mammal Trigger Action Response Plan (TARP) was developed for the Project which identifies a number of performance indicators, effect thresholds and pre-defined actions (i.e., responses) that are used to evaluate and respond to potential Project effects on narwhal and other marine mammal species in the Project area (Baffinland 2021b). The TARP shares the same objective as the EWI identified in Section 1.3, although uses a broader range of effect indicators that are measured against a series of tiered thresholds (i.e., low, moderate and high-risk thresholds) that are designed to guide short-term and long-term adaptive management strategies. The pre-defined actions identified in the TARP describe the responses that Baffinland would implement should the corresponding threshold levels be exceeded and assuming there is some degree of certainty that the measured change is Project-related. Three levels of action have been identified: low, moderate, and high. These responses range from increased monitoring and data analysis (e.g., trend analysis); identification of possible sources; to risk assessment and/or mitigation. On 22 March 2021, Baffinland released the most current version of the Marine Mammal TARP and Action Toolkits as part of its responses to Post-Hearing Questions related to Phase 2 (Baffinland 2021b).

1.3.1 Low Risk Threshold

As part of the tiered approach for adaptive management for the Project, the following criteria have been identified which represent 'Low Risk' thresholds for narwhal:

Confirmed moderate severity behavioural responses (Severity Score 5 and 6) that do not persist for a prolonged period (i.e., for several hours) following the exposure event, as described in Section 3.0 of the 2022 Bruce Head report (WSP 2023).

For the threshold to be met, response in movement behaviour would need to be observed as a trend in the data across individuals. In the event that these threshold criteria are exceeded, a commensurate 'Low Risk' response would be triggered (Baffinland 2021a).

1.3.2 Moderate Risk Threshold

As part of the tiered approach for adaptive management for the Project, the following criteria have been identified which represent 'Moderate Risk' thresholds for narwhal:

 Confirmed 'moderate severity' behavioural responses (Severity Score 5 and 6) that persist for a prolonged period (i.e., for several hours) following the exposure event, as described in Section 3.0 of the 2022 Bruce Head report (WSP 2023).

AND

 A statistically significant decrease in the proportion of immature narwhal relative to baseline conditions (2014/2015 values).

For the threshold to be met, behavioural responses would need to be observed as a trend in the data across individuals. In the event that these threshold criteria are exceeded, a commensurate 'Moderate Risk' response would be triggered (Baffinland 2021a).

1.3.3 High Risk Threshold

As part of the tiered approach for adaptive management for the Project, the following criteria have been identified which represent 'High Risk' thresholds for narwhal:

 Confirmed moderate severity behavioural responses (Severity Score 5 and 6) that persist for a prolonged period (i.e., for several hours) following the exposure event, as described in Section 3.0 of the 2022 Bruce Head report (WSP 2023).

AND/OR

 Confirmed high severity responses (Severity Score 7 to 10) as described in Section 3.0 of the 2022 Bruce Head report (WSP 2023).

AND

 A statistically significant decrease in the proportion of immature narwhal relative to baseline conditions (2014/2015 values).

AND/OR

■ >25.0% decrease in the Eclipse Sound stock size (abundance) relative to the 2019 aerial survey abundance.

For the threshold to be met, behavioural responses would need to be observed as a trend in the data across individuals. In the event that these threshold criteria are exceeded, a pre-determined 'High Risk' response would be triggered, as defined in Baffinland (2021a).

1.4 Existing Environment

Narwhal

The most current abundance estimate for the Baffin Bay narwhal population, corrected for availability and observer bias, is 141,909 individuals (DFO 2015a; Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2020). In Canada, the Baffin Bay narwhal population is currently managed as four summering stocks, each represented by a different geographic aggregation (Somerset Island, Admiralty Inlet, Eclipse Sound, and East Baffin Island; DFO 2015a). There are also large numbers of summering narwhal around Ellesmere Island that range over Jones Sound, Smith Sound, Norwegian Bay, and adjacent bays and fiords. Collectively, these narwhal are recognized by Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO) as the Jones Sound and Smith Sound stocks (DFO 2015a). The relationship of these stocks with the four recognized Baffin Bay stocks and the Inglefield Bredning stock in Greenland is unclear. The abundance estimate of the Eclipse Sound summering stock was estimated to be 20.225 individuals in 2004 (Richard et al. 2010), approximately 10,489 in 2013 (DFO 2015a), and 12,039 in 2016 (Marcoux et al. 2019). Lower numbers of narwhal observed in 2013 in the Eclipse Sound stock compared to 2004 was explained by possible mixing between the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet summering stocks given the relatively higher number of narwhal observed in Admiralty Inlet that same year (Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a). Documented movements of individual narwhal between Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet also raised the possibility of some degree of exchange between the two summering areas during the period when aerial surveys are typically conducted (DFO 2020; Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a). The combined abundance estimate of the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet summering stock was estimated to be 45,532 in 2013 (Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a).

Inuit Qaujimajatuqangit (IQ) also suggests that Pond Inlet and Arctic Bay share the same stock of narwhal (Jason Prno Consulting Services Ltd. [JCPS]2017). For example, the following respondent described narwhal travelling by Pond Inlet on their way to Arctic Bay and states that the two areas share the same stock of narwhal:

"Narwhal go through Pond Inlet first before they get to Arctic Bay. Whales are like that too. They migrate. We may have more narwhals and whales in our waters. Pond Inlet hunters are concerned, because they travel, trying to reach the inlets. In the fall, they start heading back along the coast. It's a cycle of migration. They are feeding. This area, Eclipse Sound, might have less whales and narwhals due to increased traffic going through. They may come more to the Arctic Bay area. We share the same stock of narwhals. We know from the past there are less narwhals there. We know there are already impacts, compared to the past. It's mainly about Pond Inlet. We can't really do anything here. For us, it's more benefit. We'll get more narwhals. But I'm sympathetic to Pond Inlet. It's mixed emotions." - Jobie Attitaq, 20-22 November 2015, p. 221, JPCS (2017).

Interview data from the following respondent (QIA 2019) also suggest the same narwhal will utilise both Pond Inlet and Arctic Bay areas:

"This could be the route to go, with the narwhals and sent here. From this side, narwhals ... I think some narwhals coming to Arctic Bay, I think some goes through here and some going up to Milne Inlet. But, either way. I mean the narwhals coming from here, like when the ice breaks up like end of June or a week after first week of July when the ice breaks, narwhals usually go by Pond here, coming from the floe edge. (P23, 28-Apr-19)" - Anonymous, 28 April 2019, p. 42, QIA 2019.

Available information on narwhal distribution (Richard et al. 1994; Heide-Jørgensen et al. 2002; COSEWIC 2004a; Laidre et al. 2004; Marcoux et al. 2009; Richard et al. 2010; Watt et al. 2012; DFO 2015a; Elliott et al. 2015; Thomas et al. 2015, 2016; Golder 2018a) indicated that the RSA is regularly used during summer and fall, although the distribution of narwhal varies throughout the season. In spring and early summer, narwhal migrate to

their summering habitats. In the case of the Eclipse Sound stock, they concentrate mainly in Milne Inlet, Koluktoo Bay, and Tremblay Sound during the summer. IQ suggests narwhal are concentrated in Tremblay Sound, western Eclipse Sound, Milne Inlet, and Koluktoo Bay (JPCS 2017, QIA 2019).

"Our narwhal hunting is floe edge and then Milne Inlet and Tremblay, but we've also come in here, like, Mount Herodier area. We don't often go into Navy Board, but we have..." - Anonymous, 27 April 2019, p.39, QIA 2019.

"Yeah, both Tremblay and Milne are, like, usually on a daily basis you'll see narwhal ... You can see anywhere from, like, a pod of fifty to, like, several, several, several pods, which are travelling together, like, I'd say hundreds at a time ... Like, there's been times when water is dead calm, like, mirror, and we see the first few narwhal and then before we know it, it's like, the waves have hit, because there's that many narwhal in the area." - Anonymous, 27 April 2019, p.42, QIA 2019.

"I know this, the change of – narwhals. There's usually narwhals around here [mouth of Qinngua]. But since the Baffinland is carrying ships, most of the narwhals are now like away from the area they usually be. Yeah. Like lots of narwhal usually around here ... But one time, I think it was last year, people were noticing the difference too. They started seeing killer whales here instead of narwhals. Yeah. I think the shipping route is the effect of the animals." – Anonymous, 8 February 2019, p. 48, QIA 2019.

Marine mammal aerial surveys conducted for the Project were first undertaken during the 2006–2008 open-water seasons. Subsequent aerial surveys were conducted in 2013 and 2014 to establish marine mammal distribution and density estimates along the Northern Shipping Route during the open-water season and prior to ERP operations. In 2015, aerial surveys were undertaken with a modified approach to attempt to examine potential effects of Project shipping on marine mammal distribution and density estimates during the first year of ERP operations. In 2016, photographic aerial marine mammal surveys were conducted by DFO along the Northern Shipping Route and adjacent inlet areas. Aerial photography from these surveys was analyzed by Golder Associates Ltd. (amalgamated under WSP Canada Inc. in January 2023) on behalf of Baffinland in 2016 to calculate narwhal abundance and density estimates for Milne Inlet, Eclipse Sound, Tremblay Sound and Pond Inlet, based on conventional distance sampling methods (Golder 2018b). The analysis was limited to two survey days (15 and 21 August 2016). DFO released the results of their analysis of the 2016 aerial surveys in June 2019 (Marcoux et al. 2019). From 2019 to 2022, aerial surveys were conducted using distance-based line-transect sampling combined with high-resolution photography to determine the relative abundance and distribution of marine mammals near the Pond Inlet floe edge prior to and during initial shipping and icebreaking operations, and to obtain abundance estimates of narwhal during the open-water season for the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet summer stock areas (Golder 2020a, 2021a, 2022c).

Bowhead whale

Bowhead whale aerial survey abundance estimates for the Eastern Canada-West Greenland (EC-WG) population in 2002–2004 and 2013 indicated population numbers in the thousands and increasing significantly since commercial whaling protection was provided in the early 20th century (COSEWIC 2009, DFO 2015b). This population of whales spends summers in Baffin Bay and adjoining waters of the Canadian High Arctic with the RSA included as part of their summer aggregation area (COSEWIC 2009).

Milne Inlet, Eclipse Sound and Pond Inlet are not thought to represent important summering areas for bowhead given the low number of bowhead sightings reported in these areas during the summer season. During eight years of shore-based monitoring conducted for Baffinland from 2013 to 2017 and 2019 to 2021, a total of 21 bowhead were recorded near Bruce Head (Thomas et al. 2014; Smith et al. 2015, 2016, 2017; Golder 2018c, 2020b, 2021b, 2022a). Similarly, a total of 14 bowhead were recorded along the Northern Shipping Route during three consecutive years of aerial surveys conducted between 2013 and 2015 during the open water period (Elliott et al. 2015; Thomas et al. 2015, 2016). Based on the most recent High Arctic Cetacean Survey completed by DFO in the Project area, the predicted number of bowhead in Eclipse Sound during 2013 was 32 (Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a). During Leg 1 of 2019, when bowhead were migrating through the RSA, the calculated abundance of bowhead in the RSA was 176 (15 July) and 1,291 whales (21–22 July) (Golder 2020a). Bowhead numbers during Leg 2 of 2019, 2020 and 2021 were too low to calculate an abundance with only four bowhead recorded in the RSA in 2019 (Golder 2020a), one bowhead recorded in 2020 (Golder 2021a), and two bowhead recorded in 2021 (Golder 2022c). During four years of the Ship-Based Observer (SBO) program conducted for Baffinland from 2013 to 2015 and in 2018, bowhead whale were not observed (SEM 2014, 2016; Golder 2019). In 2019, 23 sightings of 25 individual bowheads were recorded during the SBO program (Golder 2020c).

Observations of bowhead whale in the RSA were consistent with IQ, including observations of bowhead aggregating in the RSA in Aujaq (end of July to September; Hay et al. 2000, JPCS 2017). For example, bowhead were reported to enter the inlets late into July when the ice is breaking up and can occur in large numbers:

"Bowhead whales may be at the floe edge at this time. We don't try to catch them because we need permission. August 2010 was our last bowhead hunt. We see porpoises sometimes, but do not harvest them [Group Discussion]." – Anonymous, 3-4 March 2015, p.158, JPCS 2017.

"...bowhead whales started to penetrate deeper into the inlets to start feeding.....late into July when the ice is breaking up. That was also the time that they would be feeding without fear of predators such as killer whales. [Kooneeloosie Nutarak, Sr., Pl/ws] BB179" – Kooneeloosie Nutarak, p.37, 17-18 March 1997, Hay et al. 2000.

According to Hay et al. (2000), "One informant from Pond Inlet reported an annual occurrence of bowheads at the floe edges off Pond Inlet, Navy Board Inlet, and Tallurutiit/Lancaster Sound. Others have reported that bowhead whales occur in large numbers in the Pond Inlet area during summer. One informant reported that his wife counted a minimum of 74 bowheads on migration in Navy Board Inlet during summer 1996" (p.67).

Bowhead whales were also described to migrate through the area with their calves at this time of year. According to the JPCS (2017) IQ report, "bowhead whales will also migrate through the area with their calves in Aujaq but are not actively harvested by Inuit due to strict quotas that are in place" (p.32).

"July is the month that we change from using a snowmobile on the ice to a boat on the water. Bowheads will migrate through with calves but we haven't seen them calve in this area. They go in family groups (the bowhead harvest site from 2010 was marked on the map). It took us 3 days to butcher the whale." – Anonymous, 3-4 March 2015, p.159, JPCS 2017.

Killer whale

Killer whales frequent the high Arctic primarily during the open-water season (Higdon 2007) and have been recorded in the region as early as the mid-1800s (Reeves and Mitchell 1988). Earlier studies reported that this

species was uncommon in northern Baffin Bay and Lancaster Sound between August and October (Koski and Davis 1979). By 2001, regular sightings of killer whales were reported in Cumberland Sound, Lancaster Sound, and Pond Inlet (Baird 2001). Regular occurrences of killer whale have been reported in Pond Inlet during spring, summer, and fall, with most of the reported sightings occurring during July-August (Higdon 2007). Killer whales have also been observed in and around Eclipse Sound and Tremblay Sound (Campbell et al. 1988; Marcoux et al. 2009) and in Milne Inlet and Koluktoo Bay on several occasions when they were observed hunting narwhal (Ferguson et al. 2012). During five consecutive years of shore-based monitoring conducted for Baffinland from 2013 to 2017, no killer whale were recorded (Thomas et al. 2014; Smith et al. 2015, 2016, 2017; Golder 2018c). Although, killer whales were observed in South Milne Inlet by Mr. Panipakoocho as he departed Bruce Head camp in 2015 (Smith et al. 2016). On 18 August 2019, observers stationed at Bruce Head observed one sighting of eight killer whales in south Milne Inlet (Golder 2020b). On 26 and 27 August 2020, 67 and 18 killer whales, respectively, were observed from Bruce Head (Golder 2021b). Killer whale were not observed in the RSA during three consecutive years of aerial surveys conducted between 2013 and 2015 during the open water period (Elliott et al. 2015; Thomas et al. 2015, 2016). Killer whales were observed during the 2019 MMASP on 21, 26, and 29 August (Golder 2020a). While it is unclear whether the same killer whales were observed repeatedly in 2019, and where they travelled between surveys, the observations demonstrate that killer whales were likely in the RSA from 17-30 August during Leg 2 of the 2019 MMASP. During the 2020 MMASP, three killer whale sightings were observed on 27 August and one sighting was observed on 29 August (Golder 2021a). It is likely the third sighting of killer whales on 27 August was a resighting of the first sighting. There were two sightings of killer whale in the RSA during Leg 1 of the 2021 MMASP, including one sighting of 11 killer whale near Pond Inlet on 27 July and another sighting of nine killer whale in Navy Board Inlet on 8 August. There were no sightings of killer whale during Leg 2 of the 2021 MMASP (Golder 2022c).

IQ indicates that it is not common for killer whales to be observed at floe edge or leads because their dorsal fins interfere with ice travel. According to IQ from QIA (2018), "beluga are subject to predation by killer whale and polar bear and can become entrapped in ice. When chased by killer whales, they move to shallower waters that cannot be navigated by killer whales. Despite the risk of entrapment, ice is used to avoid killer whales whose dorsal fins interfere with movement in icy waters" (p.45) and "killer whales are generally not noted at floe edge or leads. Their dorsal fins interfere with ice travel..." (p.56).

IQ respondents also reported that killer whales do not normally arrive until Aujaq, i.e., July to September (JPCS 2017, QIA 2018, 2019).

"The same harvesting activities as Upirngaaq occur, but in different areas. No polar bears are harvested and walrus would be very rare. We are starting to see porpoises. We have not harvested them. We see killer whales in Eclipse Sound at this time of year. They do not come until summer. Killer whales are "sea wolves". We consider them our hunting partners, we don't hunt them [Group Discussion]." – Anonymous, 3-4 March 2015, p. 158, JPCS 2017.

"And one of the other reasons that we see now is that there is a whole lot more killer whales coming to Pond Inlet area, like lots of them; and again, I was talking about earlier that there's different factors involved in narwhals not migrating to Pond Inlet area as they used to, and I believe this is one of them as well. The killer whales two years ago stayed in Milne area all summer and kept the narwhals away from that area; and again, they're killers, they'll just kill. (P13, 06-Feb-19)" – Anonymous, 6 February 2019, p. 141, QIA 2019. IQ from QIA (2018) reported that, "... killer whales have been observed leaving before freeze up so that they will not be trapped in ice. As with other whales, harvesters have indicated that killer whales seem to avoid areas with too many boats and that they may be sensitive to noise" (p.56). Killer whales have not been observed during any of the five SBO programs between 2013 to 2019 (SEM 2014, 2016; Golder 2019, 2020c).

In 2009, Argos tracking tags were simultaneously deployed on killer whale and narwhal in Admiralty Inlet to understand how predation risk from killer whale affects narwhal behaviour (Breed et al. 2017). Results from the study showed that the presence of killer whale strongly altered the behaviour and distribution of narwhal. Killer whale presence also caused narwhal to move closer to shore. Dive behaviour was also affected, causing narwhal to perform deeper dives and shorten their dives. Behavioural changes in narwhal were reported to extend beyond active predation events, with altered behaviour and habitat use persisting steadily for the duration (10 days) that killer whales shared the habitat with narwhal.

Beluga whale

Beluga in the RSA are part of the Eastern High Arctic – Baffin Bay population; one of seven populations known to occur in Canadian waters at some point during the year (COSEWIC 2004b). It is assumed these beluga shift from their winter habitat in Baffin Bay and along Western Greenland to the ice-free or pack-ice in Baffin Bay. During the spring migration, beluga travel from Baffin Bay into areas along east and north Baffin Island as the landfast ice breaks up, occupying regions of Lancaster Sound, Barrow Strait, Peel Sound and Baffin Bay during the summer open-water season. The RSA lies within the full extent of beluga summer habitat though is not part of beluga core summer habitat and any beluga observed in the RSA are probably passing through on their way to their summer core habitat.

During five consecutive years of shore-based monitoring conducted for Baffinland from 2013 to 2017, no beluga were recorded (Thomas et al. 2014; Smith et al. 2015, 2016, 2017; Golder 2018c). In 2019, six beluga were recorded, and in 2020 and 2021, one beluga was recorded each year during the shore-based monitoring program (Golder 2020b, 2021b, 2022a). Beluga were not observed in previous Baffinland aerial surveys in the RSA from 2013 to 2015 (Elliott et al. 2015; Thomas et al. 2015, 2016). A total of four beluga were observed in the RSA during the 2019 MMASP (Golder 2020a). Three were sighted during the early shoulder season and one was sighted during the open water season. A total of five beluga were observed in the RSA during the 2020 MMASP (Golder 2021a) with four sighted during the early shoulder season and one water season. During the 2021 MMASP, all seven beluga observed in the RSA were recorded during the early shoulder season (Golder 2022c). During three consecutive years of ship-based monitoring conducted for Baffinland from 2013 to 2015, beluga were not observed (SEM 2014, 2016). No belugas were observed during the 2018 SBO program (Golder 2019), but one beluga whale was recorded during the 2019 SBO program (Golder 2020c).

Observations of low numbers of beluga in the RSA are consistent with IQ which reports that, "beluga traditionally do not remain near Pond Inlet... Rather, they migrate through Eclipse Sound and Navy Board Inlet moving westward and northward." (p. 47, QIA 2018). Beluga and narwhal are also reported to travel in tandem and frequently inhabit that same area at similar times and hunting of both species takes place near the floe edge and during open water periods, e.g., May and September (QIA, 2018). However, beluga have also been reported to give birth in the area (QIA 2018) "...during Upirngasaaq, the whales gather at the floe edge waiting for the break-up of ice. Beluga have been known to birth in southern Navy Board Inlet, southern Milne Inlet, and Koluktoo Bay." (p. 47).

Polar bear

Polar bear are common in the RSA and throughout most of the Canadian Arctic archipelago. Individuals belonging to the Baffin Bay population occupy drifting pack ice and landfast ice between Baffin Island and west Greenland during winter but can be concentrated along the landfast ice edge in Lancaster Sound (Koski 1980; Ferguson et al. 2000; Ferguson et al. 2001). Polar bears were also concentrated along the landfast ice edge near Pond Inlet and Navy Board Inlet during spring. In August, polar bear are forced ashore by the absence of ice (Taylor and Lee 1995; SWG 2016) and spend this period on Bylot Island and Baffin Island (Lunn et al. 2002). Denning activity by pregnant females is concentrated along the North coast of Bylot Island and coastal areas of Baffin Island near Pond Inlet, Admiralty Inlet and Navy Board Inlet (Baffinland 2010). Generally only males and subadults are found in offshore pack-ice areas with only rare sightings of females with young observed in these areas (APP 1982). Polar bears also frequent fast-ice edges in this area (APP 1982). Polar bears from the Lancaster Sound subpopulation tend to occupy the central and eastern part of their range during winter but move westward during spring to summer on multi-year pack ice in eastern Viscount Melville Sound (Schweinsburg et al. 1982).

During eight years of shore-based monitoring conducted for Baffinland from 2013 to 2017 and 2019 to 2021, a total of 11 polar bears were recorded near Bruce Head (Thomas et al. 2014; Smith et al. 2015, 2016, 2017; Golder 2018c, 2020b, 2022a). A total of 14 polar bears were recorded in the RSA during three consecutive years of aerial surveys conducted between 2013 and 2015 (Elliott et al. 2015; Thomas et al. 2015, 2016). In 2019, six polar bears were recorded in the RSA during the shoulder season (July) and 14 polar bears were recorded during the open water season (Golder 2020a). During aerial surveys conducted in 2020, 24 polar bears were recorded in the RSA during the shoulder season and 25 polar bears were recorded over the open water season (Golder 2021a). A total of 38 polar bears were recorded in the RSA during the Shoulder season and 25 polar bears were recorded over the open water season (Golder 2021a). A total of 38 polar bears during the open water season (Golder 2022c). Over three consecutive years of ship-based monitoring conducted for Baffinland from 2013 to 2015, polar bear were not observed (SEM 2014, 2016). Two polar bears were observed in each of the 2018 and 2019 SBO program (Golder 2019, 2020c).

IQ supports many of these findings (JPCS 2017, QIA 2019) reporting concentrations of polar bear along landfast ice in the area, including Pond Inlet and Navy Board Inlet during the spring.

"... pond Inlet floe edge activities continue in Upirngaksaaq, including the hunting of ringed and bearded seal, narwhal, polar bear, and walrus (although this species in not often hunted here)." (p.26, JPCS 2017).

"March, April, May is when it is busier for polar bear hunting. [Elijah]" – response regarding land use in Eclipse Sound and Navy Board Inlet areas, Elijah, 9-10 May 2016, p.228, JPCS 2017.

"I do a lot of seal hunting around that area [floe edge at Sannirut]. And when I go look for polar bear, that's where I usually go too, because there's always a fresh track. (P09, 05-Feb-19)" – Anonymous, 5 February 2019, p.39, QIA 2019.

As well, IQ reports female denning activity in coastal areas of Baffin Island near Pond Inlet.

"More polar bear dens are found southeast of the floe edge. Young seals can't be found in those areas because the bears eat them [Group Discussion]." – Anonymous, 3-4 March 2015, p.155, JPCS 2017.

"We used to use that for overnight site for hunting caribou. Just right beside that cabin, just only about 50 feet away from the cabin there [close to Sannirut] was a little land, a slope like this onto the shore in that area, there was a polar bear denning just about 50 feet away from a cabin here. (P11, 06-Feb-19)" – Anonymous, 6 February 2019, p.107, QIA 2019.

Ringed seal

Population structures of ringed seal across the Canadian Arctic are poorly understood in general. The ringed seal population in Canada and adjacent waters (West Greenland, Alaska, and Russia) is estimated at 2.3 million seals, with low confidence (COSEWIC 2019). Finley et al. (1983) estimated the Baffin Bay region (Canada and Greenland) to have approximately 787,000 ringed seals. Kingsley (1998) estimated the size of the Baffin Bay ringed seal population using two methods, one based on polar bear energetic models, and another using published density data and estimates of ice areas. The polar bear model yielded a ringed seal population estimate of 1.2 million. The estimate based on sea ice type and availability and estimated ringed seal density was 697,200 hauled out seals, which would yield a similar population estimate as the polar bear predation model (1.2 million seals) (Kingsley 1998).

Aerial surveys of ringed seal in the RSA have been undertaken during the molting period (spring) when ringed seal are largely on the sea ice and easy to count (Yurkowski et al. 2018, Young et al. 2019). Yurkowski et al. (2018) noted several ringed seal hotspots throughout the RSA during the June spring molt, well ahead of the start of yearly shipping operations in July. Their results provided density estimates ranging from 0.57 to 0.79 seals/km² for Eclipse Sound, 0.93 to 1.27 seals/km² for Milne Inlet, and 0.27 to 0.77 seals/km² for Navy Board Inlet. Ringed seal surveys were also undertaken in June 2021 in the RSA. Results from the 2021 survey indicated that ringed seal densities are stable in Eclipse Sound and Navy Board Inlet strata and increased in Milne Inlet stratum compared to surveys flown in 2016 (Golder 2022b). Ringed seal hotspots were identified in similar geographic areas in 2021 as in 2016–2017, with hotspots in western Eclipse Sound, southern Milne Inlet and Tremblay Sound.

IQ from reported in JPCS (2017) indicated that the seal pupping season runs from February to March with seal pupping occurring throughout the RSA. Seal pups occur in the area as late as the middle of April.

"...seal hunting also continues in Ukiuq and seal pupping will last into March. Ringed seal pups are preferred by local Inuit and are harvested throughout Eclipse Sound." (p.32, JPCS 2017).

"There are seal pups in the area until the middle of April." - Elijah, 27-29 April 2015, p.165, JCPS 2017.

"There are no certain areas for seal pups; they are born everywhere. Even along the routes we travel. That is something that needs to be monitored." - Paniloo, 27-29 April 2015, p. 171, JPCS 2017.

Harp seal

The Northwest Atlantic harp seal population was estimated at 6.8 (95% CI 5.8 – 8.0) million animals in 2017 and was projected to increase to 7.6 (95% CI 6.6 – 8.8) million animals in 2019 (Hammill et. al. 2021). Harp seal are seasonal visitors to the Arctic, arriving along the southwest coast of Greenland in late May and June (APP 1982) and then entering Lancaster Sound in July and August (Johnson et al. 1976; Greendale and Brousseau-Greendale 1976; APP 1982). Harp seal tend to enter Pond Inlet and Navy Board Inlet at the end of July (Miller 1955) with larger groups observed near the southern entrance of Navy Board Inlet and occasionally in Eclipse Sound throughout August and September (Miller 1955; Beckett et al. 2008). The number of adult harp seal entering Lancaster Sound and Eclipse Sound is variable (Tuck 1957; Greendale and Brousseau-Greendale 1976; Johnson et al. 1976; Riewe 1977, APP 1982).

IQ also notes that harp seal occur in the area, are harvested occasionally, and harp seal presence in the area has increased (JPCS 2017).

"The hunters and elders had some concerns during the past summer. We only saw harp seals in our area... [Jimmy]" – Jimmy, 26–27 October, p. 177, JPCS 2017.

"… I would prefer more people hunt harp seals because we have too many. It's a change we've observed." – Elijah, 26–27 October, p. 179, JPCS 2017.

Bearded seal

The distribution of bearded seal is largely determined by the presence of shallow water and distribution of ice (Burns 1981; Finley and Evans 1983; Kingsley 1986; Harwood et al. 2005; Kovacs et al. 2011). Bearded seal generally move into inlets and bays <200 m deep to feed during open-water periods and return to areas offshore of the floe edge in the fall once landfast ice has formed (Burns and Frost 1979). They are rarely found in fast-ice areas but are widely dispersed in open-water areas of pack ice where leads and cracks are frequent and where ice pans are sufficient for haul-out sites (McLaren and Davis 1982). No dedicated abundance survey has recently been completed for bearded seals in the Canadian Arctic.

IQ also reported that bearded seal were associated with the distribution of ice and harvested in the Pond Inlet area.

"Seal hunting along the ice cracks occurs in the winter (the perennial ice cracks were indicated on the corresponding map). We hunt mainly ringed seals and occasionally bearded seals along the cracks. Seal hunting at breathing holes occurs anywhere there is ice [Jimmy/Joshua/Elijah]." – Jimmy/Joshua/Elijah, 3-4 March 2015, p.155, JPCS 2017.

"The busiest time of the year at the Pond Inlet floe edge is June; but it is used all the time when there is ice. It is always busy. It can be used up to July. May is also very busy. Walrus come through during this season, but not often. Bearded and ringed seals are here at the floe edge too." – Anonymous, 3-4 March 2015, p.156, JPCS 2017.

"We go to the south coast of Bylot Island, west of Pond Inlet, to hunt seal. That's where it is busiest. We hunt ringed, bearded, and sometimes hooded seals. We don't hunt harp seals. Ringed seals are the most popular. Hooded seals are rare but we sometimes get them [Paniloo]." – Paniloo, 3-4 March 2015, p. 154, JPCS 2017.

"People hunt whatever they can catch. In May, hooded and bearded seals sometimes come into the area. [Joanasie]" – Joanasie, 9-10 May 2016, p. 228, JPCS 2017.

2.0 LEG 1: EARLY SHOULDER SEASON SURVEYS IN ECLIPSE SOUND2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 Objectives

The 2022 MMASP was staged in two separate survey legs. Leg 1 targeted a 15-day window starting in mid-July, when narwhal undergo their spring migration through Eclipse Sound. The objective of the Leg 1 surveys was to collect data on the presence/absence and distribution of marine mammals prior to and during initial shipping operations in the RSA.

2.2 Survey Team and Training

Leg 1 of the 2022 aerial survey took place over a 15-day period (19 July to 2 August 2022) with an aircraft based out of the Mary River mine site. The survey team consisted of personnel that flew in the previous survey years (2019 and 2020), with one WSP biologist, two contracted marine biologists with previous marine mammal survey experience as Marine Mammal Observers (MMOs) on this program, two contracted Inuit observers with previous MMO experience, two pilots, and one mechanic (Figure 2).

Prior to mobilization, the survey team attended a Baffinland orientation that was held at Mary River on 20 July 2022. The orientation aimed to familiarize team members with Baffinland's policies and procedures, including health and safety, while working at Mary River. Following the Baffinland orientation a training session was held with the survey team to go over the training manual and health and safety plan.



Figure 2: 2022 Marine Mammal Survey Team — Leg 1.

2.3 Study Area and Design

The study area for the Leg 1 surveys was based on the boundaries used in previous surveys from 2013 to 2016 (DFO 2017; Golder 2017), with an additional stratum in Baffin Bay added in 2019 and surveyed from 2019 to 2021 (Figure 3; Golder 2020a, 2021a, 2022c). Leg 1 was designed to collect data on the presence/absence and distribution of marine mammals prior to and during initial shipping operations in the RSA (Figure 4). One survey was flown in Admiralty Inlet on 26 July to verify narwhal presence/absence in this area.

Systematic random visual line-transect surveys were flown for all strata when conditions allowed with the location of the first line chosen at random. The blue transects had an east-west parallel line design, with a transect line spacing of approximately 5 km (see Figure 4). The red transects had a north-south parallel line design, with transect line spacings of approximately 8.6 km for the Eclipse Sound East and Pond Inlet strata, and approximately 4.3 km for the Eclipse Sound West stratum. East-west parallel line design, with a transect line spacing of approximately 10 km was used for Navy Board Inlet due to the low numbers of narwhal observed in previous survey years and northeast-southwest parallel line design, with an approximately 4 km transect line spacing, was used for Milne Inlet North transects (see Figure 4). A single transect was flown down the center of each of the fjords.

The survey design consisted of systematically placed and evenly distributed (when possible) line transects across the survey area (Figure 4). Transects were generally straight and uniformly spaced across large waterbodies but were occasional skewed to follow the shoreline contour. This was necessary in areas where the survey aircraft could not safely perform the turns necessary to cross waterbodies perpendicular to shorelines.



LEGEN	ID				
•	COMMUNITY				
*	MILNE PORT				
*	MINE SITE				
<u> </u>	MILNE INLET	TOTE ROAD			
	40 km BUFFEI	R ZONE			
8 -	NUNAVUT SE	TTLEMENT AREA			
820	BOUNDARY				
ADWIR					
		JORDS			
	BAFEIN BAV (BB)			
		IND EAST (ESE)			
	EULIPSE SUL				
	MILNE INLEI	SOUTH (MIS)			
	NAVY BOARD	INLE I (NBI)			
	POND INLET (PI)			
	TREMBLAY SO	JUND (TS)			
8	ECLIPSE FJO	RDS			
8100					
\geq					
\ge					
\geq					
\geq					
\ge					
\geq					
~					
00000					
8					
		0	25	50	
-			20		
		1:1,400,000	KILOMETRE	⊐ :S	
REFER	ENCE(S)				
PIESOL	PORT INFRASTI _D LTD. FULCRU	KUCTURE DATA BY H IM DATA MANAGEME	NT SITE MAY 19, 2017.	U17, RETRIEVED FRO HYDROGRAPHY, PO	OM KNIGHT
PLACE NATUR	, AND PROVINCI AL RESOURCES	AL BOUNDARY DATA CANADA, ALL RIGH	OBTAINED FROM GE	OGRATIS, © DEPART	MENT OF
PROJE	CTION: UTM ZO	NE 17 DATUM: NAD	83		
	י חאו אור ואו אורי וב				
PROJE	СТ				
MAR	Y RIVER P				
			AL SURVEYS		
GEO	GRAPHIC	STRATA FOR 2	2022 MARINE M	AMMAL AERI	AL
SUR	VEYS				
CONSL	JLTANT		YYYY-MM-DD	2023-03-31	
8	116		DESIGNED	тт	
20062					
1. The second			PREPARED	AA	
	•••	<u>י</u> ן	PREPARED REVIEWED	AA TT	
	•••	י <u>ו</u> י	PREPARED REVIEWED APPROVED	AA TT PA	
PROJE	CT NO.		PREPARED REVIEWED APPROVED	AA TT PA EV.	FIGURE

26mm IF THIS MEASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE HAS BEEN MODIFIED FROM:



25mm IF THIS MEASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE HAS BEEN MOD

2.4 Material and Methods

2.4.1 Field Methodology

Surveys were flown in a de Havilland Twin Otter (DH-6) equipped with bubble windows and an optical glass covered camera hatch at the rear. Visual line transect surveys were conducted at an altitude of 305 m (1,000 ft) and a ground speed of 185 km/h (100 kn) with four experienced MMOs. MMOs were stationed at the front and rear bubble windows that provided a view of the track line directly below the aircraft. MMOs were instructed to focus their attention on the area closest to the track line and to use their peripheral vision for sightings farther afield. Observers counted all sightings of marine mammals by speaking into a handheld digital recorder. Sightings observed while transiting between transects or to the survey area were recorded as off-effort. Using a geometer (or clinometer), the perpendicular declination angle to the center of each sighting was measured once it was abeam of the observer. MMOs noted the species and number of animals in the sighting. A 'sighting' was defined as animals within one or a few body lengths of each other and oriented or moving in a similar direction. A sighting could also consist of one individual if no other animals are in close proximity. When time permitted, observers were instructed to give additional details on the sightings, such as the presence of calves, tusked narwhal, behaviour, and direction of travel. The two MMOs stationed on the same side of the aircraft were separated acoustically to achieve independence of their conditional detections. A fifth member of the survey team was responsible for monitoring the camera system and entering additional sighting data obtained from the primary observers into the database.

Two MMOs were designated as 'Primary' observers and two were designated as 'Secondary' observers. In addition to counting animals, all observers were responsible for dictating the following environmental conditions throughout the surveys into the recorders: ice concentrations (in tenths), sea state (Beaufort scale), fog (% of field of view and intensity) and glare (% of field of view and intensity). These environmental conditions were recorded at the start and end of each transect, at regular intervals (every 2 minutes) along the transect or sooner if changes were detected throughout the transect.

The area directly below the aircraft was photographed continuously throughout each visual survey using the camera system described in Section 3.4.1.2. Photographs taken during the visual surveys were used to supplement visual sightings for missed geometer angles and group sizes.

Sightings from observers were automatically entered into the Mysticetus program by the observers using geometers during the survey. Geometers were linked to the Mysticetus program, allowing observer data (i.e., date, time, location, and declination angles) to be enter electronically into the Mysticetus program in real time. Additional sighting data and environmental conditions recorded on audio recorders were transcribed into the Mysticetus program after the flight. Sightings were georeferenced and transect lengths were calculated in Mysticetus. Strata areas were determined in ArcGIS. Sightings where angles of declinations were not recorded were compared to the photographic records. The perpendicular distance was retrieved from the pixel position of the sighting was not made within the swath width of the picture, could not be found, or could not be identified from other sightings unambiguously, the sighting was coded as missing distance. Sightings where group size were not recorded, or were coded as 'uncertain', were compared to the photographic records, and group size was retrieved if a match could be made based on perpendicular distance. Otherwise, sightings with missing group size were given the average group size in that stratum (posterior to estimation of the expected group size so that it does not affect the estimation of its variance).
2.4.2 Data Analysis

Animal detection rates were calculated and expressed as number of sightings/km and number of animals/km (used as a proxy for relative abundance). Observational effort was calculated relative to survey distance in linear kilometres using trackline Global Positioning System (GPS) data extracting segments of effort using start and end times recorded during surveys while on transect. Sightings were therefore expressed relative to observational effort consistent with other similar studies and methods (Nichols et al. 2005). Relative narwhal abundance was calculated using the following two methods:

- Systematic A pre-established grid of systematic transect lines was surveyed in areas in the RSA with <9/10 ice concentrations. This included open-water areas and areas associated with low to moderate ice cover.
- Dedicated Transect lines were surveyed along open-water leads associated with consolidated sea ice (≥9/10 ice concentrations), along the floe edge, and along the ship route.

Animal sighting rates were calculated and expressed as number of sightings/km (no. of sightings relative to survey effort in km). Animal detection rates were calculated and expressed as number of animals/km (used as a proxy for relative abundance)¹.

2.5 Leg 1 Survey Results

Early season aerial surveys for narwhal were conducted in the North Baffin area during July and early August 2022. The objectives of the surveys were to collect data on the presence/absence and distribution of marine mammals prior to and during initial shipping operations in the RSA. Early shoulder season surveys (Leg 1) were flown in the Eclipse Sound grid from 21 July to 1 August. A total of five surveys on marine mammal presence/abundance were attempted in Leg 1.

2.5.1 Ice Cover

When surveys began on 21 July 2022, ice conditions consisted of areas of open water to up to 9-10/10 ice cover (i.e., 90-100% ice concentrations) along the shipping corridor (Figure 5). Open water areas were observed during surveys in south Milne Inlet (Assomption Harbour and Koluktoo Bay), Tremblay Sound, central Navy Board Inlet, and the eastern half of Eclipse Sound. Ice was present in various stages of melt in north Milne Inlet, western and central Eclipse Sound, and Navy Board Inlet (Figure 5). During surveys from 22 July to 30 July, ice conditions were variable, gradually breaking up until the first day of shipping on 30 July with the convoy entering the RSA in the evening.

By 30 July, aerial surveys noted that most of Eclipse Sound consisted of open water with some ice remaining in Milne Inlet South; however according to Canadian Ice Service (CIS) charts, there were scattered patches of ice concentrations ranging from <1-9/10 (Figure 6). During the first flight on 30 July, two ice belts were observed

¹ Observational effort was calculated relative to survey distance in linear kilometres using trackline GPS data and extracting segments of effort using start and end times recorded during surveys while on transect.

along the shipping route in Milne Inlet; one at Stephens Island and one at Bruce Head spanning from shore to shore (Figure 7). Fednav determined that the ice remaining along the shipping route was less than 3/10 concentrations based on satellite imagery and aerial photographs. During the second flight on 30 July, both ice belts had dispersed and were pushed up against shore, creating a path of open water along the entire Northern Shipping Route in the RSA for the start of the shipping season. On 1 August, when the last flight of Leg 1 was flown, the RSA was ice free (Figure 8).



Figure 5: Ice chart for 22 July 2022 (left; Canadian Ice Services) and satellite image for 21 July 2022 (right; Zoom Earth; https://zoom.earth) showing ice conditions in Eclipse Sound area at the start of Leg 1 aerial surveys.



Figure 6: Ice chart for 30 and 31 July 2022 (Canadian Ice Services) showing ice concentrations in Eclipse Sound at the start of Baffinland shipping.



Figure 7: Satellite imagery of remaining ice in Milne Inlet provided by Fednav for 30 July 2022 (left); photo of ice belt at Stephens Island highlighted in fushia rectangle on satellite image (top right); photo of ice belt highlighted in yellow rectangle on satellite image (bottom right).



Figure 8: Ice chart for 1 August 2022 (left; Canadian Ice Services) and satellite image (right; Zoom Earth; https://zoom.earth) showing ice conditions in Eclipse Sound area at the end of Leg 1 aerial surveys.

2.5.2 Survey Coverage

Eight surveys were flown over 12 days during Leg 1 (see Appendix B; Figures B-1 to B-8). Over the course of the eight surveys, a total of 3,891.92 km of survey effort was conducted. This effort included systematic transect lines, dedicated transects (i.e., the Northern Shipping Route), and reconnaissance flights (Table 1). Systematic transects (i.e., pre-planned transects; see Figure 4) were flown in areas with ice floes (i.e., any type of sea ice not attached to land, drift ice) to open water and dedicated transects were flown along the ship route and in ice leads. Systematic transect lines totaled 3,384.69 km, dedicated transect totaled 318.50 km and reconnaissance flights totaled 188.73 km of total effort.

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			-					
	Survey 1	Survey 2	Survey 3	Survey 4	Survey 5	Survey 6	Survey 7	Survey 8
Survey Stratum	21 July	22 July	23 July	24 July	26 July	27 July	30 July	1 Aug
Pond Inlet (PI)	S	—	S	S		—	—	
Eclipse Sound East (ESE)	S&D	—	S	—	_	—	D	_
Eclipse Sound West (ESW)	D	—	—	S	_	S	S&D	S
Milne Inlet North (MIN)	S	_	—	S	_	S	D	S
Milne Inlet South (MIS)	S	—	—	S	_	S	D	S
Tremblay Sound (TB)	—	_	—	S	_	S	S	S
Navy Board Inlet (NB)	_	S&D	S	_	_	S	S	_

Table 1: Summary of 2022 Leg 1 survey flights. Systematic transect lines (S), dedicated transect lines (D), and reconnaissance (R) were flown over five surveys in nine strata

	Survey 1	Survey 2	Survey 3	Survey 4	Survey 5	Survey 6	Survey 7	Survey 8
Survey Stratum	21 July	22 July	23 July	24 July	26 July	27 July	30 July	1 Aug
Lancaster Sound (LAN)	—	—	S	—	—	—	—	—
Fjords	—	_	—	S	—	—	—	S
Admiralty Inlet North	—	_	—	—	S&R	—	—	_
Admiralty Inlet South	—	_	—	—	R	—	—	_
Systematic transects (km)	239.75	141.82	504.67	685.13	406.73	587.76	290.17	528.65
Dedicated transects (km)	40.87	13.03	0	0	0	0	264.60	0
Reconnaissance (km)	0	0	0	0	188.73	0	0	0
Total Effort (km)	280.62	154.85	504.67	685.13	595.46	587.76	554.77	528.65

2.5.3 Sighting Conditions

MMOs recorded environmental sighting conditions during visual surveys at the beginning and end of each transect and when conditions changed along the track. Sighting conditions were recorded within the MMO field of view (1 km of the transect line; see Appendix A) and were evaluated based on survey effort when each condition was observed.

Ice Cover

Ice cover ranged from 0/10 to 10/10concentrationsduring Leg 1 of the 2022 MMASP (Figure 9). Ice conditions changed, with ice cover decreasing, from the first survey on 21 July to the last survey on the 1 August (see Figure 5 to 8; see Appendix B, Figures B-1 to B-8). Landfast ice (i.e., fast ice) was present in the RSA on the 18 July (Canadian Ice Service) before the start of Leg 1, although complete ice coverage of the RSA (see Figure 5) was not available from CIS until 27 July 2022. Areas of <1/10 ice concentrations represented 56% of the total survey effort flown, whereas areas of 9-10/10 ice concentrations represented 10% of the total survey effort flown. During the flight on the 30 July >3/10 ice concentrations were present northwest of the shipping corridor in Eclipse Sound, the central portion of Tremblay Sound and the central portion of Navy Board Inlet. In Milne Inlet, two ice belts were observed along the shipping route; one at Stephens Island and one at Bruce Head spanning from shore to shore. During the second flight on 30 July, both ice belts had dispersed and were pushed up against shore.



Figure 9: Ice cover during Leg 1 of the 2022 MMASP.

Fog

Two measurements of fog were used as sighting conditions. Fog cover was assessed as the percent (0–100%) of fog obscuring the viewing area and fog intensity (four levels: "none" when there was no fog, "light" fog that animals were visible through, "moderate" when animals were likely missed in the fog, and "thick" when animals were certainly missed in the fog). Areas that were forecasted to be foggy were avoided when daily surveys were planned. Fog was present during Surveys 1 to 6 for 7% of the total effort flown in 2022 (Figure 10). Most of the fog that was present on the survey was primarily of light and moderate thickness (Figure 11).



Figure 10: Fog cover during Leg 1 of the 2022 MMASP.



Figure 11: Fog intensity during Leg 1 of the 2022 MMASP.

Beaufort Sea State

On a scale of 0 to 12 (see Appendix A, Table 1), the Beaufort Sea State (BF) ranged from BF 0 (glassy mirror) to BF 6 (large waves) during Leg 1 of the 2022 MMASP (Figure 12). Sea state conditions were recorded between BF 0 (glassy mirror) and BF 4 (small, fairly frequent, whitecaps) for 96% of the total effort flown. Areas that were forecasted to have high sea states (>BF 4) were avoided when daily surveys were planned. If sea state conditions exceeded BF 4, the area was generally abandoned, and the survey was resumed in an area with more favorable environmental sighting conditions.

High sea states have a negative effect on cetacean counts (DeMaster et al. 2001; Gosselin et al. 2007). DeMaster et al. (2001) found the probability of sightings beluga whales in BF sea state 1 is significantly greater than that for sighting beluga whales in BF sea state 2, 3, and 4. Gosselin et al. (2007) stated that abundance estimation tends to be lower as BF increases. The lower estimates are driven by a reduction in encounter rate associated with increasing average daily BF condition. Another effect that might intuitively be expected with increasing BF is a reduction in effective strip half width as whales may not be visible as far away from the plane in bad sea conditions. During DFO surveys in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet in 2016, five surveys were terminated due to high sea states of BF 4–5 (DFO 2017). Surveys flown in areas of high sea states have a high probability of negatively biasing the number of animals present and will be excluded from the analysis if a statistically significant difference is found between two abundance estimates.



Figure 12: Beaufort Sea State during Leg 1 of the 2022 MMASP.

Glare Cover and Intensity

Two measurements of glare were used as sighting conditions. Glare cover was assessed as the percent (0–100%) of the viewing area affected by sun reflection and glare intensity (four levels: "none" when there was no reflection, "low" when animals were likely detected in center of reflection angle, "moderate" when animals were likely missed in the center of reflection angle, and "intense" when animals were certainly missed in the center of reflection angle, and "intense" when animals were certainly missed in the center of reflection angle. Glare was present during 43% of the total effort flown in 2022 (Figure 13). Intense glare was present during 11% of the total effort flown in 2022 (Figure 14).









Figure 14: Glare intensity during Leg 1 of the 2022 MMASP.

2.5.4 Survey Sightings

Seven different marine mammal species were observed during Leg 1 of the 2022 MMASP: narwhal, bowhead whale, beluga whale, ringed seal, harp seal, bearded seal, and polar bear. Unidentified whales and seals were also recorded during the surveys. Table 2 and Table 3 summarize the number of marine mammal sightings and animals, respectively, recorded during surveys for each species by survey number. A total of 1,681 sightings totalling 4,382 marine mammals were recorded during Leg 1 surveys. One survey was flown in Admiralty Inlet on the 26 July, with the remaining surveys flown in the Eclipse Sound. The survey flown on the 30 July was completed prior to the first vessel entering the RSA.

Survey Date	Narwhal	Bowhead Whale	Beluga Whale	Unidentified Whale	Ringed Seal	Harp Seal	Bearded Seal	Unidentified Seal	Polar Bear	Total
21 July	57	3	0	1	7	2	0	5	0	75
22 July	210	0	0	1	8	7	0	3	0	229
23 July	370	1	1	0	9	28	0	0	2	411
24 July	74	0	0	0	50	8	1	2	2	137
26 July ^a	328	1	1	0	6	6	0	5	1	348
27 July	131	5	11	0	31	35	1	4	0	218
30 July	69	1	1	0	13	24	1	0	0	109
1 August	129	1	1	0	20	2	0	1	0	154
Total	1,368	12	15	2	144	112	3	20	5	1,681

Table 2: Number of sightings (including off-effort) in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet grids during Leg 1

^a Flown in Admiralty Inlet.

Survey Date	Narwhal	Bowhead Whale	Beluga Whale	Unidentified Whale	Ringed Seal	Harp Seal	Bearded Seal	Unidentified Seal	Polar Bear	Total
21 July	145	3	0	1	7	32	0	9	0	197
22 July	412	0	0	1	8	75	0	5	0	501
23 July	749	1	1	0	13	233	0	0	2	999
24 July	149	0	0	0	53	67	1	2	2	274
26 July ^a	608	1	1	0	7	16	0	5	1	639
27 July	381	9	148	0	42	359	1	4	0	944
30 July	215	1	1	0	15	302	1	0	0	535
1 August	257	1	1	0	25	8	0	1	0	293
Total	2,916	16	152	2	170	1,092	3	26	5	4,382

Table 3: Number of animals (including off-effort) in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet grids during Leg 1

^a Flown in Admiralty Inlet.

Narwhal

Narwhal were observed throughout the survey area during the Leg 1 surveys with greatest concentrations in the Northern Navy Board Inlet, Eastern and Western Eclipse Sound, Tremblay Sound, and South Milne Inlet strata (Figure 15). Narwhal were observed in the northern half of Admiralty Inlet during a survey conducted on 26 July 2022 (Figure 15). A total of 1,040 sightings and 2,308 individual narwhal were recorded in Eclipse Sound grid and 328 sightings and 608 individual narwhal were recorded in Admiralty Inlet grid during the Leg 1 surveys (Table 2 and Table 3). Narwhal group sizes ranged from single animals to a group size of 30, with mean and median group sizes of 2.1 and 2.0, respectively. A total of 189 mother/calf pairs (128 mother/calf pairs in Eclipse Sound grid and 61 mother/calf pairs in Admiralty Inlet grid) and 12 lone calves (nine lone calves in Eclipse Sound grid and three lone calves in Admiralty Inlet grid) were recorded during the Leg 1 surveys.



Bowhead whale

Few bowhead whales were observed during Leg 1 surveys in 2022. A total of 12 sightings and 16 individual bowhead whales were recorded during the Leg 1 surveys (Table 2 and Table 3). Bowhead whale were observed in Navy Board Inlet, Eastern Eclipse Sound, Pond Inlet, Milne Inlet North and South, and Admiralty Inlet North strata (Figure 15). Three bowhead sightings were observed along the south shore of Bylot Island on 21 July (see Appendix B, Figure B-1). On 23 July, only one bowhead whale sighting of an individual whale was observed, again along the south shore of Bylot Island (see Appendix B, Figure B-3). On 26 July, one bowhead sighting of an individual whale was observed in the central portion of Admiralty Inlet (see Appendix B, Figure B-5). Five bowhead whale sightings were observed on 27 July; two in Navy Board Inlet and three in Milne Inlet North (see Appendix B, Figure B-4). One bowhead whale sighting was observed on 30 July in Navy Board Inlet (see Appendix B, Figure B-7). One bowhead whale sighting was observed on 1 August in Milne Inlet South (see Appendix B, Figure B-8). Bowhead whale group sizes ranged from single animals to a group of three animals, with mean and median group sizes of 1.3 and 1.0, respectively. No mother/calf or lone calves were observed during Leg 1 surveys in 2022.

Beluga whale and Killer whale

During the Leg 1 surveys, there were 15 beluga sightings totalling 152 individuals with group sizes ranging from one to 120 animals (Figure 15; Table 2 and Table 3), with mean and median group sizes of 10.1 and 1.0, respectively. Beluga whale were observed in Navy Board Inlet, Tremblay Sound, Milne Inlet South, and Admiralty Inlet North strata (Figure 15). The first sighting of a single beluga was observed during the Leg 1 survey on 23 July in the northern portion of Navy Board Inlet (Appendix B, Figure B-3) and the second sighting of a single beluga was observed on 26 July in the northern portion of Admiralty Inlet (Appendix B, Figure B-5). On 26 July, a large concentration of beluga were also sighted by Milne Port staff in Assomption Harbour close to the Port Site. The aerial survey team flew over the area and photograph the beluga concentration. Approximately 150 beluga were recorded by visual observers in the Assomption Harbour concentration. After reviewing video footage of the beluga concentration, three separate counts averaged 233 beluga (including seven calves) in Assomption Harbour on 26 July (Figure 16). This sighting was not included in Tables 2 or 3 as aerial surveys were not being flown in Eclipse Sound at the time. Survey effort was focused in Admiralty Inlet on the day in question. On 25 July, killer whale sightings were reported by the community of Pond Inlet and relayed to the aerial survey team through the Inuit observers. It is possible that the beluga whales in Assomption Harbour were trying to evade the killer whales in Eclipse Sound. On 27 July, the beluga concentration was still present at the same location. The concentration was estimated at 120 beluga on 27 July (Appendix B, Figure B-6). An additional ten beluga sightings for a total of 28 beluga whales were also sighted on 27 July, with eight of the ten sightings being observed in Tremblay Sound (Appendix B, B-6). One beluga whale was observed on 30 July in Navy Board Inlet (see Appendix B, Figure B-7). One beluga whale was observed during on 1 August in Tremblay Sound (see Appendix B, Figure B-8).

Killer whales were not observed by the aerial survey team during the Leg 1 surveys in 2022.



Figure 16: Beluga whale concentration in Assomption Harbour on 26 July 2022.

Unidentified whale

There were two sightings of individual unidentified whales during the Leg 1 surveys (Figure 15; Table 2 and 3). An unidentified whale was observed in the Eastern Eclipse Sound strata along the south shore of Bylot Island on 21 July and another was observed in Navy Board Inlet on 22 July (see Appendix B, Figures B-1 and B-2).

Ringed seal

Ringed seal were observed throughout the survey area during the Leg 1 surveys with the highest numbers recorded in the Milne Inlet North, Milne Inlet South, and Eclipse Sound West strata (Figure 17). One hundred and forty-four sightings totalling 170 ringed seal were recorded during Leg 1 surveys (Table 2 and 3). Most of the ringed seal sightings observed in the water were of single animals (97 of 104 sightings). The remaining seven ringed seal groups observed in the water consisted of groups of two to six seals. The remaining forty ringed seal sightings were observed on ice. Ringed seals on the ice were observed in groups ranging from one to four seals and with mean and median group sizes of 1.4 and 1.0, respectively.

Harp seal

One hundred and twelve sightings totalling 1,092 harp seals were recorded during Leg 1 surveys (Table 2 and 3). Most harp seal were observed in northern Navy Board Inlet during Leg 1 surveys (Figure 17). All harp seal were observed in the water in groups ranging from one to 100 seals and with mean and median group sizes of 9.8 and 8.0, respectively.

Bearded seal

There were three sightings of individual bearded seals during the Leg 1 surveys (Figure 17; Table 2 and 3). The first sighting of bearded seal was observed in the Eclipse Sound West stratum on 24 July; the second and third bearded seal were observed in Navy Board Inlet on 27 and 30 July (see Appendix B, Figures B-4, B-6, and B-7).

Unidentified seal

Unidentified seal were observed throughout the survey area during Leg 1 surveys (Figure 17). There were 20 sightings totalling 26 seals (Table 2 and Table 3).

Polar bear

Five sightings of individual polar bears were recorded during Leg 1 surveys (Figure 17; Table 2 and Table 3). Two polar bears were observed in northern Navy Board Inlet and two polar bears were observed in the Pond Inlet stratum on 23 and 24 July, respectively (see Appendix B; Figure B-3 and B-4). All four sightings were of swimming animals. The fifth sighting was observed in Admiralty Inlet on 26 July (see Appendix B; Figures B-5). The polar bear was resting on the shore.



LEGEND				
COMMUNITY		MILNE INLET	TOTE ROAD	
MILNE PORT		AERIAL SUR	/EY TRACK	
VISUAL SURVEY PINNIPED SP			TTLEMENT AREA	
BEARDED SEAL)	WATERBODY		
		NCENTRATION	(JULY 30.	
HARP SEAL	2022)			
• • 1		< 1/10		
2-10		1-3/10		
		4-6/10		
10+		7-8/10		
		9-10/10		
RINGED SEAL				
• 1				
2-10				
UNIDENTIFIED SEAL				
© 1				
2-10				
X				
1				
0000				
6				
0	25		50	
	.50,000	KILOMET	RES	
	E DATA BY HATCH, J	ANUARY 25, 2	17, RETRIEVED FRO	M KNIGI
BILL FOLCRUM DATA	CE SERVICE, GOVER	MAY 19, 2017.	NADA. DAILY ICE CH	N ARTS –
BEAFFIN BAY AND APPROACHE	S TO RESOLUTE BA	Y. ACCESSED / CIAL BOUNDA	AUGUST 9, 2022. RY DATA OBTAINED F	ROM
GEOGRATIS, © DEPARTMENT (PROJECTION: UTM ZONE 17	JF NATURAL RESOU DATUM: NAD 83	RCES CANAD	A. ALL RIGHTS RESER	VED.
CLIENT				
BAFFINLAND IRON M	IINES CORPO	RATION		
PROJECT				
MARY RIVER PROJE	СТ			
2022 MARINE MAMM	AL AERIAL SU	RVEYS		
1 – JULY AND AUGUS	ST 2022	FULAR	DLAR DURING	
CONSULTANT	YY	YY-MM-DD	2023-03-22	
	DE	SIGNED	TT	
	PRI	EPARED	AA	
	RE	VIEWED	тт	
2	API	PROVED	PA	
PROJECT NO. CONTR	ROL	RE	IV.	FIGUR
J 166372401 5900	0-06	0		1

2.5.5 Relative Abundance of Marine Mammals

In 2022, a total of 3,703.19 km of effort (3,384.69 km during systematic transects and 318.50 km during dedicated transects) were flown over eight surveys during Leg 1 (not including reconnaissance flights). The relative abundance of marine mammals in the RSA, expressed as the animal detection rate (no. of animals relative to survey effort in km) and sighting rate (no. of sightings relative to survey effort in km) were calculated. Table 4 provides a summary of sighting rates and animal detection rates by species and according to survey effort types (systematic transects vs. dedicated transects). All species were more abundant in the areas where systematic transects were flown compared to areas where dedicated transects were flown (ice lead, floe edge and along the nominal shipping corridor) (Table 4). All seven species were observed during systematic transect surveys while only narwhal (0.4867 animals/km) and ringed seal (0.0031 animals/km) were observed during dedicated surveys. Narwhal had the highest relative abundance for systematic transects (0.6970 animals/km). Harp seal had the second highest relative abundance (0.2668 animals/km). Narwhal relative abundance was higher during systematic transects than in areas where dedicated transects were flown (0.6970 animals/km and 0.4867 animals/km).

In the Eclipse Sound grid, narwhal relative abundance varied among the seven surveys flown ranging from 0.0959 to 2.8134 animals/km along systematic transects (Table 5). Admiralty Inlet had the third highest narwhal relative abundance along systematic transects during Survey 5 (1.0670 animals/km) (Table 5).

	No. of S	Sightings	Sighting Rate (sightings/km)		No. of Animals		Animal Detection Rate (no. animals/km)			
Species	Sys.ª Tran.	Ded. ^ь Tran.	Sys. Tran.	Ded. Tran.	Combined	Sys. Tran.	Ded. Tran.	Sys. Tran.	Ded. Tran.	Combined
Narwhal	1148	44	0.3392	0.1381	0.3219	2359	155	0.6970	0.4867	0.6789
Bowhead Whale	4	0	0.0012	—	0.0011	7	0	0.0021	—	0.0019
Beluga Whale	15	0	0.0044	—	0.0041	151	0	0.0446	—	0.0408
Unknown Whale	1	0	0.0003	_	0.0003	1	0	0.0003	_	0.0003
Ringed Seal	135	1	0.0399	0.0031	0.0367	158	1	0.0467	0.0031	0.0429
Harp Seal	101	0	0.0298	—	0.0273	903	0	0.2668	—	0.2438
Bearded Seal	3	0	0.0009	—	0.0008	3	0	0.0009	_	0.0008
Unknown Seal	16	0	0.0047	_	0.0043	20	0	0.0059		0.0054
Polar Bear	3	0	0.0009		0.0008	3	0	0.0009		0.0008

^a Systematic Transects

^b Dedicated Transects

		No. of Animals		Animal Detection Rate (animals/km)			
Date	Survey #	Sys.ª Tran.	Ded. ^ь Tran. (Leads, Floe Edge and Ship Track)	Sys. Tran.	Ded. Tran. (Leads, Floe Edge, and Ship Track)		
21 July	1	23	53	0.0959	1.2968		
22 July	2	399	0	2.8134	—		
23 July	3	622	0	1.2325	_		
24 July	4	149	0	0.2175	—		
26 July	5°	434	0	1.0670	—		
27 July	6	374	0	0.6363	—		
30 July	7	113	102	0.3894	0.3855		
1 Aug	8	245	0	0.4372	_		
	Total	2359	155	0.6970	0.4867		

Table 5: Narwhal detection rates (relative abundance) during Leg 1 surveys

^a Systematic Transects

^b Dedicated Transects

^c Flown in Admiralty Inlet

2.5.6 Comparison with Previous Surveys

The relative abundance for this section only included data from systematic transects because dedicated transect would bias the data due to the varying numbers of dedicated transects flown each year. Survey 5 flown on 26 July 2022 was removed from the analysis because it was flown in Admiralty Inlet and would bias the comparisons with previous years. The relative abundance of marine mammals in the RSA during Leg 1 surveys was higher in 2022 (1.060 animals/km) than in 2021 (0.839 animals/km), 2020 (0.564 animals/km), and 2019 (0.371 animals/km; Table 6).

Narwhal relative abundance increased by 93% in 2022 (0.6464) from 2021 (0.3356; Table 6). Much of this increase was likely attributed to a large number of narwhal in the northern portion of Navy Board Inlet during Surveys 2 and 3. Bowhead whale relative abundance decreased by 87% in 2022 (0.0024) from 2021 (0.0189). Beluga whale relative abundance increased by 9980% in 2022 (0.0504) from 2021 (0.0005). Ringed seals and harp seals were observed in lower relative abundance in 2022 compared to 2021, but in higher relative abundance in 2022 compared to 2019 and 2020. The seal data should be interpreted with caution due to the difficulty of observing and identifying seals at survey altitudes of 305 m (1,000 ft) above sea level (ASL), especially as sea state increases.

	2019		2020		2	2021	2022		
Species	No. of Animals	Relative Abundance (animals/km)							
Narwhal	1,187	0.2952	1,431	0.3333	2,091	0.3356	1,925	0.6464	
Bowhead Whale	94	0.0234	39	0.0091	118	0.0189	7	0.0024	
Beluga Whale	1	0.0002	4	0.0009	3	0.0005	150	0.0504	
Killer Whale	10	0.0025	0	0.0000	20	0.0032	0	0.0000	
Unknown Whale	4	0.0010	1	0.0002	4	0.0006	1	0.0003	
Ringed Seal	71	0.0199	154	0.0359	568	0.0912	156	0.0524	
Harp Seal	102	0.0286	680	0.1584	2,306	0.3701	895	0.3005	
Bearded Seal	2	0.0006	2	0.0005	5	0.0008	3	0.0010	
Walrus	0	0.0000	0	0.0000	1	0.0002	0		
Unknown Seal	19	0.0053	107	0.0249	107	0.0172	16	0.0054	
Polar Bear	1	0.0002	2	0.0005	2	0.0003	3	0.0010	
Total	1,491	0.3709	2,420	0.5637	5,225	0.8387	3,156	1.0598	

Table 6: Relative abundance (animal detection rate) of marine mammals for systematic transects in RSA during Leg 1 in 2019, 2020, 2021, and 2022

Note: Relative abundance = animals/km (corrected for survey effort in km)

2.6 Discussion

2.6.1 Narwhal

The main focus of the Leg 1 marine mammal aerial surveys in 2022 was to obtain data on the presence/absence and distribution of marine mammals in the open water areas and in the ice throughout the Eclipse Sound survey grid prior to and immediately following the start of shipping activities. By the time aerial surveys began on 21 July 2022, ice conditions ranged from areas of open water to 9-10/10 ice concentrations, with no landfast ice along the shipping corridor (see Figure 5; Appendix B, Figure B-1). The first Project vessels to enter the RSA on the evening of the 30 July 2022 was a convoy consisting of three ore carriers and two tugs which transited directly to Milne Port, although other non-Baffinland vessels had entered and exited the RSA via Baffin Bay since 21 July 2022.

Throughout Leg 1 surveys, narwhal distribution shifted westward from Eclipse Sound East and Pond Inlet to Milne Inlet and Tremblay Sound. On 21 July, narwhal were distributed in ice concentrations ranging from <1/10 to 9-10/10 in the Pond Inlet and Eclipse Sound East strata. Concentrations of narwhal were highest along the shore of Bylot Island and floe edge in Eclipse Sound East with lower numbers scattered throughout the area north of Pond

Inlet (see Appendix B, Figure B-1). On 22 July, narwhal were observed in high concentrations in the open water at the north end of Navy Board Inlet. A survey was flown on 23 July in the central portion of Eclipse Sound and in the northern portion of Navy Board Inlet. Narwhal were distributed evenly throughout the central portion of Eclipse Sound where ice concentrations varied considerably from 0-10/10. Narwhal were again observed in high concentrations in the open water at the north end of Navy Board Inlet. Ice concentrations ranged from 0-10/10 in the central and southern portion of Navy Board Inlet. On 24 July, narwhal were distributed evenly throughout western Eclipse Sound where ice conditions varied considerably from 1-10/10 concentrations. Narwhal were not observed in Tremblay Sound or Milne Inlet South on 24 July even though both areas were primarily free of ice.

A survey was flown on 26 July in Admiralty Inlet. It consisted of a reconnaissance survey in southern Admiralty Inlet and a systematic survey in northern Admiralty Inlet (see Appendix B, Figure B-5). Ice concentrations during the reconnaissance survey ranged from open water in the far south to 9-10/10 in the central region of the Admiralty Inlet North stratum. In Admiralty Inlet North, ice concentrations ranged from open water to 9-10/10 where systematic transect lines were flown. Narwhal were distributed throughout the open water area in Admiralty Inlet North with highest concentrations along the west side of the Inlet. Although there was an open passage along the west shore from Admiralty Inlet North to Admiralty Inlet South, narwhal had not yet started to move south of the ice concentrations.

A survey flown in the Eclipse Sound grid on 27 July covered the Milne Inlet South, Milne Inlet North, Tremblay Sound, Eclipse Sound West, and Navy Board Inlet strata. Ice concentrations ranged from 0-9/10 in Navy Board Inlet, 1-10/10 in Eclipse Sound West, 0-10/10 in Milne Inlet North, 0-9/10 in Tremblay Sound, and open water in Milne Inlet South. Narwhal were observed in Eclipse Sound West, northern Navy Board Inlet, and one in Milne Inlet South (see Appendix B, Figure B-6). In northern Navy Board Inlet, narwhal occurred in lower numbers than observed on 22 and 23 July. A survey on 30 July covered the same strata as the 27 July survey. With the exception of a sighting in Navy Board Inlet, most narwhal sightings were observed in Tremblay Sound and Milne Inlet South (see Appendix B, Figure B-7). The only survey flown after the start of shipping operations was on 1 August. During this survey, narwhal were again, mainly concentrated in Tremblay Sound and Milne Inlet South (see Appendix B, Figure B-8).

Leg 1 narwhal distribution in 2022 was similar to the distribution observed in 2021. Not long after aerial surveys started in both years, narwhal distribution shifted from the Pond Inlet and Eclipse Sound East strata to the Eclipse Sound West stratum and then the Tremblay Sound and Milne Inlet South strata (Golder 2020a, 2021a, 2022c). By the start of the shipping season in both 2021 (24–26 July) and 2022 (30 July), narwhal had progressed further into the RSA than the two years prior with most narwhal concentrated in Milne Inlet South and Tremblay Sound. In 2019 and 2020, narwhal were primarily distributed in Eclipse Sound strata and Milne Inlet at the start of the shipping season with some differences in dispersal patterns of groups between those years. Ice concentration was likely the main factor driving both the differences in distribution and dispersal patterns between the years.

In 2019, the sea ice remaining in the RSA when icebreaking started (17 July) was fragmented in a loose, pack ice formation allowing narwhal to disperse throughout the Eclipse Sound area somewhat evenly (Golder 2020a). In 2020, the sea ice present in the RSA at the start of icebreaking (21 July) was largely intact (i.e., large, consolidated ice field) with a few ice leads running through it (Golder 2021a). As a result, narwhal were highly concentrated in the ice leads in Eclipse Sound in 2020, forming a more clumped distribution compared to 2019, 2021, and 2022. There was no Project-related icebreaking in 2021 and 2022 and shipping didn't start until ice concentrations were no greater than 3/10 along the entire Northern Shipping Route. In 2021, project vessels entered the RSA on 24–25 July (two tugs) and 26 July (MSV *Botnica* and one ore carrier) (Golder 2022c).

In 2022, project vessels entered the RSA on the evening of 30 July and were preceded by non-Baffinland vessels that entered and exited the RSA since as early as 21 July 2022. By the time shipping started in both years (2021 and 2022), narwhal had already traveled through the RSA and were concentrated in the Tremblay Sound and Milne Inlet South strata (Appendix B, Figures B-7 and B-8).

Eight aerial surveys (systematic and dedicated surveys) were conducted during the 2022 Leg 1 surveys (see Table 1). Relative abundance estimates were calculated for all marine mammals observed during the early shoulder season for both systematic and dedicated transects (see Table 4). Narwhal had the highest relative abundance (0.646 animals/km) of all marine mammals observed during systematic transects. The lowest relative abundance of narwhal was observed on 21 July (0.0959 animals/km) (see Table 5). The highest relative abundance was on 22 July with 2.8134 animals/km in Navy Board Inlet. This decreased to 1.2325 animals/km in Navy Board Inlet and Eclipse Sound on 23 July and to 0.2175 animals/km in western Eclipse Sound, Tremblay Sound and Milne Inlet on 24 July before increasing again to 0.6363 animals/km in western Eclipse Sound, Tremblay Sound, Milne Inlet and Navy Board Inlet on 27 July, 0.3894 animals/km in western Eclipse Sound, Tremblay Sound, Milne Inlet and Navy Board Inlet on 30 July (survey completed prior to the start of shipping in 2022), and 0.4634 animals/km in western Eclipse Sound, Tremblay Sound, and Milne Inlet on 1 August (see Table 5). The aerial survey conducted on 26 July was flown in Admiralty Inlet and is not further discussed here. The peak in narwhal numbers early during Leg 1 suggests that some narwhal were migrating through the RSA while others remained. Relative abundance during Leg 1 would be expected to be higher when counts include both narwhal migrating into the RSA to stay for the summer and narwhal migrating through the RSA to other areas for the summer, e.g., Admiralty Inlet.

In the Eclipse Sound grid, narwhal relative abundance in 2022 varied between systematic surveys ranging from 0.096 to 2.813 animals/km (see Table 5). In previous years, narwhal relative abundance ranged between surveys from 0.030 to 0.500 animals/km in 2019 (Golder 2020a), 0.000 to 0.773 animals/km in 2020 (Golder 2021a), and 0.000 to 0.685 animals/km in 2021 (Golder 2022c).

Calculations from systematic (open water) surveys were used to compare combined relative abundance between years from 2019 to 2022 (see Table 6). The combined relative abundance estimates from Leg 1 systematic surveys suggested that narwhal were more abundant in the RSA in 2022 (0.646) compared to 2019, 2020, and 2021 (0.295, 0.333, and 0.336 animals/km respectively) (see Table 6). However, the 2020 relative abundance may be higher or comparable to 2022 when considering the relative abundance estimate from dedicated survey in leads (2.09 animals/km). When combining both systematic and dedicated surveys conducted in 2020, the relative abundance of narwhal in in the RSA during Leg 1 surveys would be higher than 0.33 animals/km.

It is problematic to compare dedicated surveys between all four years because 2020 was the only year when the sea ice was largely intact within the RSA and leads were flown as dedicated surveys. Therefore, these relative abundance results should be interpreted with caution due to a variety of factors that would influence relative abundance estimates including uneven coverage effort between surveys, exclusion of dedicated surveys when comparing all years, and the variability in the timing of the surveys each year. For example, Leg 1 surveys in both 2021 and 2022 started later (19 and 21 July, respectively) than in 2019 (12 July) and 2020 (10 July). Prior to the start of shipping in 2021 and 2022, narwhal had already migrated and concentrated in Tremblay Sound and Milne Inlet which differed from 2019 and 2020 when narwhal were more evenly distributed throughout the RSA at the start of shipping. Compared to 2020, there were no ice leads to fly during Leg 1 surveys in 2019, 2021 and 2022, and all surveys over open water making it difficult to directly compare relative abundances.

For all survey years combined, the relative abundance calculation was not considered to be an accurate estimate of abundance because of uneven aerial coverage effort between surveys. Abundance calculations are considerably impacted if coverage in the survey area is not the same for all surveys. Leg 1 surveys focused on presence/absence and distribution of marine mammals prior to and during initial shipping operations. Complete and equal survey effort coverage of the RSA was not the main goal of Leg 1 surveys. This was often not achieved due to ice or other weather conditions. Therefore, relative abundance results from these surveys should be interpreted as a snapshot of abundance in the specific area surveyed at a particular time and does not represent an estimate of stock abundance. Additionally, in the spring and early summer, narwhal may migrate through the RSA to Admiralty Inlet or other summering areas, and it is not possible to determine which narwhal stay, and which simply migrate through. When narwhal do stay in the RSA, they tend to concentrate in either Koluktoo Bay or Tremblay Sound. As a result, relative abundance numbers will be higher during surveys that focus on surveying locations where narwhal are concentrated rather than flying all areas equally.

In summary, the comparison of the relative abundance results from Leg 1 surveys across 2019, 2020, 2021, and 2022 are to be interpreted with caution and understood that the results for each survey represent the relative abundance of narwhal for the specific locations surveyed on a specific date and for systematic surveys only. Relative abundance for comparison between years could be affected by factors such as unequal distribution of survey effort through the survey area, narwhal aggregating in large numbers in certain areas and surveys targeting those areas, as well as the timing of Leg 1 surveys.

2.6.2 Other Marine Mammals

2.6.2.1 Cetaceans Bowhead Whale

Bowhead whales were observed in similar numbers throughout the RSA during Leg 1 surveys in 2022 compared to 2019, and lower numbers compared to 2020 and 2021(Golder 2020a, 2021a, 2022c). During 2022 Leg 1 surveys, bowhead whales were broadly distributed throughout the RSA with observations in Pond Inlet, Eclipse Sound East, Milne Inlet North, and Navy Board Inlet (see Figure 15). The distribution of bowhead whales was more extensive in 2022 compared to 2019, but less extensive compared to 2020 and 2021. In 2019, bowhead whales were only observed in Pond Inlet and Eclipse Sound West. In 2020 and 2021 bowhead whales were observed in the same strata as those observed in 2022, as well as in Tremblay Sound and Milne Inlet. Bowhead whale concentrations for 2022 were highest in the Milne Inlet North and Navy Board Inlet strata.

The bowhead relative abundance in the RSA in 2022 was the lowest recorded since the start of Leg 1 aerial surveys at 0.0024 animals/km compared to 0.0230 animals/km in 2019, 0.0091 animals/km in 2020, and 0.0189 animals/km in 2021. The higher number of bowhead whales observed in 2019 and 2021 may represent anomalous years compared to historical numbers. It was noted by many local residents in Pond Inlet that bowhead whale numbers observed in 2019 were higher than those observed in previous years. The relative abundance of bowhead in 2022 may be representative of typical numbers prior to 2019. Ongoing monitoring will help determine whether 2019 and 2021 were anomalous years with high bowhead whale abundance or whether bowhead whale use of the RSA may be increasing.

Beluga Whale

Prior to 2022, beluga numbers were consistently low in the RSA. There were three, four, and five beluga sightings during Leg 1 surveys in 2019, 2020, and 2021, respectively, (Golder 2020a, 2021a, 2022c). There were 15 sightings during the 2022 Leg 1 surveys alone. Most of the sightings (11) recorded in 2022, however, occurred on 27 July when a large aggregation of multiple groups of beluga whales was observed near Milne Port in Assomption Harbour prior to the start of Baffinland's shipping activities.

A total of 152 beluga whales were observed in the RSA during 2022 Leg 1 surveys. One hundred and fourty-eight of these were observed in Assomption Harbour on 27 July. Prior to 2022, all beluga sightings were of single whales during Leg 1 of the 2019, 2020, and 2021 aerial surveys (Golder 2020a, 2021a, 2022c). In 2007 and 2008, beluga whales were observed in the RSA in small numbers (three animals in 2007 and 59 animals in 2008; Baffinland 2012). Beluga whales were not observed during Baffinland aerial surveys from 2013 to 2015 (Elliott et al. 2015; Thomas et al. 2015, 2016). 2022 may have been a unique year for beluga numbers in the RSA, specifically the observation of 148 whales on 27 July. Beluga relative abundance in the RSA in 2022 was the highest of all Leg 1 survey years with 0.0504 animals/km compared to 0.0002 animals/km in 2019, 0.0009 animals/km in 2020, and 0.0005 animals/km in 2021.

Killer Whale

Killer whale were not observed during the 2022 Leg 1 surveys. However, on 25 July, killer whale sightings were reported by the community of Pond Inlet and relayed to the aerial survey team through the Inuit observers. The following day (26 July), a large concentration of beluga were sighted by Milne Port staff in Assomption Harbour close to the Port Site. This was an incidental sighting and numbers were not included in the survey results. Video footage of the beluga concentration yielded a beluga count of 233 beluga (including seven calves) in Assomption Harbour on 26 July (Figure 16). It is possible that the beluga whales in Assomption Harbour were trying to evade the killer whales in Eclipse Sound.

The relative abundance of killer whales was higher in 2019 and 2021 (0.0025 animals/km and 0.0032 animals/km, respectively) compared to 2020 and 2022 (0.0000 animals/km for both years). Though killer whale were not observed during Leg 1 surveys in 2019 and 2020, killer whale presence during Leg 2 survey in 2020 was higher in the Eclipse Sound grid than in 2019. Relative abundance and sightings of killer whale during Legs 1 and 2 in previous surveys suggested that killer whale presence in the RSA may be increasing. However, killer whale were not observed during either Leg 1 or Leg 2 of 2022 and ongoing monitoring of killer whale occurrence in the RSA is needed to determine trends in the RSA.

2.6.2.2 Pinnipeds

Pinniped data collected in 2019, 2020, 2021, and 2022 should be interpreted with caution due to the difficulty in observing seals at survey altitudes of 305 m (1,000 ft) ASL. Apparent differences in sighting data may result from changes in survey conditions and the ability of MMOs to identify species rather than actual changes in pinniped species numbers or distribution.

Ringed Seal

Ringed seals were distributed throughout the survey area during Leg 1 of the 2019, 2020, 2021, and 2022 MMASPs, similar to what was observed in previous aerial surveys (Elliott et al. 2015; Thomas et al. 2015, 2016; Golder 2020a, 2021a, 2022c). In 2020, 2021, and 2022 ringed seal were more concentrated in the Eclipse Sound West and Milne Inlet strata while being more sporadically distributed throughout the survey area in 2019.

Ringed seal relative abundance was highest in 2021 (0.09 animals/km), followed by 2022 (0.052 animals/km), 2020 (0.036 animals/km), and 2019 (0.020 animals/km). Ringed seal distribution in all years was greatest where ice remained concentrated in the Eclipse Sound West and Milne Inlet strata or where there was open water in the Milne Inlet South stratum.

Ringed seal observations provide relative abundance and distribution information. However, this information cannot be used to reliably assess the effects of Project shipping or obtain accurate abundance estimates. Results from the 2021 ringed seal aerial survey program indicated that ringed seal densities had remained stable with some annual variations since the onset of shipping and icebreaking activities in the RSA (Golder 2022b).

Harp Seal

Harp seals were observed throughout northern Navy Board Inlet, Baffin Bay, Pond Inlet, Eclipse Sound, and Milne Inlet North strata during Leg 1 of the 2022 MMASP. This is similar to what had been observed during previous aerial surveys for the Project (Elliott et al. 2015; Thomas et al. 2015, 2016; Golder 2020a, 2021a, 2022c). Harp seal were dispersed throughout these areas in 2019 and 2020. In 2021 and 2022, harp seal concentrations were greatest in northern Navy Board Inlet.

During Leg 1 in 2022, harp seal relative abundance was a lower (0.300 animals/km) than the 2021 relative abundance (0.370 animals/km) and higher than the 2019 and 2020 relative abundances (0.0290 animals/km and 0.160 animals/km, respectively). The differences in relative abundance between years may be attributable to the different environmental conditions observed between the years (2019, 2021 and 2022 had less ice in the survey area compared to 2020), where the surveys were flown (only one of the five surveys was flown in the very north end of Navy Board Inlet in 2019 where the highest concentrations of harp seal were observed in other years), or it is possible that there was a greater number of harp seals in the RSA in July 2020 and 2021. Harp seal numbers in the RSA were variable during aerial surveys from 2013 to 2020 (Elliott et al. 2015; Thomas et al. 2015, 2016; Golder 2020a, 2021a, 2022c). The highest count of harp seals recorded on a survey was 80 sightings totalling 1,005 individuals on 16–17 September 2014 (Thomas et al. 2015).

Bearded Seal

Similar to previous years, only a few bearded seals were observed during the 2022 MMASP. There were three sightings recorded during the 2022 Leg 1 in the Eclipse Sound Grid, compared to two in each of 2019 and 2020, and five in 2021. Relative abundance was highest in 2022 with 0.0010 animals/km compared to 2019, 2020, and 2021 (0.0006 animals/km, 0.0005 animals/km, and 0.0008 animals/km, respectively). Limited IQ has been collected regarding the overall abundance of bearded seal. Some Elders in the Baffin region have observed a decrease in bearded seal abundance since the advent of firearms and motorized transportation (Baffinland 2010). In contrast, one Elder noted that bearded seal were rare near Pond Inlet in the past but are now more frequently observed. Five of ten bearded seal observed during Leg 1 surveys were observed in the Pond Inlet stratum.

Walrus

No walrus were recorded during 2022 Leg 1 surveys in Eclipse Sound. Walrus have rarely been observed during the Baffinland aerial survey programs. In 2014, three sightings totalling four individuals were recorded during a survey on 3–4 August (Thomas et al. 2015). In 2015, one walrus was recorded during a survey on 31 August (Thomas et al. 2016). During Leg 1 in 2021, one walrus was observed in the Pond Inlet stratum (Golder 2022c). IQ indicates that small numbers of walrus occur near the mouth of Navy Board Inlet and in Lancaster Sound to the west of Admiralty Inlet (Baffinland 2010). During 2015 workshops, IQ indicated the Navy Board Inlet floe edge had more walrus present than the Pond Inlet floe edge (JPCS 2017).

2.6.2.3 Polar Bear

Five sightings of individual polar bears were recorded during Leg 1 surveys (Figure 17; Table 2 and Table 3). Two polar bears were observed in northern Navy Board Inlet and two polar bears were observed in the Pond Inlet stratum on 23 and 24 July, respectively (see Appendix B; Figures B-3 and B-4). All four sightings were of swimming animals. The fifth sighting was observed in Admiralty Inlet on 26 July (see Appendix B; Figure B-5). The polar bear was resting on the shore.

Polar bear sightings have been regularly recorded during the Baffinland aerial survey programs. The distribution of polar bears in 2022 was similar to what was observed during previous aerial surveys. In the Eclipse Sound grid, polar bears were more likely to be recorded in the Navy Board Inlet and Pond Inlet strata; all polar bear observed during 2022 Leg 1 surveys were in these strata. Because most polar bear sightings are of polar bears on shore (i.e., when in transit), they are not included in the relative abundance estimates. Relative abundance estimates include only sightings seen in the water while on transect. Polar bear observations provide relative distribution information but cannot be used to assess effects of Project shipping or provide reliable abundance estimates.

3.0 LEG 2: OPEN-WATER SURVEYS IN ECLIPSE SOUND AND ADMIRALTY INLET

3.1 Introduction

3.1.1 Objectives

The 2022 MMASP was staged in two separate survey legs. Leg 2 targeted a 15-day window in August corresponding with the peak open-water period identified by DFO (Watt et al. 2015). The objective of Leg 2 surveys was to obtain an updated (2022) abundance estimate for the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet narwhal summer stocks. Survey design and data collection methodology previously developed by DFO (Asselin and Richard 2011; Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a; Marcoux et al. 2016; Matthews et al. 2017) and implemented by Golder Associates Ltd. (amalgamated under WSP Canada Inc. in January 2023) in 2019, 2020, and 2021 (Golder 2020a, 2021a, 2022c) enabled for a comparison to previously reported abundance estimates.

3.2 Survey Team and Training

Leg 2 of the 2022 aerial surveys took place over one 15-day period (9–23 August) with two aircraft. The survey team consisted of four WSP biologists, three contracted marine biologists and four Inuit researchers with previous marine mammal experience as MMOs, four pilots, and one mechanic (Figure 18 and 19). Four local Inuit researchers, two from Pond Inlet and two from Arctic Bay, participated in the Leg 2 surveys. All Inuit researchers had previous experience as MMOs on either the aerial survey program, the ship-based observer program, or the Bruce Head shore-based monitoring program in previous years.

A one-day data collection and safety training workshop was held at Mary River on 10 August 2022. The training and orientation session was led by a WSP senior marine mammal biologist. The safety component of the workshop aimed to familiarize team members with the Health and Safety Plan that was developed for the program, to review WSP's and Baffinland's health and safety policies and requirements, and to discuss general expectations for the program. The technical component of the workshop including practical (hands-on) training in observational survey procedures, data collection techniques, proper use of equipment, data recording and data entry, and post-processing of the survey data. During the training, all participants were provided with a training manual (see Appendix A) and obtained practical experience using the surveying equipment including recorders, clinometers, and geometer.



Figure 18: 2022 Marine Mammal Aerial Survey Team — Leg 2 CKB Aircraft.



Figure 19: 2022 Marine Mammal Aerial Survey Team — Leg 2 BBV Aircraft

3.3 Study Area and Design

Leg 2 surveyed Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet within a two-day period to obtain an estimate of narwhal abundance in the combined areas. The boundaries for the Eclipse Sound grid during Leg 2 were the same as those for Leg 1 with the Baffin Bay stratum removed (see Figure 3). As during Leg 1, systematic random visual line-transect surveys were flown for all strata (except Tremblay Sound and Milne Inlet South where photographic surveys were conducted) with the location of the first line chosen at random (Figure 20). Transect spacing was the same as those flown during Leg 1 in the Eclipse Sound grid (see Section 2.3). A photographic survey with complete coverage was flown for the Tremblay Sound and Milne Inlet South strata because IQ indicates that these are areas of high narwhal concentration (JPCS 2017) and past surveys (Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a; Elliott et al. 2015; Golder 2020a, 2021a; Marcoux et al. 2019; Thomas et al. 2015; 2016) recorded high concentrations of narwhal in these areas. Transect spacing of 1,200 m for the photographic survey allowed lateral overlap of approximately 30% between photos from adjacent transects (see Section 3.4.1.2 for details).

Through consultation with the MEWG prior to the 2019 MMASP (Golder 2020a), the boundaries for Admiralty Inlet were divided into three strata (Admiralty Inlet North, Admiralty Inlet South, and Admiralty Fjords; see Figure 3). Systematic random visual line-transect surveys were flown for the North and South strata with the location of the first line chosen at random. An east-west parallel line design, with an 8.5 km transect line spacing, was used to provide uniform coverage probability (Buckland et al. 2001; Figure 20).

The survey design consisted of systematically placed and evenly distributed (when possible) line transects across the survey area (Figure 20). Transects were generally straight and uniformly spaced across large waterbodies but were occasional skewed to follow the shoreline contour. This was necessary in areas where the survey aircraft could not safely perform the turns necessary to cross waterbodies perpendicular to shorelines.

For navigation during the survey to follow the survey track lines and to log the flight tracks, an iPad was connected to a Bluetooth GPS (Bad Elf GPS Pro+) which provided information to a navigation app (Foreflight). Foreflight utilizes current and routinely updated digital aeronautical maps. The iPad was used by the navigator/camera operator to coordinate with the flight crew. The flight crew had their own iPad (with Foreflight application) which was synced with the other iPad each time modifications to the planned survey flights were made.



JEAD OF MATCH WHAT IS A MEASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE H

3.4 Materials and Methods

3.4.1 Field Methodology

3.4.1.1 Visual Survey

Surveys were flown in a de Havilland Twin Otter (DH-6) equipped with bubble windows and an optical glass covered camera hatch at the rear. Visual line transect surveys were conducted at an altitude of 305 m (1,000 ft) and a ground speed of 185 km/h (100 kn) with four experienced MMOs. MMOs were stationed at the front and rear bubble windows that provide a view of the track line directly below the aircraft. MMOs were instructed to focus their attention on the area closest to the track line and to use their peripheral vision for sightings farther afield. Observers counted all sightings of marine mammals by speaking into a handheld digital recorder. Using a geometer (or clinometer), the perpendicular declination angle to the center of each sighting was measured once it was abeam of the observer. MMOs noted the species and number of animals in the sighting. A 'sighting was defined as animals within one or a few body lengths of each other and oriented or moving in a similar direction. When time permitted, observers were instructed to give additional details on the sightings, such as the presence of calves, tusked narwhal, behaviour and direction of travel. The visual surveys were conducted as a doubleplatform experiment with independent observation platforms at the front (primary observer) and rear (secondary observer) of the survey plane. The two MMOs stationed on the same side of the aircraft were separated acoustically to achieve independence of their conditional detections. A fifth member of the survey team was responsible for overseeing navigation along the survey grid, monitoring the camera system and entering additional sighting data obtained from the primary observers into the database.

Two MMOs were designated as 'Primary' observers and two were designated as 'Secondary' observers. In addition to counting animals, all observers were responsible for dictating the following environmental conditions throughout the surveys into the recorders: ice concentrations (in tenths), sea state (Beaufort scale), fog (% of field of view and intensity) and glare (% of field of view and intensity). These environmental conditions were recorded at the start and end of each transect, at regular intervals (every 2 minutes) along the transect or sooner if changes were detected throughout the transect.

The area directly below the aircraft was photographed continuously throughout each visual survey using the camera system described in Section 3.4.1.2. Photographs taken during the visual surveys were used to supplement visual sightings for missed geometer angles and group sizes.

Sightings from observers were automatically entered into the Mysticetus program by the observers using geometers during the survey. Geometers were linked to the Mysticetus program, allowing observer data (i.e., date, time, location and declination angles) to be enter electronically into the Mysticetus program in real time. Additional sighting data and environmental conditions recorded on audio recorders were transcribed into the Mysticetus program after the flight. Sightings were georeferenced and transect lengths were calculated in Mysticetus. Strata areas were determined in ArcGIS. Sightings where angles of declinations were not recorded were compared to the photographic records. The perpendicular distance was retrieved from the pixel position of the sighting on the photo if a visual sighting was identified without ambiguity on the corresponding photo. If the sighting was not made within the swath width of the picture, could not be found, or could not be identified from other sightings unambiguously, the sighting was coded as missing distance (these sightings were not used in fitting the detection function, but were added to the total count per transect, as described in Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a). Sightings where group size were not recorded, or were coded as 'uncertain', were compared to the photographic records, and group size was retrieved if a match could be made based on perpendicular distance.

Otherwise, sightings with missing group size were given the average group size in that stratum (posterior to estimation of the expected group size so that it does not affect the estimation of its variance).

During visual line-transect surveys, if large aggregations (e.g., >50 narwhal or when observers indicated that they could not accurately keep up with narwhal counts) were identified during visual transects, the aircraft continued collecting visual line-transect data along transects until narwhal numbers decreased to smaller (e.g., <50) aggregations. The aircraft then ended visual line-transect survey data collection and a photographic survey was flown with complete coverage over the group to allow for accurate counts of animals. Using pre-planned survey grids, the aggregation would be photographed using a systematic grid with complete coverage as seen in Figure 20 (yellow transect lines) for the Milne inlet South and Tremblay Sound strata.

3.4.1.2 Photographic Survey

The aircraft was equipped with two identical camera systems. The systems used Canon EOS 5DS R DSLR (digital single-lens reflex) cameras fitted with 35 mm lens (three Sigma 35 mm f/1.4 DG HSM and one Zeiss 35 mm f1.4 Milvus ZE). The cameras were connected to a laptop computer to control exposure settings and photo interval. The cameras were installed within the optical glass covered camera hatch on a custom-made mount. Images were saved directly to internal camera cards. Photos were georeferenced (using GPicSync 1.32) at the end of the field season using saved GPS logs from a Bluetooth GPS receiver (Bad Elf GPS Pro+). Cameras and computers were synched with the GPS receiver, and the GPS receiver was calibrated to barometric data provided by the pilots when available.

The cameras were oriented widthwise (long side perpendicular to the track line) and angled obliquely: one to the port side and the other to the starboard side. Each camera provided an oblique image starting at the track line, the viewing angle of each camera ($\alpha = 27^{\circ}$) equal to half its field of view (shown as β in Figure 21), calculated using (Covington 1985):





Photographic surveys were conducted at an altitude of 610 m (2,000 ft) and a ground speed of 185 km/h (100 kn). Surveys were flown at an altitude of 305 m (1,000 ft) or 457 m (1,500 ft) if conditions did not allow surveying at higher altitude (610 m). The aircraft maintained appropriate altitude when flying in Simirlik National Park. Using

the methods described in Grendzdörffer et al. (2008), the photograph dimensions of the two-camera system (see Figure 21) and the necessary photographic interval were calculated to allow overlap of the photos while flying at 100 knots (Table 7). The photographic interval was set to maintain an overlap (on the inside edge) of approximately 15% between consecutive photos, and with a transect spacing of 600 m (for 1,000 ft surveys) and 1,200 m (for 2,000 ft surveys), the lateral overlap between photos from adjacent transects was approximately 30%.

	Altitude (m)					
	305	457	610			
A (m)	423	629	846			
B (m)	186	279	372			
C (m)	318	475	636			
Interval (sec)	3	5	6			

Table 7: Dimensions of image	s at three possible altitudes	and image interval needed	for 15% endlap
------------------------------	-------------------------------	---------------------------	----------------

Three sets of grid lines (one for 305 m, a second for 457 m and a third for 610 m altitudes) were prepared prior to field work so a photographic survey could be coordinated within minutes of spotting an aggregation of animals.

All photographs were orthorectified at the end of the field season to create an orthophotograph prior to analysis (Figure 22). An orthophotograph is an aerial photograph that has been geometrically corrected such that the scale is an accurate representation of the earth's surface, having been adjusted for topographic relief, lens distortion, and camera tilt.



Figure 22: Orthophotograph of an image taken at 610 m (2,000 ft) in Eclipse Sound on 20 August 2020.

3.4.2 Data Analysis

An adaptive sampling plan to estimate narwhal abundance that combines visual line-transect sampling of the survey area and aerial photographic surveys of designated strata was used (Asselin and Richard 2011; Marcoux et al. 2016; Matthews et al. 2017). Animal detection rates were also calculated for other marine mammal species and expressed as number of sightings/km and number of animals/km (used as a proxy for relative abundance).

3.4.2.1 Visual Survey

3.4.2.1.1 Distance Analysis

The standard analysis method of this design assumed that on average, over multiple replications of the survey, each point within the survey area had an equal likelihood of being sampled (uniform coverage probability). Given that the locations of the transect lines were considered random with respect to the location of marine mammals, the average density of marine mammals was considered to be the same irrespective of distance from the transect line. Subsequently, observed changes in marine mammal sightings with increasing distance from the transect line was considered a change in the probability of detection, rather than a true change in animal density. The change in detection probability with respect to sighting distance from the track line (flight path) was measured to provide an estimate of the average probability of detection of an animal, which was, in turn, used to estimate the density of marine mammals in the survey area.

Density was calculated by using the line transect estimation method (Buckland et al. 2001). In the standard approach, animal density (D) was estimated using the following equation:

$$\frac{\mathbb{P} * \mathbb{P} (0) * \hat{E}(\mathbb{P})}{2 * \mathbb{P} * \mathbb{P} (0)}$$

Where *n* is the number of observed objects (single or clusters of animals), *f* (0) is the estimated probability density function at zero distance, $\hat{E}(s)$ is the estimate of expected value of cluster size (estimated group size), *L* (effort) is the total length of transect lines surveyed and g (0) is the probability of detection on the transect line. Effort was calculated as total length of transect lines surveyed using trackline GPS data. Transits between transects were not included in effort calculations.

An implicit assumption of this method was that the probability of detection depended solely on an animal's perpendicular distance from the transect line. Line transect theory assumes that all animals on the transect line were detected with certainty (g(0)=1). In reality, this is an unrealistic assumption for animals that spend considerable time underwater where observers may fail to detect animals due to availability bias (animal was not detected because it was diving) (Marsh and Sinclair 1989). Correcting for availability bias requires published dive profile data to reliably estimate the proportion of time different marine mammal species spend diving (Laake et al. 1997). The most current time-series dive data collected from tagged narwhal near Arctic Bay and Pond Inlet were used to apply a correction factor for availability bias in photographic data (Watt et al. 2015; Table 8), as was used in the previous DFO narwhal abundance estimates (Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a; Marcoux et al. 2019). Mid-August included the period from 13 August (the earliest tagging date) until 24 August and late August included the period from 25–31 August (Watt et al. 2015). For narwhal visual surveys, correction factors (C α) from Watt et al. (2015) tagging data were used with an additional correction for time in view and animal dive cycle applied from Doniol-Valcroze et al. (2015a) measurements (Table 8).

Species	Survey Type/Date	Correction Factor	CV	Source
Narwhal	Photo / Mid-Aug	3.18	0.03	Watt et al. 2015
	Photo / Late Aug	3.16	0.03	Watt et al. 2015
	Visual / Mid-Aug	2.94	0.03	Watt et al. 2015; Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a
	Visual / Late Aug	2.92	0.03	Watt et al. 2015; Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a

Table 8: Availability bias	correction	factors
----------------------------	------------	---------

Encounter rate [$\frac{n}{L}$ from the equation above] was calculated as the number of marine mammal sighting per transect kilometre and was specific to each survey area. Although encounter rate was calculated (not estimated), there was a degree of variability in its value since encounter rate may vary among individual transects. Encounter rate variance was estimated using the S2 estimator available within Distance 7.3 (Fewster et al. 2009).

Group size $[\hat{E}(\mathbb{R})]$ from equation above] was estimated to correct for observer size-bias whereby larger groups were more likely to be seen at long distances than smaller groups (or individuals). The regression of the natural log of cluster size was tested against the estimated g(x) and considered significant at an alpha level of 0.1; the value of mean group size was used for non-significant results. Distance truncation of the data was performed to remove sightings past a selected distance to remove outliers from the dataset that would otherwise inflate density and abundance estimates, and to eliminate hard-to-fit portions of the dataset.

3.4.2.1.2 Perception Bias

Distance sampling (DS) methods can be used to estimate detection probability away from the track line while assuming that detection on the track line is certain (denoted by g(0)=1). However, aerial survey observers miss some of the narwhal visible at the surface (Richard et al. 2010). This "perception bias" (Marsh and Sinclair 1989) can be corrected for by using mark-recapture (MR) methods on the sighting data from two observers on the same side of the plane (Laake and Borchers 2004). Thus, the combination of MR and DS (MRDS) methods can be used to estimate abundance without assuming that g(0)=1. The two observers in the front of the plane were considered to be the first platform and referred to as "primary observers", and the two observers in the rear were considered to be the second platform ("secondary observers").

To conduct MRDS analysis, duplicate sightings (those seen by both the primary and secondary observer) must be identified. The following criteria, based on previous DFO surveys (Asselin and Richard 2011; Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a), were used to identify sightings:

- Timing of sightings within 10 seconds
- Perpendicular declination angle within 10°

As MRDS analysis in Distance requires that duplicate sightings be identical, when this was not the case, the following adjustments to the data were made:

- Used the average perpendicular declination angle as measured by the two observers
- Used the largest group size as measured by the two observers
- Used group differentiation as measured by the primary observer

Although primary and secondary observers were acting independently, detection probabilities of observers can be correlated because of factors such as group size (for example, both observers are more likely to see only large groups at long distances). Buckland et al. (2009) developed a point-independence model, which assumes that detections were independent only on the track line. This model is usually more robust than a model assuming that detections were independent at all perpendicular distances.

Line-transect analyses to estimate density and abundance were performed with the MRDS package in R. A pointindependence model involved estimating two functions: a multiple covariate DS detection function for detections pooled across platforms, assuming certain detection on the track line, and a MR detection function to estimate the probability of detection on the track line.

3.4.2.2 Photographic Survey

Whale Seeker, Inc. (Whale Seeker) was contracted for the post season photographic analysis. The photo analyst from Whale Seeker is experienced in analysing aerial photos from previous DFO narwhal surveys in 2013 and the 2019, 2020, and 2021 photographic surveys. Photographs were orthorectified prior to being analysed. All narwhal within the top 2 m of the water column were counted. Water clarity was subjectively evaluated in each photo and classified as either murky (water in which narwhal could only be observed at the surface) or clear (water in which narwhal could be observed down to 2 m).

A randomly selected photo survey was re-analyzed by a second experienced photo analyst to evaluate reliability and repeatability. A simple linear regression was run on the comparison of the photo survey readings. Photographic readings from the original photo readers were used in the photo analysis.

Some photographic surveys have observed a decrease in marine mammal detectability with increasing distance from the track line (Golder 2018b). To assess if this was occurring on the photographic surveys, a survey was selected with no glare or land, to assess if a decrease in detectability with increasing distance from the track line was occurring. Removing re-sightings from subsequent photographs on a track line and measuring the distance from the track line for each sighting allowed assessment of detectability with increasing distance from the track line. The Distance program was used to measure a change in marine mammal sightings with increasing distance from the track line, referred to as detection probability. The change in detection probability with respect to sighting distance from the track line (flight path) was measured to provide an estimate of the average probability of detection of an animal, which was, in turn, used to estimate the density of narwhal in the photographic survey area.

The area covered by each photograph was calculated in ArcMap (Esri) based on the orthophotograph which accounted for survey altitude, focal length of the camera sensor (35 mm), the length of the camera sensor (35.9 mm), the width of the camera sensor (24 mm), angle of the camera (27°), and the tilt of the aircraft. The area of land was subtracted from each photograph. On some photos, a proportion of the photo was masked by sun glare, which made it impossible for the reader to evaluate if narwhal were present. Therefore, the area of the photo covered by sun glare was measured for each photo in ArcMap (Esri) and subtracted from the photograph. When ice was present in concentrations greater than 10%, the proportion of ice was estimated and deducted from the area left after subtracting the land and glare.

Based on the methodology used in past DFO surveys (Asselin and Richard 2011; Marcoux et al. 2016; Matthews et al. 2017), the total area of a photograph A_{total} examined to detect narwhal was calculated by subtracting the area of each photograph A_{photo} from the area on land A_{land}, the area covered in sun glare A_{glare}, and area covered in ice A_{ice}.

The area covered by each photographic survey (A_{survey}) was determined by calculating the area of a polygon made of all the photographs merged together and removing the areas that were on land. Due to photograph sidelap and endlap, some narwhal were photographed more than once. To estimate the total number of narwhal at the surface in each survey (N_{tot}) (i.e., exclude the positive bias of double-counts), the within-photo animal density was calculated and multiplied by the total area covered by photos:

$$\mathbb{P}_{\text{PPP}} = \mathbb{P}_{\text{PPPPPP}} * \sum_{\mathbb{P}=1}^{\mathbb{P}} \frac{\mathbb{P}_{\text{PPPPPP}}}{\mathbb{P}_{\text{PPP}}}$$

Where:

N_{surface} is the total number of narwhal detected near or at the surface in a photograph

Atot = area of photo i (excluding land, sun glare and ice cover on water)

Asurvey = total area covered by merged photos (excluding land)

I is the number of photographs per survey

The total number of narwhal in each survey was corrected for the instantaneous availability bias and detectability bias:

$$\mathbb{S}^{\mathrm{SSS}} = \mathbb{S}^{\mathrm{SSS}} * \mathbb{S}^{\mathrm{S}} * \mathbb{S}^{\mathrm{S}}$$

Where:

N_{tot} = is the total number of narwhal detected near or at the surface in each survey (excluding the positive bias of double-counts)

 $\mathbb{Z}_{\mathbb{Z}}$ = is the availability correction factor taken from Watt et al. (2015)

 $\mathbb{Z}_{\mathbb{Z}}$ = is the detection correction factor accounting for decreasing detectability from trackline (i.e., 1/p where p=probability of observing a narwhal in a defined area in Distance analysis)

N_{cor} = number of narwhal in the survey corrected for availability bias

The variance of the surface abundance of narwhal (Ntot) was calculated:

$$\mathbb{PPP}(\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{PPP}}) = \frac{\sum (\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{P}} - \overline{\mathbb{P}})^2}{\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{PPPP}^2}}$$

Where \bar{x} is the average number of narwhal per photo, x_i is the number of narwhal for each photo and N_{photos} is the number of photographs. The coefficient of variation (CV) of the photographic count estimate (N_{tot}) was calculated (Marcoux et al. 2016; Marcoux, Pers. Comm. 2020):

$$\mathbb{PP}(\mathbb{P}_{PPP}) = \frac{\sqrt{\mathbb{PPP}(\mathbb{P}_{PPP})}}{\mathbb{P}_{PPP}}$$

The total variance of the estimate from the photographic survey was calculated following the delta method (Buckland et al. 2001):

$$\mathbb{PPP}(\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{PPP}}) = \mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{PPP}}^2 * \left\{ \frac{\mathbb{PPP}(\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{PPP}})}{(\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{PPP}})^2} + \frac{\mathbb{PPP}(\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{P}})}{\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{P}}^2} + \frac{\mathbb{PPP}(\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{P}})}{\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{P}}^2} \right\}$$

The CV of the estimate from the photographic survey was calculated:

$$\mathbb{P}(\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{P}\mathbb{P}}) = \frac{\sqrt{\mathbb{P}\mathbb{P}(\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{P}\mathbb{P}})}}{\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{P}\mathbb{P}}}$$

3.4.2.3 Abundance Estimates

The total estimate for each Survey (N_i) was calculated by summing the estimate from the visual survey, corrected for availability bias, detectability bias and perception bias (N_{iV}), with the estimate from the photographed area, also corrected for availability bias and detectability bias (for narwhal) (N_{iP}):

Where NiP is the abundance of whales in the photographic survey previously referred to as Ntot for narwhal
With variance calculated (e.g., Asselin and Richard 2011; Matthews et al. 2017):

$$PPP(P_{2}) = PPP(P_{2}) + PPP(P_{2})$$

The CV of the estimate from the total estimate was calculated:

$$PP = \frac{\sqrt{PPP(P_p)}}{P_p}$$

Confidence intervals (95%) were calculated using the lognormal method of Buckland et al. (2001):

 $(\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{P}}/\mathbb{P},\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{P}}*\mathbb{P})$

Where: $\mathbb{P} = \mathbb{PPP}[\mathbb{P}_{\mathbb{P}} * \sqrt{\mathbb{PPP}(\mathbb{PPP}_{\mathbb{P}})}]$

and: $\operatorname{PPP}(\operatorname{PPP}_{\mathbb{Z}}^*) = \operatorname{PPP}_{\mathbb{Z}}\left[1 + \frac{\operatorname{PPP}(\mathbb{Z}_{\mathbb{Z}})}{\operatorname{E}^{*^2}}\right]$

The final averaged abundance estimate ($\hat{\mathbb{B}}_{\mathbb{PPP}}$) was calculated by combining the estimates from two surveys (Visual and Photo) using a mean weighted by effort (Buckland et al. 2001 eqn. 8.7):

$$\widehat{\mathbb{P}}_{\mathbb{P}\mathbb{P}^2} = \frac{\mathbb{P}_1 \, \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_1 + \mathbb{P}_2 \, \widehat{\mathbb{P}}_2}{\mathbb{P}_1 + \mathbb{P}_2}$$

Where $\mathbb{Z}_{\mathbb{Z}}$ is the effort calculated as the area covered by the survey i

The variance of the mean estimate is calculated as follows (Buckland et al. 2001 eqn. 8.8):

$$\mathbb{PPP}(\hat{\mathbb{D}}_{\mathbb{PPP}}) = \frac{\mathbb{E}_1^2 \, \widehat{\mathbb{DP}}(\hat{\mathbb{D}}_1) + \mathbb{E}_2^2 \, \widehat{\mathbb{DP}}(\hat{\mathbb{D}}_2)}{(\mathbb{E}_1 + \mathbb{E}_2)^2}$$

3.4.2.4 Trend Analysis

3.4.2.4.1 Aerial Abundance Estimate Trend Over Time

A resampling simulation method was used to estimate the trend in stock abundance estimates over the past twenty years for three areas: Eclipse Sound, Admiralty Inlet, and the combined Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet. The annual estimates of abundance, provided as mean and 95% confidence intervals, were assumed to have come from a lognormal distribution. This assumption was tested by assessing whether the lower and upper confidence limits provided were estimated using a single standard deviation value and a lognormal distribution. The assumption was found to be accurate for abundance estimates post-2005 (since they were generated using the Distance Sampling software) but did not hold for 2003–2004 estimates provided by DFO. The distribution used to generate these estimates was not detailed in the report (Richard et al. 2010). This may have resulted in reduced resampling variability for 2003–2004 data but is not likely to affect the overall results.

A total of 5,000 iterations were used for the analysis. In each iteration, for each sampling year, a random number was drawn from a lognormal distribution with the mean and standard deviation that were used to generate the annual abundance estimate. This resulted in a single time series of abundances in each of the three areas. These values were used to run a linear model where the response value was a natural log-transformed abundance and the predictor variable was sampling year (as a continuous variable). The model was run separately for each area. The significance of the effect of year (alpha = 0.05) and the effect size of year (i.e., the increase or decrease in abundance between each two consecutive years) were recorded for each iteration. This resulted in an array of 5,000 P-values and effect sizes for each area. The median and 95% confidence interval around the effect size

were calculated from the 5,000 iterations for each area, and the proportion of iterations that had a significant effect of slope out of all 5,000 iterations was recorded and was interpreted as the probability of a significant temporal effect.

3.4.3 Quality Management

To confirm data integrity, validity, and reliability, the following Quality assistance/Quality control (QA/QC) measures were undertaken:

- Data was collected and entered into the MMASP database by qualified experienced MMOs following standard field data collection methods (see Appendix A).
- Field data entries were reviewed by a different member of the MMO team for completeness and accuracy.
- Effort and area calculations were reviewed by a WSP biologist to ensure accuracy.
- A final QA/QC of the data results was done by the senior WSP biologist.

3.5 Leg 2 Survey Results

Leg 2 aerial surveys for narwhal were conducted in the North Baffin area during August 2022. The objectives of the surveys were to obtain abundance estimates of narwhal during the open-water season and within the time frame identified by DFO for the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet summer stock areas. Open-water surveys (Leg 2) were flown in the Eclipse Sound grid and Admiralty Inlet grid from 13–21 August. A total of four surveys were attempted in the Eclipse Sound survey grid and two surveys were attempted in the Admiralty Inlet survey grid during Leg 2. Complete coverage was obtained on three of the four surveys in Eclipse Sound and both of the surveys in Admiralty Inlet.

3.5.1 Survey Coverage

Four surveys were attempted over nine days during the open-water season in the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet grids (see Appendix B; Figures B-9 to B-14). Over the course of the four surveys, a total of 7,771.89 km of survey effort was conducted which included both visual and photographic surveys (Table 9).

Eclipse Sound Grid: Visual surveys totaled 3,963.11 km and photographic surveys totaled 1,222.87 km of survey effort (Table 9). Three of the four surveys (Surveys 2, 3, and 4) achieved complete coverage of the survey grid (see Appendix B; Figures B-11, B-8, B-12 and B-14). Due to deteriorating conditions (i.e., fog causing low visibility) at the Mary River site Survey 1 had to be terminated early resulting in an incomplete survey. Survey 2 was flown during high sea states and was latter removed from the abundance estimate.

Admiralty Inlet Grid: Visual surveys totaled 2,281.63 km and photographic surveys totaled 304.29 km of survey effort (Table 9). Two surveys (Surveys 3 and 4) were flown in Admiralty Inlet in 2022 and both obtained complete coverage of the survey grid (see Appendix B; Figures B-10 and B-13).

	Survey 1	Survey 2	Survey 3	Survey 4
Survey Stratum	13 Aug	14–16 Aug	17–18 Aug	21 Aug
Pond Inlet (PI)	V	V	V	V
Eclipse Sound East (ESE)	V	V	V	V
Eclipse Sound West (ESW)	—	V	V	V
Milne Inlet North (MIN)	V	V	V&P	V
Milne Inlet South (MIS)	Р	Р	Р	Р
Tremblay Sound (TS)	_	Р	Р	Р
Navy Board Inlet (NBI)	_	V	V	V
Eclipse Fjords	V	V	V	V
Eclipse Visual Effort (km)	507.08	1,140.60	1,190.78	1,124.64
Eclipse Photographic Effort (km)	84.44	374.84	394.60	368.99
Eclipse Total Effort (km)	591.52	1,515.44	1,585.38	1,493.63
Admiralty Inlet North (AIN)	—	V	V&P	_
Admiralty Inlet South (AIS)	—	V&P	V	_
Admiralty Fjords	—	V	V	_
Admiralty Visual Effort (km)	—	1,147.00	1,134.63	—
Admiralty Photographic Effort (km)		63.39	240.90	
Admiralty Total Effort (km)		1,210.39	1,375.53	
Combined Total Effort (km)	591.52	2,725.83	2,960.91	1,493.63

Table 9: Visual (V) and photographic (P) survey effort undertaken during Leg 2

3.5.2 Sighting Conditions

MMOs recorded environmental sighting conditions during visual surveys at the beginning and end of each transect and anytime conditions changed along the track. All sighting conditions were recorded within the MMO field of view (1 km of the transect line). Sightings conditions were evaluated based on survey effort when each condition was observed. For calculating abundance estimates, distance analyses used the sighting conditions as covariates in the model.

Ice Cover

Ice cover ranged from 0/10 to 1/10 ice concentrations during Leg 2 of the 2022 MMASP (Figure 23). The first two surveys in the Eclipse Sound grid had less than 1% of the survey effort flown in 1/10 ice concentrations. The remaining four survey flown had no ice present in the survey grids.



Figure 23: Ice cover during Leg 2 of the 2022 MMASP. Survey grid denoted with 'E' for Eclipse Sound and 'A' for Admiralty Inlet.

Fog

Two measurements of fog were used as sighting conditions. Fog cover was assessed as the percent (0–100%) of fog obscuring the viewing area and fog intensity (four levels: "none" when there was no fog, "light" fog that animals were visible through, "moderate" when animals were likely missed in the fog, and "thick" when animals were certainly missed in the fog). Areas that were forecasted to be foggy were avoided when daily surveys were planned. Fog cover ranged from None to 100% cover during Leg 2 of the 2022 MMASP. Fog was present during Surveys 2 and 4 in the Eclipse Sound grid and accounted for 1% of the effort of each survey (Figure 24). Most of the fog that was present on the survey was primarily of light and moderate thickness (Figure 25).



Figure 24: Fog cover during Leg 2 of the 2022 MMASP. Survey grid denoted with 'E' for Eclipse Sound and 'A' for Admiralty Inlet.



Figure 25: Fog intensity during Leg 2 of the 2022 MMASP. Survey grid denoted with 'E' for Eclipse Sound and 'A' for Admiralty Inlet.

Beaufort Sea State

On a scale of 0 to 12 (see Appendix A, Table 1), the Beaufort Sea State (BF) ranged from BF 0 (glassy mirror) to BF 6 (large waves) during Leg 2 of the 2022 MMASP (Figure 26). Most sea state conditions were recorded between BF 0 (glassy mirror) and BF 3 (large wavelets, scattered whitecaps) for both survey grids. Areas that were forecasted to have high sea states (> BF 4) were avoided when daily surveys were planned. If sea state conditions exceeded BF 4, the area was generally abandoned, and the survey was resumed in an area with more favorable environmental sighting conditions.

High sea states have a negative effect on cetacean counts (DeMaster et al. 2001; Gosselin et al. 2007). DeMaster et al. (2001) found the probability of sightings beluga whales in BF sea state 1 is significantly greater than that for sighting beluga whales in BF sea state 2, 3, and 4. Gosselin et al. (2007) stated that abundance estimation tends to be lower as BF increases. The lower estimates are driven by a reduction in encounter rate associated with increasing average daily BF condition. Another effect that might intuitively be expected with increasing BF is a reduction in effective strip half width as whales may not be visible as far away from the plane in bad sea conditions. During DFO surveys in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet in 2016, five surveys were terminated due to high sea states of BF 4–5 (DFO 2017). Surveys flown in areas of high sea states have a high probability of negatively biasing the number of animals present and should be excluded from the analysis if a statistically significant difference is found between two abundance estimates.



Figure 26: Beaufort Sea State during Leg 2 of the 2022 MMASP. Survey grid denoted with 'E' for Eclipse Sound and 'A' for Admiralty Inlet.

Glare Cover and Intensity

Two measurements of glare were used as sighting conditions. Glare cover was assessed as the percent (0–100%) of the viewing area affected by sun reflection and glare intensity (four levels: "none" when there was no reflection, "low" when animals were likely detected in center of reflection angle, "moderate" when animals were likely missed in the center of reflection angle, and "intense" when animals were certainly missed in the center of reflection angle. All surveys were flown during partial cloudy conditions with glare recorded as "none" for 71% to 81% of the survey effort in each survey (Figure 27). When glare was present intensity was denoted as intense for 4% to 15% of the survey effort in each survey (Figure 28).



Figure 27: Glare cover during Leg 2 of the 2022 MMASP. Survey grid denoted with 'E' for Eclipse Sound and 'A' for Admiralty Inlet.



Figure 28: Glare intensity during Leg 2 of the 2022 MMASP. Survey grid denoted with 'E' for Eclipse Sound and 'A' for Admiralty Inlet.

3.5.3 Visual Survey Sightings

Eclipse Sound Grid: Six different species of marine mammals were observed during the four Leg 2 visual surveys of the 2022 MMASP in the Eclipse Sound grid: narwhal, beluga whale, ringed seal, harp seal, bearded seal, and polar bear. Unidentified whales and seals were also recorded during the visual surveys. Visual sightings that were duplicates (i.e., sighted by both the primary and secondary observer) were only counted once and visual sightings observed in photographic areas are not included in this section. Table 10 summarizes the number of marine mammal sightings and animals recorded for each species in each of the four Leg 2 surveys. A total of 417 sightings and 679 animals were recorded during Leg 2 visual surveys in the Eclipse Sound grid.

The most commonly sighted species was ringed seal (208 sightings totalling 226 animals), followed by narwhal (84 sightings totalling 138 animals), harp seal (24 sightings totalling 203 animals), polar bear (six sightings of single animals), bearded seal (six sightings of single animals), and beluga whale (three sightings of single animal). There were also 85 unidentified seal sightings totalling 96 animals and one sighting of a single unidentified whale

	Survey 1		Surv	Survey 2		Survey 3		Survey 4	
Species	No. Sightings	No. Animals	No. Sightings	No. Animals	No. Sightings	No. Animals	No. Sightings	No. Animals	
Narwhal	6	11	1	3	1	1	76	123	
Beluga	0	0	0	0	2	2	1	1	
Unidentified Whale	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	
Ringed Seal	10	12	35	37	98	106	65	71	
Harp Seal	5	26	4	64	6	62	9	51	

Table							متعدياه املعيه	
i apie 1	iu: Marine	mammai	siantinas	(inciuaina	on-enori	ose Souna a	aria aurine	a Lea z
			• <u>9</u>	(•••	 	g	5 - 5 5 -

	Survey 1		Survey 2		Survey 3		Survey 4	
Species	No. Sightings	No. Animals	No. Sightings	No. Animals	No. Sightings	No. Animals	No. Sightings	No. Animals
Bearded Seal	0	0	0	0	3	3	3	3
Unidentified Seal	16	18	6	8	43	49	20	21
Polar Bear	0	0	1	1	1	1	4	4
Total	34	67	47	113	154	224	179	275

Admiralty Inlet Grid: Seven different species of marine mammals were observed during the two Leg 2 visual surveys of the 2022 MMASP in the Admiralty Inlet grid: narwhal, bowhead whale, beluga whale, ringed seal, harp seal, walrus, and polar bear. Unidentified whales and seals were also recorded during the surveys. Visual sightings that were duplicates (i.e., sighted by both the primary and secondary observer) were only counted once and visual sightings observed in photographic areas are not included in this section. Table 11 summarizes the number of marine mammal sightings and animals recorded for each species during each of the Leg 2 surveys. A total of 1,264 sightings and 2,560 animals were recorded during Leg 2 visual surveys in the Admiralty Inlet grid.

The most commonly identified species was narwhal (945 sightings totalling 1,809 animals), followed by ringed seal (125 sightings totalling 145 animals), harp seal (107 sightings totalling 458 animals), beluga whale (10 sightings totalling 53 animals), bowhead whale (seven sightings totalling 11 animals), polar bear (five sightings totalling seven animals), and walrus (one sighting of a single animal). There were also 62 sightings of unidentified seal totalling 74 animals and one sighting of a pair of unidentified whales.

	Surv	/ey 2	Surv	urvey 3	
Species	No. Sightings	No. Animals	No. Sightings	No. Animals	
Narwhal	568	1,063	377	746	
Bowhead Whale	5	7	2	4	
Beluga	9	52	1	1	
Unidentified Whale	2	2	0	0	
Ringed Seal	90	106	35	39	
Harp Seal	70	255	37	203	
Walrus	0	0	1	1	
Unidentified Seal	36	46	26	28	
Polar Bear	4	5	1	2	
Total	784	1,536	480	1,024	

Table 11: Marine mammal sightings (including off-effort) in Admiralty Inlet grid during Leg 2

Narwhal

Eclipse Sound Grid: During the open-water season (Leg 2) narwhal were primarily sighted in Milne Inlet South, Milne Inlet North, and Tremblay Sound strata as evident in the photographic coverage of the areas (see Appendix B, Figures B-9, B-11, B-12 and B-14). Relatively few narwhal were recorded in Eclipse Sound, Navy Board Inlet or the Fjords during the four Leg 2 surveys conducted in August.

A total of 84 sightings and 138 individual narwhal were recorded during the Leg 2 visual survey of the Eclipse Sound grid (Table 10). Narwhal group sizes ranged from single animals to a group size of six, with mean and median group sizes of 1.6 and 1.0, respectively. Ten mother/calf pairs and two lone calves were recorded during the surveys. One mother/calf pair was observed during Survey 2 (16 August) in Milne Inlet North stratum. The remaining mother/calf pair were observed during Survey 4 (21 August), in Milne Inlet North, Eclipse Sound West and White Bay Fjord strata.

Admiralty Inlet Grid: During Survey 2, narwhal were observed dispersed through the central portion of the Admiralty Inlet North and concentrated along the western shore of Admiralty Inlet South (see Appendix B; Figure B-10). During Survey 4, narwhal were observed dispersed through the central portion of the Admiralty Inlet North and concentrated along the western shore (see Appendix B, Figure B-13).

A total of 945 sightings and 1,809 individual narwhal were recorded during the two Leg 2 visual surveys of the Admiralty Inlet grid (Table 11). Narwhal group sizes ranged from single animals to a group size of 20, with mean and median group sizes of 2.0 and 1.0, respectively. One hundred and thirteen mother/calf pairs and 50 lone calves were recorded during the surveys.

Bowhead Whale

Eclipse Sound Grid: No bowhead whale was observed in Eclipse Sound during Leg 2 visual surveys.

Admiralty Inlet Grid: Bowhead whale were observed in Admiralty Inlet during Leg 2 surveys flown in August. Bowhead whale sightings were located primarily in the same areas that narwhal were sighted (see Appendix B, Figures B-10 and B-13). A total of seven sightings totalling 11 bowhead whales were recorded during the Leg 2 visual surveys of the Admiralty Inlet grid (Table 11). Bowhead group sizes ranged from single animals to pairs, with mean and median group sizes of 1.6 and 2.0, respectively. Two mother/calf pairs were observed on the 14 August.

Beluga Whale

Eclipse Sound Grid: There were three sightings of a single beluga observed in Eclipse Sound during Leg 2 visual surveys. Two sightings were observed on 17 August (Survey 3); one in the Milne Inlet North stratum and the other in the Navy Board Inlet stratum. The third sighting was observed on 21 August (Survey 4) in the Pond Inlet stratum (see Appendix B, Figures B-12 and B-14).

Admiralty Inlet Grid: Beluga were observed in Admiralty Inlet during Leg 2 surveys flown in August. During Survey 2 (14 August), nine beluga sightings of varying group sizes were observed in Admiralty Inlet South (see Appendix B; Figure B-10). During Survey 4 (18 August), one beluga whale was observed in Baillarge Bay (see Appendix B, Figure B-13).

A total of ten sightings and 53 individual beluga were recorded during the Leg 2 visual surveys of the Admiralty Inlet grid (Table 11). Beluga group sizes ranged from single animals to a group size of 16, with mean and median group sizes of 5.3 and 3.0, respectively.

Unidentified Whale

Eclipse Sound Grid: A single unidentified whale was observed in Eclipse Sound East stratum on 16 August (Survey 4) (Table 10; see Appendix B, Figure B-14).

Admiralty Inlet Grid: There were two sightings of a single unidentified whale observed on 14 August (Survey 2) in the Admiralty North stratum during the Leg 2 visual surveys (Table 11; see Appendix B, Figure B-10).

Ringed Seal

Eclipse Sound Grid: Ringed seals were observed during all Leg 2 visual surveys throughout the Eclipse Sound grid (see Appendix B, Figures B-9, B-11, B-12 and B-14). There was a total of 208 sightings totalling 226 individual ringed seals recorded during Leg 2 visual surveys (Table 10). Ringed seal sightings were primarily of single animals (195 of 208 sightings). The remaining ringed seal sightings observed consisted of eleven sightings of pairs, one sighting of four animals, and one sighting of five animals.

Admiralty Inlet Grid: Ringed seals were observed during both surveys flown during Leg 2 visual surveys of the Admiralty Inlet grid (see Appendix B, Figures B-10 and B-13). There was a total of 125 sightings totalling 145 individual ringed seals recorded during Leg 2 visual surveys (Table 11). Ringed seal sightings were primarily of single animals (108 of 125 sightings). The remaining ringed seal sightings observed consisted of fourteen sightings of pairs and three sightings of three animals.

Harp Seal

Eclipse Sound Grid: Harp seal were observed on all Leg 2 visual surveys. They were observed primarily at the top of Navy Board Inlet and in the Pond Inlet stratum (see Appendix B, Figures B-9, B-11, B-12 and B-14). A total of 24 sightings and 203 individual harp seals were recorded during Leg 2 visual surveys (Table 10). Harp seal were observed with group sizes that ranged from one to 50 animals with mean and median group sizes of 8.5 and 2.0, respectively.

Admiralty Inlet Grid: Harp seal were observed on both Leg 2 visual surveys in Admiralty Inlet grid (see Appendix B, Figures B-10 and B-13). A total of 107 sightings and 458 individual harp seals were recorded during Leg 2 visual surveys (Table 11). Harp seals were observed throughout the survey area with group sizes ranging from one to 50 animals with mean and median group sizes of 4.3 and 2.0, respectively.

Walrus

Eclipse Sound Grid: No walrus was observed in Eclipse Sound during Leg 2 visual surveys

Admiralty Inlet Grid: One walrus sighting of a single animal was observed in Admiralty Inlet during Leg 2 visual surveys. It was sighted on 18 August (Survey 3) in the northern portion of Admiralty Inlet close to the western shore (see Appendix B, Figure B-13).

Unidentified Seal

Eclipse Sound Grid: Unidentified seals were observed throughout the survey area during Leg 2 visual surveys (see Appendix B, Figures B-9, B-11, B-12 and B-14). A total of 85 sightings and 96 seals were recorded with mean and median group sizes of 1.1 and 1.0, respectively (Table 10).

Admiralty Inlet Grid: Unidentified seals were observed throughout the survey area during Leg 2 visual surveys in the Admiralty Inlet grid (Appendix B, Figures B-10 and B-13). A total of 62 sightings and 74 seals were recorded with mean and median group sizes of 1.2 and 1.0, respectively (Table 11).

Polar Bear

Eclipse Sound Grid: Six polar bear sightings of single animals were made during Leg 2 visual surveys in the Eclipse Sound grid (Table 10). All sightings occurred in Navy Board Inlet stratum, with one sighting seen during Surveys 2 and 3 and the remaining four sightings during Survey 4 (see Appendix B, Figures B-11, B-12 and B-14). Three of the sightings were identified as adults and one sighting was identified as a juvenile.

Admiralty Inlet Grid: Five polar bear sightings totalling seven individuals were made during Leg 2 visual surveys in the Admiralty Inlet grid (Table 11). Three of the sightings were of single animals identified as adults and located in Admiralty Inlet North stratum on 14 August (Appendix B, Figure B-10). The two remaining sightings were of mothers with a cub on the 14 August in Admiralty Inlet South (Appendix B, Figure B-10) and on the 18 August in Elwin Inlet (Appendix B, Figure B-13).

3.5.4 Photographic Survey Sightings

Photographic analyses were only completed for surveys with complete survey (transect) coverage and adequate sighting conditions in the photo area. For the Eclipse Sound survey grid, this included Surveys 2, 3 and 4. Survey 1 was incomplete due to poor visibility conditions at Mary River causing the survey to be terminated early for safety reasons. Surveys 2, 3 and 4 were completed in one day with good sighting conditions. Survey 2 was eventually excluded from the abundance estimate due to poor sighting conditions during large portions of the visual survey. For the Admiralty Inlet survey grid, analysis of the aerial photographic data for Leg 2 included Surveys 2 and 3. Both surveys were completed in one day with good sighting conditions. No other surveys were attempted in Admiralty Inlet. All photographic surveys were flown at 610 m (2,000 ft), except the one photographic survey flown in Tremblay Sound during Survey 4 which was flown at 457 m (1,500 ft) due to low ceilings.

Eclipse Sound Grid: During the open-water season (Leg 2), narwhal were primarily sighted in Milne Inlet South, Milne Inlet North, and Tremblay Sound strata as evident in the photographic coverage of the areas (Figure 29A–B, Figure 30A–B, and Figure 31A–B). A total of 2,591 sightings and 4,300 narwhal were recorded for photographic surveys in Eclipse Sound grid (Table 12). Narwhal group sizes ranged from single animals to a group size of 13, with mean and median group sizes of 1.7 and 1.0, respectively. Four bowhead whale sightings of single animals were recorded during the Leg 2 photographic surveys (Table 12). One sighting of three beluga whales was recorded during Survey 3 in the Milne Inlet North stratum (Table 12; Figure 28B).

Admiralty Inlet Grid: In Admiralty Inlet, two of the three photographic surveys were conducted in the northern stratum and one was conducted in the southern stratum (Figure 29A–B and Figure 30A–B). A total of 7,139 sightings and 11,636 narwhal were recorded for the photographic surveys in the Admiralty Inlet grid (Table 12). Narwhal group sizes ranged from single animals to a group size of 11, with mean and median group sizes of 1.6 and 1.0, respectively. One bowhead whale sighting of a single animal was recorded during Survey 2 in the Admiralty Inlet South stratum (Table 12; Figure 27B). A total of four sightings and 22 beluga whales were recorded during the photographic surveys in the Admiralty Inlet grid (Table 12). Beluga group sizes ranged from a pair of animals to a group size of 10, with mean and median group sizes of 5.5 and 5.0, respectively.

			Narwhal		Bowhead ^b		Beluga ^b	
Grid	Survey #	Stratum	No. Sightings	No. Animals	No. Sightings	No. Animals	No. Sightings	No. Animals
Eclipse	2	MIS	104	119	0	0	0	0
Eclipse	2	TS	229	405	2	2	0	0
Eclipse	3	MIN	735	1,385	0	0	1	3
Eclipse	3	MIS	284	451	1	1	0	0
Eclipse	3	TS	572	945	1	1	0	0
Eclipse	4	MIS	662	986	0	0	0	0
Eclipse	4	TS	5	9	0	0	0	0
Admiralty	2	AIS	1,690	3,127	1	1	4	22
Admiralty	3	AIN1	1,294	1,806	0	0	0	0
Admiralty	3	AIN2	4,155	6,703	0	0	0	0

Table 12: Photographic survey sightings in the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet grids during Leg 2

^a MIN=Milne Inlet North, MIS=Milne Inlet South, TS=Tremblay Sound, AIN=Admiralty Inlet North, AIS=Admiralty Inlet South ^b Not including re-sightings



LEGEND					
COMM	UNITY		AERIAL SUR	VEY TRACK	
🖁 ★ MILNE	PORT	—	MILNE INLE	T TOTE ROAD	
🖁 ★ MINE :	SITE	17.1	NUNAVUT S	ETTLEMENT AREA	
PHOTOGRAPH	C SURVEY MARINE		BOUNDARY		
	IES OBSERVATIONS		WATERBOD	Y	
BELUC	3A				
BOWH	EAD WHALE				
NARW	HAL				
MARINE MAMM OBSERVATION	AL SPECIES S (GROUP SIZE)				
BELUGA	()				
▼ 1					
2-10					
10+					
BOWHEAD WH	ALE				
▼ 1					
2-10					
\sim					
_ 2-10					
s 10+					
NARWHAL					
▼ 1					
2-10					
10+					
POLAR BEAR					
1					
2-10					
RINGED SEAL					
<u> </u>					
2-10					
UNIDENTIFIED	SEAL				
● 1 ~					
2-10					
UNIDENTIFIED	WHALE				
▼ 1					
0	0	25		50	
80008					
	1:1,200,000		KILOME	TRES	
REFERENCE(S)					
MILNE PORT IN PIESOLD LTD. F	FRASTRUCTURE DATA E	BY HATCH, J EMENT SITE	ANUARY 25, 2 MAY 19, 2017	017, RETRIEVED FF . HYDROGRAPHY, F	ROM KNIGHT POPULATED
PLACE, AND PR NATURAL RESO	OVINCIAL BOUNDARY D	DATA OBTAIN	ED FROM GE RVED.	OGRATIS, © DEPAR	TMENT OF
PROJECTION: U	JTM ZONE 17 DATUM: N	NAD 83			
CLIENT					
DAFFINLA	ND IKON WIINES	CORFO	RATION		
PROJECT					
MARY RIV	ER PROJECT				
2022 MAR	NE MAMMAL AE	RIAL SU	RVEYS		
			ALS REC		
	RAITY INI FT GI	RIDS	31 20221	IN ECLIPSE 3	
				2023-03-22	
				~	
		RE		11 D^	
	CONTROL	API	KUVED	PA	FIGURE
PRUJECTNO.	CONTROL 50000-06		R	EV.	

25mm IF THIS MEASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE HAS BEEN

Ē



25 FILM IF THIS MEASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOW N, THE SHEET SIZE HAS BEEN MODIFIED



AND		TV				
		ТҮ 		AERIAL SUR		
	MILNE PO	RT	—	MILNE INLET	TOTE ROAD	
	° ★ 🛛 MINE SITE	1	124	NUNAVUT SI	ETTLEMENT AREA	
1	PHOTOGRAPHIC S				1	
	MAMMAL SPECIES	OBSERVATIONS		WATERBOD	r	
	BELUGA					
	BOWHEAD	O WHALE				
Dans.	NARWHAL	-				
	MARINE MAMMAL	SPECIES				
	OBSERVATIONS (G	ROUP SIZE)				
	BEARDED SEAL					
IT C	• 1					
~~6	BELUGA					
0						
EC	× I					
	BOWHEAD WHALE					
\mathbf{N}	2-10					
<u> </u>	HARP SEAL					
	0 1					
	\sim					
	2-10					
	\bigcirc					
	10+					
	1 V 1					
	2-10					
	10+					
	POLAR BEAR					
	1					
	2-10					
	RINGED SEAL					
	. 1					
	2-10					
~ **	WALRUS					
	1					
	UNIDENTIFIED SEA	L				
	0 1					
	2-10					
	0					
	0000	0	25		50	
5	8					
		1:1,200,000		KILOME	TRES	
	REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRA	STRUCTURE DATA	BY HATCH. J	ANUARY 25. 2	017. RETRIEVED FF	OM KNIGHT
	PIESOLD LTD. FUL	CRUM DATA MANAGE	EMENT SITE	MAY 19, 2017	HYDROGRAPHY, P	OPULATED
	NATURAL RESOUR	INCIAL BOUNDARY L CES CANADA. ALL R	IGHTS RESE	ED FROM GE RVED.	OGRAIIS, © DEPAR	IMENI OF
	PROJECTION: UTM	ZONE 17 DATUM: N	NAD 83			
	CLIENT					
	BAFFINLAND	IRON MINES	CORPO	RATION		
r >						
1						
×			INIAL SU	INVE13		
3 . - 1		VEV 3 ON 17-1		ST 2022 I		
1			RIDS			COND
. Sec. 20					2002 02 02	
	SUNGULIANT		YYY	r-MM-DD	2023-03-22	
1			DES	SIGNED	TT	
2			PRE	PARED	AA	
-	_		RE	/IEWED	TT	
			APP	ROVED	PA	
1945	PROJECT NO	CONTROL	/ 11 1	RI	EV.	FIGURE
where the	166372401	59000-06		0		30A
				0		

25mm IF THIS MEASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE HAS BEEN MODIF



25mm IF THIS MEASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE HAS BEEN M



LAND	LEGENL	,					
	•	COMMUNITY			AERIAL SURV	EY TRACK	
	*	MILNE PORT		—	MILNE INLET 1	TOTE ROAD	
	*	MINE SITE		\sim	40 km BUFFEF	R ZONE	
1	РНОТОС		YEY MARINE		NUNAVUT SET	TLEMENT AREA	
	МАММА	L SPECIES OB	SERVATIONS	141	BOUNDARY		
		NARWHAL			WATERBODY		
	MARINE		CIES				
	OBSER	ATIONS (GRO	UP SIZE)				
E	BEARD	ED SEAL					
	•	1					
	BELUG	4					
UIT		1					
-36							
0 1	HARPS	EAL					
EC	0	1					
	\bigcirc	2-10					
	$\tilde{\sim}$						
		10+					
	\bigcirc						
	NARWH	AL					
	\bigtriangledown	1					
	∇	2-10					
		210					
	POLAR	BEAR					
		1					
	RINGED	SEAL					
	•	1					
	8 🔴	2-10					
	81000	2.10					
	UNIDEN	TIFIED SEAL					
	•	1					
	\bigcirc	2-10					
$\overline{\mathbf{X}}$	UNIDEN	TIFIED WHALE	:				
\longleftrightarrow	V	1					
$\times\!\!\times$							
\times							
		0		25		50	
		1:90	0,000		KIL	OMETRES	
_	REFERE	NCE(S)	-				
	MILNE P PIESOLI	ORT INFRASTI D LTD. FULCRU	RUCTURE DATA BY	HATCH, J/ ENT SITE	NUARY 25, 20' MAY 19. 2017. H	17, RETRIEVED FR 1YDROGRAPHY. PO	OM KNIGHT OPULATED
	PLACE,	AND PROVINC	AL BOUNDARY DAT	A OBTAIN	ED FROM GEO	GRATIS, © DEPART	MENT OF
	PROJEC	TION: UTM ZO	NE 17 DATUM: NAI	D 83	KVED.		
	CLIENT						
	BAFF	INLAND IF	ON MINES C	ORPO	RATION		
	PROJEC						
		' RIVER P	ROJECI				
				IAL SUI	KVEYS		
1	⁸ 2022	MARINE M	IAMMALAER				
*				MAMM			NG
	DISTF	MARINE M RIBUTION 2 - SURVE	OF MARINE I Y 4 ON 21 AU	MAMM	ALS RECO 2022 IN EO	ORDED DURI CLIPSE SOU	NG ND
	DISTELEG 2 GRID	MARINE M RIBUTION 2 - SURVE	OF MARINE Y 4 ON 21 AU	MAMM	ALS RECO 2022 IN EO	ORDED DURI	NG ND
	DISTELES 2 GRID	MARINE M RIBUTION 2 - SURVE	OF MARINE I Y 4 ON 21 AU		ALS RECC 2022 IN EC Y-MM-DD	DRDED DURI CLIPSE SOU	NG ND
	DISTE LEG 2 GRID	MARINE M RIBUTION 2 - SURVE	OF MARINE I Y 4 ON 21 AU		ALS RECC 2022 IN EC Y-MM-DD	2023-03-22 TT	NG ND
	DISTELES 2 GRID	MARINE M RIBUTION 2 - SURVE	OF MARINE I Y 4 ON 21 AU	MAMM GUST PRE	ALS RECC 2022 IN EC Y-MM-DD IGNED PARED	DRDED DURI CLIPSE SOU 2023-03-22 TT AA	NG ND
	DISTELES 2 GRID	MARINE M RIBUTION 2 - SURVE	OF MARINE I Y 4 ON 21 AU	MAMM GUST	ALS RECC 2022 IN EC Y-MM-DD IGNED PARED IEWED	DRDED DURI CLIPSE SOUL 2023-03-22 TT AA TT	NG ND
	2022 TITLE DISTELEG 2 GRID CONSUL	MARINE M RIBUTION 2 - SURVE	OF MARINE I Y 4 ON 21 AU	MAMM GUST PRE REV	ALS RECC 2022 IN EC Y-MM-DD IGNED PARED IEWED	DRDED DURI CLIPSE SOUL 2023-03-22 TT AA TT Pa	NG ND
	2022 TITLE DISTR LEG 2 GRID CONSUL			MAMM GUST PRE REV APP	ALS RECC 2022 IN EC Y-MM-DD IGNED PARED IEWED ROVED	DRDED DURI CLIPSE SOUL 2023-03-22 TT AA TT PA	
	2022 TITLE DISTR LEG 2 GRID CONSUL			MAMM IGUST PRE REV APP	ALS RECC 2022 IN EC Y-MM-DD IGNED PARED IEWED ROVED	DRDED DURI CLIPSE SOUL 2023-03-22 TT AA TT PA /.	NG ND FIGURE

26mm IF THIS MEASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE HAS BEEN MODIFIE





25mm IF THIS MEASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE HAS BEEN MODIFIED FR

3.5.5 Narwhal Abundance Estimates

Narwhal abundance estimates were calculated for Surveys 2, 3, and 4 in the Eclipse Sound survey grid. Survey 1 was incomplete due to deteriorating conditions at Mary River causing the survey to be terminated early for safety reasons. Survey 2 was completed in one day although sighting conditions during visual surveys in two strata (Navy Board Inlet and Eclipse Sound West) were poor, possibly resulting in missed narwhal sightings. Surveys 3 and 4 were completed in one day with good sighting conditions throughout the visual and photographic surveys.

For the Admiralty Inlet survey grid, narwhal abundance estimates were calculated for Surveys 2 and 3. Survey 2 was completed in one day with good sighting conditions. Survey 3 was completed in one day although sighting conditions during visual surveys in the Admiralty Inlet South stratum were poor. No other surveys were attempted in Admiralty Inlet.

3.5.5.1 Visual Survey Data Characteristics

Sightings data from both the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet survey grids supplemented one another to provide for a more robust model of probability detection function. The same marine mammal observers flew both the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet grids and were incorporated into the model as a covariate. Re-sightings were not used for the estimation of any variables.

One detection function was created for narwhal for the combined Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet grids. Sightings data was pooled between dates to increase sample size in order to meet the assumptions of the detection probability model, but only if the spatial distribution of species detections (sightings) were similar between those days (i.e., the ability to detect animals at a distance did not change under the available sighting conditions, including altitude). Combining survey data for days with apparent variability in detectability can skew findings and result in either an over- or under-estimation of true animal density for a specific date. Location (i.e., Eclipse Sound vs Admiralty Inlet) was included as a covariate in the detection function model but it did not lower Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC) values and consequently, location specific models were not created.

The number of narwhal sightings during fjord transects was too small (n=9) to appropriately perform abundance estimations using the Density Surface Modelling technique (Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015b). Individual fjord surveys were instead treated as separate transects within a fjord-based stratum and analyzed the same as transects within the other regional strata.

Analysis of sightings data was performed using the MRDS analysis package (Laake et al. 2018) within R version 4.1.2 (R Core Team 2021). The shape of the histogram suggested that some animals were missed close to the track line despite the bubble windows. There was a risk that hazard-rate and half-normal distributions would overestimate the probability of detection and the resulting effective strip width. The gamma key function does not assume a 100% detection on the track line (g(0)=1). A horizontal offset value can be applied to the gamma detection function data since that key function assumes zero detections at zero distance. However, offsetting the data for the gamma key function does bias the results, with larger offsets creating a greater bias. Environmental and observer covariates were included for fitting the detection function and mark-recapture models. Models were selected using the minimum AIC. Although four gamma key function models had AIC scores lower than that of the best half-normal model (see Appendix C), there were issues with model convergence issues for mark-recapture models when they included distance as a covariate. This convergence issue, combined with concerns regarding how mark-recapture models were combined by the R-package with gamma key function models, led to the

selection of the half-normal model with AIC = 12730.029 (see Appendix C). The top half-normal and gamma key function models both included the same covariates and had similar detection probabilities (47.0 vs. 46.3% probability, respectively). The potential issues with the MRDS R-package have been raised with its development team but no answers were available at the time of reporting.

The combined narwhal sightings (n=992) for the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet survey grids from the openwater season survey (Leg 2) were used for estimating the detection function and mark-recapture detection probabilities for narwhal in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet (Figure 32). This was because the same observers were used for both the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet grids and location (i.e., Eclipse Sound or Admiralty Inlet) did not affect the model. Examination of the histogram of the perpendicular distances of unique sightings suggested right-truncating the data at 900 m (i.e., discarding sightings beyond 900 m).

Model selection was performed on the three key functions and all the combinations of environmental covariates. A half normal key function model, including 2nd order Cosine adjustment term with covariates GlareCover : GlareIntensity + ObserverTeam had the lowest AIC for detection function models: (g(x)=0.47 and CV=0.05%; see Appendix C).

Selection among mark-recapture models was performed on all combinations of environmental covariates. The lowest AIC was a model with covariates for observer + ObserverTeam : observer + ObserverTeam : distance + ObserverTeam (see Appendix C). It resulted in a p(0) of 0.78 for observers 1 (Figure 33) and 0.29 for observers 2 (Figure 34), and a combined p(0) of 0.83 and (CV=0.06). The combined models resulted in a detection probability of 0.39 (CV=0.08).



Pooled detections

Figure 32: Perpendicular distances of narwhal sightings in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet survey grids.



Figure 33: Distribution of narwhal sighting distances for Observer 1 and both observers combined (Observers 1 and 2) in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet survey grids. Distance is measured in meters.



Figure 34: Distribution of narwhal sighting distances for Observer 2 and both observers combined (Observers 1 and 2) in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet survey grids. Distance is measured in meters.

The availability bias component of g(x), where an animal is diving and is thus out of visual range of the observers, requires species, and area-specific dive profile data to estimate proportion of time spent underwater (e.g., Barlow et al. 1988). A correction factor (2.94, CV=0.03 for mid-August) was applied to the data to account for potential availability bias for this species, adjusted for the specific observation platform. This correction factor is based on previously reported narwhal dive and aerial survey results (Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a; Watt et al. 2015).

3.5.5.2 Photographic Survey Data Characteristics

For the assessment of reliability and repeatability of the photographic data, a simple linear regression of the comparison of two experienced photo readers was run. Repeat counts of 933 photos were highly correlated (simple linear regression; $R^2 = 0.926$, $F_{1,931} = 11.667 \times 10^3$, p < 0.0001). Counts for the first and repeat reads varied between zero and nine (Table 13). The original counts were kept for the abundance analysis. The same photo analyst has been used since 2019 to analyse the photographs, which further reduces bias with photographic surveys.

Difference in count between readers	Count	Higher original count	Higher secondary count
Same	388		
One	237	138	99
Тwo	112	64	48
Three	87	47	40
Four	47	34	13
Five	32	24	8
Six	15	8	7
Seven	8	5	3
Eight	5	3	2
Nine	2	2	0

Table 13: Cou	Int difference	between	first and	repeat reads	of the photographs
---------------	----------------	---------	-----------	--------------	--------------------

With ideal sightings conditions for photographic data, one would expect a slight decrease in animal detectability with increasing distance from the track line. The data showed a slight decrease in sightings with increased distance from the track line (Figure 35). Possible factors affecting the detectability bias include camera angle, aircraft crab angle (cross wind), imprecise aircraft altitudes, obscurity of subsurface animals, photo observer bias, and animal behaviour. A detection function was created for narwhal in the photographic surveys. Surveys were selected for the analysis that had no land or glare which would skew the results.

A detection model fitted to the photographic data for one survey flown at 610 m (2,000 ft) resulted in a probability of detection of 0.8586 (C_d = detectability bias correction factor of 1.17, n=2,508), CV=0.02 (Figure 35). A hazard rate key function with no adjustments and a right truncation of 810 m had the lowest AIC of 33450.82 for the detection function model.



Figure 35: Detection Function for Photographic Survey Data at 610 m (2,000 ft).

3.5.5.3 2022 Narwhal Abundance

3.5.5.3.1 Eclipse Sound Stock

Overall, there were 76 narwhal visual sightings during Surveys 2, 3, and 4 (Table 14). All sightings had perpendicular distances recorded during flight.

During Survey 2 (16 August), a total of 1,140.6 km of transects were visually surveyed (Table 14). The total count of narwhal sightings observed on-effort in the visual survey area was one sighting before and after truncation (Table 14). Variation of the abundance estimate was a combination of the variation of detection function, encounter rate, cluster size, and availability bias. Although variation of the abundance estimate was a combination of the variation in abundance estimates came primarily from the encounter rate component (Table 14). The total narwhal abundance for Survey 2 combined visual surveys was estimated at 54 narwhal (CV=0.88) (Table 14).

The total length of transect lines visually surveyed during Survey 3 (17 August) was 1,190.7 km (Table 14). The total count of narwhal sightings observed on-effort in the visual survey area was one sighting before and after truncation (Table 14). For this survey, the overall variation in abundance estimates came primarily from the encounter rate component. The total narwhal abundance for Survey 3 visual surveys was estimated at 18 narwhal (CV=1.11) (Table 14).

During Survey 4 (21 August), a total of 1,124.7 km of transects were visually surveyed (Table 14). The total count of narwhal sightings observed on-effort in the visual survey area was 74 sightings before and after truncation (Table 14). For this survey, the overall variation in abundance estimates came primarily from the encounter rate component (Table 14). The total narwhal abundance for Survey 4 visual surveys was estimated at 2,092 narwhal (CV=0.46) (Table 14).

Survey #	Stratumª	Area (km²)	Effort (km)	No. Sight. Before Trunc.	No. Sight. After Trunc.	Corrected Abundance	cv	% CV contributed by Encounter Rate	% CV contributed by Cluster Size
2	PI	1,381.3	61.7	0	0	-	-	-	-
2	ESE	2,066.5	254.4	0	0	-	-	-	-
2	ESW	841.0	179.0	0	0	-	-	-	-
2	MIN	681.3	158.8	1	1	54	0.88	99.1	0
2	NBI	2,007.8	163.5	0	0	-	-	-	-
2	Fjords	957.5	323.2	0	0	-	-	-	-
2	Total	7,935.5	1,140.6	1	1	54	0.88		
3	PI	1,381.3	154.0	0	0	-	-	-	-
3	ESE	2,066.5	230.7	0	0	-	-	-	-
3	ESW	841.0	180.9	0	0	-	-	-	-
3	MIN	626.6	144.2	1	1	18	1.11	99.4	0
3	NBI	2,007.8	204.2	0	0	-	-	-	-
3	Fjords	957.5	276.7	0	0	-	-	-	-
3	Total	7,880.7	1,190.8	1	1	18	1.11		
4	PI	1,381.3	152.1	0	0	-	-	-	-
4	ESE	2,066.5	227.2	0	0	-	-	-	-
4	ESW	841.0	182.6	1	1	116	0.88	99.1	0
4	MIN	681.3	160.0	72	72	1,944	0.50	94.5	2.6
4	NBI	2,007.8	149.0	0	0	-	-	-	-
4	Fjords	957.5	253.8	1	1	32	0.89	99.1	0
4	Total	7,935.5	1,124.6	74	74	2,092	0.46		

Table 14: Narwhal abundance estimates from visual surveys in Eclipse Sound grid during Leg 2

^a PI=Pond Inlet, ESE= Eclipse Sound East, ESW=Eclipse Sound West, MIN=Milne Inlet North, NBI=Navy Board Inlet.

During Survey 2 (16 August), two photographic surveys were undertaken, one in Milne Inlet South (MIS) stratum and one in the Tremblay Sound (TS) stratum (see Figure 29B). A total of 2,273 photographs were taken to capture the narwhal aggregations in the two areas. The total area photographed was 406.08 km² (251.45 km² in MIS and 154.63 km² in TS; Table 15). The total count of narwhal in the photographed areas was 524 narwhal (119 in MIS and 405 in TS; see Table 12). The sum of the area of the individual photographs totaled 531.9 km² in

MIS and 321.1 km² in TS, resulting in an average density of 0.224 narwhal/km² in MIS and 1.261 narwhal/km² in TS. Multiplying the average density by the total area photographed resulted in a surface estimate of 56 narwhal in MIS and 195 narwhal in TS. The surface estimate was then corrected for availability bias using C α =3.18 (correction from Watt et al. 2015) and detectability bias of 1.17, resulting in a total narwhal estimate for the photographed areas of 209 narwhal (CV=0.04) in MIS and 727 narwhal (CV=0.04) in TS (Table 15).

During Survey 3 (17 August), three photographic surveys were undertaken in the Eclipse Sound study area, one in the MIS stratum, one in the Milne Inlet North (MIN) stratum, and one in the TS stratum (see Figure 30B). A total of 2,546 photographs were taken to capture the narwhal aggregations in the three areas. The total area photographed was 465.86 km² (255.26 km² in MIS, 54.74 km² in MIN, and 155.86 km² in TS; Table 15). The total count of narwhal in the photographed areas was 2,781 narwhal (451 narwhal in MIS, 1,385 in MIN, and 945 narwhal in TS; see Table 12). The sum of the area of the individual photographs totaled 534.0 km² in MIS, 12.997 narwhal/km² in MIN, and 309.0 km² in TS, resulting in an average density of 0.845 narwhal/km² in MIS, 12.997 narwhal/km² in MIN, and 3.058 narwhal/km² in TS. Multiplying the average density by the total area photographed resulted in a surface estimate of 216 narwhal in MIS, 712 narwhal in MIN, and 477 narwhal in TS. The surface estimate was then corrected for availability bias using C α = 3.18 (correction from Watt et al. 2015) and detectability bias of 1.17, resulting in a total narwhal estimate for the photographed areas for Survey 3 of 806 narwhal (CV=0.04) in MIS, 2,656 narwhal (CV=0.04) in MIN, and 1,779 narwhal (CV=0.04) in TS (Table 15).

During Survey 4 (21 August), two photographic surveys were undertaken, one in the MIS stratum and one in the TS stratum (see Figure 31B). A total of 2,419 photographs were taken to capture the narwhal aggregations in the two areas. The total area photographed was 405.48 km² (255.48 km² in MIS and 150.00 km² in TS; Table 15). The total count of narwhal in the photographed areas was 995 narwhal (986 in MIS and nine in TS; see Table 12). The sum of the area of the individual photographs totaled 533.6 km² in MIS and 232.5 km² in TS, resulting in an average density of 1.848 narwhal/km² in MIS and 0.039 narwhal/km² in TS. Multiplying the average density by the total area photographed resulted in a surface estimate of 472 narwhal in MIS and six narwhal in TS. The surface estimate was then corrected for availability bias using Cα=3.16 (correction from Watt et al. 2015) and detectability bias of 1.17, resulting in a total narwhal estimate for the photographed areas for Survey 4 of 1,760 narwhal (CV=0.04) in MIS and 22 narwhal (CV=0.04) in TS (Table 15).

Survey #	Stratum ^a	# Photos	# Photos with Murky Water	# Photos with Glare	Photo Area (km²)	Surface Count	Corrected Abundance	cv
2	MIS	1,414	0	2	251.45	56	209	0.04
2	TS	859	0	163	154.63	195	727	0.04
3	MIN	262	0	0	54.74	712	2,656	0.04
3	MIS	1,458	0	30	255.26	216	806	0.04
3	TS	826	0	93	155.86	477	1,779	0.04
4	MIS	1,397	0	0	255.48	472	1,760	0.04
4	TS	1022	0	66	150.00	6	22	0.04

Table 15: Narwhal abundance estimates from	photographic survey in Ec	lipse Sound grid during Leg 2
--	---------------------------	-------------------------------

^a MIN=Milne Inlet North, MIS=Milne Inlet South, TS=Tremblay Sound.

For the Eclipse Sound stock, the narwhal abundance estimates calculated for the three survey replicates (Surveys 2, 3, and 4) ranged from 990 to 5,259 narwhal (Table 16). Survey 2 had high sea states in Navy Board Inlet (BF of 4–6 for 80% of effort) and western portions of Eclipse Sound (BF of 4–6 for 35% of effort). High sea states have a negative effect on cetacean counts (see Section 3.5.2). The abundance estimate for Survey 2 (990 narwhal, CV = 0.06, 95% CI of 885–1,107) was statistically different than the abundance estimate for Survey 3 (5,259 narwhal, CV = 0.02, 95% CI of 5,008–5,523) (t-test = 29.87, p < 0.0001) and statistically lower than the abundance estimate for Survey 4 (3,874 narwhal, CV = 0.25, 95% CI of 2,387–6,287) (t-test = 2.96, p = 0.030). Survey 2 was thus deemed an inaccurate representation of the Eclipse Sound narwhal abundance and was excluded from the averaged estimate of the Eclipse Sound stock.

The abundance estimate for Survey 3 (5,259 narwhal, CV = 0.02, 95% CI of 5,008–5,523) was not significantly different than the abundance estimate for Survey 4 (3,874 narwhal, CV = 0.25, 95% CI of 2,387–6,287) (t-test = 1.41, p = 0.25). Surveys 3 and 4 were averaged, resulting in an overall abundance estimate of 4,592 narwhal, CV = 0.10, 95% CI of 3,754–5,617 for the Eclipse Sound summer stock (Table 16).

Table 10	6: Narwhal	abundance	estimates f	rom combin	ed visual a	and photographic	c surveys in	Eclipse
Sound g	grid during	Leg 2						

Survey #	Survey Type	Estimate	CV	95% CI
2	Visual	54	0.88	12–240
2	Photographic	936	0.03	879–997
2	Combined	990	0.06	885–1,107
3	Visual	18	1.11	3–104
3	Photographic	5,241	0.02	4,993–5,501
3	Combined	5,259	0.02	5,008–5,523
4	Visual	2,092	0.46	881–4,967
4	Photographic	1,782	0.04	1,656–1,918
4	Combined	3,874	0.25	2,387–6,287
3 and 4	Combined Average	4,592	0.10	3,754–5,617

3.5.5.3.2 Admiralty Inlet Stock

Overall, there were 929 narwhal sightings while on-effort during Surveys 2 and 3 (Table 17). Initially, 26 of the sightings were missing perpendicular distances. After photo-verification of sightings with missing measurements, 15 perpendicular distances were recovered from the photographs, with the remaining 11 left as missing values.

During Survey 2 (14 August), a total of 1,147.0 km of transects were visually surveyed (Table 17). The total count of narwhal sightings observed on-effort in the visual survey area was 567 sightings before truncation and after truncation (Table 17). Variation of the abundance estimate was a combination of the variation of detection function, encounter rate, cluster size, and availability bias. For Survey 2 the variation in abundance estimates came primarily from the encounter rate and the cluster size components. The total narwhal abundance for Survey 2 visual surveys was estimated at 39,581 narwhal (CV=0.29) (Table 17).

The total length of transect lines visually surveyed during Survey 3 (18 August) was 1,134.6 km (Table 17). The total count of narwhal sightings observed on-effort in the visual survey area was 362 sightings before truncation and 359 after truncation (Table 17). The overall variation in abundance estimates came primarily from the encounter rate and cluster size components. The total narwhal abundance for Survey 3 visual surveys was estimated at 25,365 narwhal (CV=0.23) (Table 17).

Survey #	Stratum ^a	Area (km²)	Effort (km)	No. Sight. Before Trunc.	No. Sight. After Trunc.	Corrected Abundance	сѵ	% CV contributed by Encounter Rate	% CV contributed by Cluster Size
2	AIN	6,835.4	782.1	510	510	32,512	0.36	93.1	1.3
2	AIS	1,540.8	166.2	56	56	7,067	0.21	58.5	24.7
2	Fjords	756.2	198.7	1	1	2	0.42	95.9	0
2	Total	9,132.4	1,147.0	567	567	39,581	0.29		
3	AIN	6,515.4	740.7	334	332	22,991	0.25	86.5	2.3
3	AIS	1,651.7	191.8	21	20	2,344	0.54	81.3	16.3
3	Fjords	756.2	202.1	7	7	30	0.52	58.7	38.6
3	Total	8,923.3	1,134.6	362	359	25,365	0.23		

Table 17: Narwhal abundance estimates from visual surveys in Admiralty Inlet grid during Leg 2

^a AIN=Admiralty Inlet North, AIS=Admiralty Inlet South.

During Survey 2 (14 August), one photographic survey was undertaken in the Admiralty Inlet South (AIS) stratum (see Figure 30B). A total of 405 photographs were taken to capture the narwhal aggregations in the area. The total area photographed was 110.96 km² (Table 18). The total count of narwhal in the photographed areas was 3,127 narwhal (see Table 12). The sum of the area of the individual photographs totaled 235.1 km², resulting in an average density of 13.302 narwhal/km². Multiplying the average density by the total area photographed resulted in a surface estimate of 1,476 narwhal. The surface estimate was then corrected for availability bias using C α =3.18 (correction from Watt et al. 2015), and detectability bias of 1.17, resulting in a total narwhal estimate for the photographed area for Survey 2 of 5,505 narwhal (CV=0.04) in AIS (Table 18).

During Survey 3 (18 August), two photographic surveys were undertaken in the Admiralty Inlet study area, both in Admiralty Inlet North (AIN) stratum (Figure 31B). A total of 1,546 photographs were taken to capture the narwhal aggregations in the two areas, with a total area photographed of 320.02 km² (128.81 km² in AIN1 and 191.21 km² in AIN2; Table 18). The total count of narwhal in the photographed areas was 8,509 narwhal (1,806 in AIN1 and 6,703 in AIN2; see Table 12). The sum of the area of the individual photographs totaled 128.8 km² in AIN1 and 390.4 km² in AIN2, resulting in an average density of 7.373 narwhal/km² in AIN1 and 17.165 narwhal/km² in AIN2. Multiplying the average density by the total area resulted in a surface estimate of 950 narwhal in AIN1 and 3,282 narwhal in AIN2. The surface estimate was then corrected for availability bias using Cα=3.18 (correction from Watt et al. 2015), and detectability bias of 1.17, resulting in a total narwhal estimate for the photographed areas for Survey 3 of 3,543 narwhal (CV=0.04) in AIN1 and 12,241 narwhal (CV=0.04) in AIN2 (Table 18).

Survey #	Stratum ^a	# Photos	# Photos Murky Water	# Photos with Glare	Area (km²)	Surface Count	Corrected Abundance	C۷
2	AIS	405	0	11	110.96	1,476	5,505	0.04
3	AIN1	613	0	0	128.81	950	3,543	0.04
3	AIN2	933	0	2	191.21	3,282	12,241	0.04

Table 18: Narwhal abundance estimates from photographic surveys in Admiralty Inlet during Leg 2

^a AIN=Admiralty Inlet North, AIS=Admiralty Inlet South.

For the Admiralty Inlet stock, the narwhal abundance estimates calculated for the two survey replicates (Survey 2 and 3) ranged from 41,149 to 45,086 narwhal (Table 19). The abundance estimate for Survey 2 (45,086 narwhal, CV = 0.26, 95% CI of 27,396–74,200) was not significantly different than the abundance estimate for Survey 3 (41,149 narwhal, CV = 0.14, 95% CI of 31,038–54,554) (t-test = 0.30, p = 0.76). Survey 2 and 3 were therefore averaged, resulting in an overall abundance estimate of 43,042 narwhal, CV = 0.15, 95% CI of 32,218–57,502 for the Admiralty Inlet summer stock (Table 19).

Table 19: Narwhal abundance estimates	from combined visual a	ind photographic surveys in	Admiralty
Inlet grid during Leg 2			

Survey #	Survey Type	Estimate	CV	95% CI
2	Visual	39,581	0.29	22,502–69,623
2	Photographic	5,505	0.04	5,106–5,935
2	Combined	45,086	0.26	27,396–74,200
3	Visual	25,365	0.23	16,137–39,870
3	Photographic	15,784	0.04	14,868–16,756
3	Combined	41,149	0.14	31,038–54,554
2 and 3	Combined Average	43,042	0.15	32,218–57,502

3.5.5.3.3 Combined Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet Stocks

For the combined Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet stock, the narwhal abundance estimates calculated for the two survey replicates (Survey 2 and 3) ranged from 46,076 to 46,408 narwhal (Table 20). The portion of Survey 2 flown in the Eclipse Sound grid was considered to be an inaccurate representation of the Eclipse Sound narwhal

abundance (see Section 3.5.5.3.1), therefore Survey 3 was selected as the best abundance estimate of the combined Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet stock with an abundance estimate of 46,408 narwhal (CV = 0.13, 95% CI of 36,129–59,611).

Table 20: Narwhal abundance estimates for the combined Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet stocksduring Leg 2

Survey #	Stock	Estimate	CV	95% CI
2	Eclipse Sound	990	0.06	885–1,107
2	Admiralty Inlet	45,086	0.26	27,396–74,200
2	Combined Stock	46,076	0.25	28,289–75,047
3	Eclipse Sound	5,259	0.02	5,008–5,523
3	Admiralty Inlet	41,149	0.14	31,038–54,554
3	Combined Stock	46,408	0.13	36,129–59,611

3.5.6 Abundance Comparison with Previous Years

During Leg 2, three surveys were flown in the Eclipse Sound grid and two surveys were flown in the Admiralty Inlet grid. Surveys 3 and 4 were combined to come up with an overall abundance estimate of 4,592 narwhal, CV = 0.10, 95% CI of 3,754–5,617 for the Eclipse Sound summer stock. Surveys 2 and 3 were combined to come up with an overall abundance estimate of 43,042 narwhal, CV = 0.15, 95% CI of 32,218–57,502 for the Admiralty Inlet summer stock. Survey 3 was selected as the best abundance estimate of the combined Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet stock with an abundance estimate of 46,408 narwhal (CV = 0.13, 95% CI of 36,129–59,611) (Table 21).

Stock	Year	Survey Dates (Survey #)	Abundance	сѵ	95% CI	Source
Eclipse Sound	2004	August	20,225	0.36	9,471–37,096	Richard et al. 2010
Eclipse Sound	2013	18–19 Aug	10,489	0.24	6,342–17,347 ^b	Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a
Eclipse Sound	2016	7–10 Aug	12,039	0.23	7,768–18,660	Marcoux et al. 2019
Eclipse Sound	2016	15 Aug	20,093	0.57	6,449–104,339	Golder 2018b
Eclipse Sound	2016	21 Aug	12,955	0.16	7,245–23,166	Golder 2018b
Eclipse Sound	2019	21–22 Aug (#3)	7,765	0.04	7,182–8,396	Golder 2020a
Eclipse Sound	2019	25–27 Aug (#4)	12,088	0.08	10,388–14,066	Golder 2020a
Eclipse Sound	2019	21–27 Aug (#3&4)	9,931	0.05	9,009–10,946	Golder 2020a
Eclipse Sound	2019	29–30 Aug (#5)	4,879 ^a	0.06	4,322–5,507	Golder 2020a
Eclipse Sound	2020	20 Aug (#1)	3,519	0.03	3,308 – 3,743	Golder 2021a
Eclipse Sound	2020	29 Aug (#3)	5,018	0.03	4,736 – 5,317	Golder 2021a
Eclipse Sound	2021	8 &10 Aug (#1&2)	2,172	0.04	2,005 – 2,353	Golder 2022b
Eclipse Sound	2021	20–21 Aug (#4)	2,595	0.33	1,369 – 4,919	Golder 2022b

Table 21: Comparison of narwhal abundance estimates for Eclipse Sound,	Admiralty Inlet, and combined
stocks	

Stock	Year	Survey Dates (Survey #)	Abundance	cv	95% CI	Source
Eclipse Sound	2021	26 Aug (#5)	1,410	0.03	1,329 – 1,496	Golder 2022b
Eclipse Sound	2022	17 Aug (#3)	5,259	0.02	5,008–5,523	Current report
Eclipse Sound	2022	21 Aug (#4)	3,874	0.25	2,387–6,287	Current report
Eclipse Sound	2022	17–21 Aug (#3&4)	4,592	0.10	3,754–5,617	Current report
Admiralty Inlet	2003	August	5,362	0.50	1,920–12,199	Richard et al. 2010
Admiralty Inlet	2010	7–11 Aug	18,049	0.23	11,613–28,053	Asselin and Richard 2011
Admiralty Inlet	2013	12–17 Aug	35,043	0.42	14,188–86,553 ^b	Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a
Admiralty Inlet	2019	21–22 Aug (#3)	27,436	0.14	20,860–36,084	Golder 2020a
Admiralty Inlet	2019	25–26 Aug (#4)	30,638	0.29	17,668–53,129	Golder 2020a
Admiralty Inlet	2019	21–26 Aug (#3&4)	28,746	0.15	21,545–38,354	Golder 2020a
Admiralty Inlet	2019	29–30 Aug (#5)	18,976	0.20	12,963–27,779	Golder 2020a
Admiralty Inlet	2020	21 Aug (#1)	17,244	0.18	12,056–24,664	Golder 2021a
Admiralty Inlet	2020	28 Aug (#3)	31,026	0.14	23,406–41,126	Golder 2021a
Admiralty Inlet	2021	15-16 Aug (#3)	24,047	0.12	18,989 – 30,452	Golder 2022b
Admiralty Inlet	2021	19 Aug (#4)	72,582	0.09	61,333–85,895	Golder 2022b
Admiralty Inlet	2022	14 Aug (#2)	45,086	0.26	27,396–74,200	Current report
Admiralty Inlet	2022	18 Aug (#3)	41,149	0.14	31,038–54,554	Current report
Admiralty Inlet	2022	14–18 Aug (#2&3)	43,042	0.15	32,218–57,502	Current report
Combined	2013	12–19 Aug	45,532	0.33	22,440–92,384 ^b	Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a
Combined	2019	21–22 Aug (#3)	35,201	0.11	28,401–43,629	Golder 2020a
Combined	2019	25–27 Aug (#4)	42,726	0.21	28,620–63,786	Golder 2020a
Combined	2019	21–27 Aug (#3&4)	38,677	0.11	31,155–48,015	Golder 2020a ^c
Combined	2019	29–30 Aug (#5)	23,855	0.16	17,581–32,368	Golder 2020a
Combined	2020	20–21 Aug (#1)	20,763	0.15	15,410–27,976	Golder 2021a
Combined	2020	28–29 Aug (#3)	36,044	0.12	28,267-45,961	Golder 2021a
Combined	2021	19-21 Aug (#4)	75,177	0.08	63,795–88,590	Golder 2022b
Combined	2022	17–18 Aug (#3)	46,408	0.13	36,129–59,611	Current report

Bolded values are considered the most accurate abundance estimate for that year.

^a Possible narwhal aggregation missed during survey personal comms. local hunters.

^b T. Doniol-Valcroze, Pers. Comm. 2020.

 $^{\circ}$ T. Number has been revised from the Golder 2020a report to correct an error.

For the Eclipse Sound stock alone, the narwhal abundance estimate was 4,592 narwhal (CV = 0.10, 95% CI of 3,754–5,617; Table 21) based on an average of Baffinland's aerial surveys conducted on 17 and 21 August 2022. The 2022 estimate is statistically higher than the 2021 estimate of 2,595 (CV = 0.33, 95% CI of 1,369–4,919; Golder 2022c) (t-test = 2.017, p = 0.049) (Table 22), indicating that narwhal numbers appear to be increasing from

the 2021 numbers. The 2022 estimate remains statistically lower than the 2016 estimate of 12,039 (CV = 0.23, 95% CI of 7,768–18,660; Marcoux et al. 2019) (t-test = 2.651, p = 0.038) and the 2019 abundance estimate of 9,931 (CV = 0.05, 95% CI of 9,009–10,946; Golder 2020a) (t-test = 7.808, p < 0.001) (Table 22), indicating that narwhal numbers did not reach 2016 and 2019 levels. The 2022 estimate is not statistically different than the 2013 abundance estimate of 10,489 (CV = 0.24, 95% CI of 6,342–17,347; Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a) (t-test = 2.302, p = 0.104) or the 2020 abundance estimate of 5,018 (CV = 0.03, 95% CI of 4,736–5,317; Golder 2021a) (t-test = 0.859, p = 0.438) (Table 22).

Region	Year	Abundance	Year	Abundance	T-statistic	P-value (two-tailed)	P-value (one- tailed)	Statistical Significance
Eclipse Sound	2013	10,489	2022	4,592	2.302	0.104	0.052	Not Sig
	2016	12,039			2.651	0.077	0.038	Sig Decr
	2019	9,931			7.808	<0.001	<0.001	Sig Decr
	2020	5,018			0.859	0.438	0.219	Not Sig
	2021	2,595			2.017	0.100	0.049	Sig Incr
Admiralty Inlet	2013	35,043	2022	43,042	0.498	0.623	0.311	Not Sig
	2019	28,746			1.861	0.067	0.033	Sig Incr
	2020	31,026			1.538	0.129	0.064	Not Sig
	2021	72,582			3.304	0.002	0.001	Sig Decr
Eclipse Sound & Admiralty Inlet	2013	45,532	2022	46,408	0.054	0.957	0.479	Not Sig
	2019	38,771			1.011	0.316	0.158	Not Sig
	2020	36,044			1.390	0.170	0.085	Not Sig
	2021	75,177			3.317	0.002	0.001	Sig Decr

Table 22: Test statistics for comparison between years

The 2020, 2021, and 2022 Eclipse Sound stock abundance estimate exceeded the 'High Risk' trigger identified in the Marine Mammal TARP (i.e., a >25.0% decrease in the Eclipse Sound stock size (abundance) relative to the 2019 aerial survey abundance) (Baffinland 2023). These results suggest a decrease in the Eclipse Sound stock abundance estimates relative to the 2019 abundance estimate, and therefore warranted further investigation.

A decreasing trend in the estimated abundance of narwhal in the Eclipse Sound stock can be observed since 2004 (Figure 36). This decreasing trend started well before Baffinland shipping in the region. A resampling simulation method was used to estimate the trend in abundance estimates in Eclipse Sound over the past 19 years. A subset of 100 iterations was used to generate a plot showing the individual trends calculated during the resampling process (Figure 37). The orange line shows the fitted trend based on only mean annual abundance estimates, and the red line shows extrapolation for 2023 based on the estimated trends (Figure 37). For Eclipse Sound, 74% of the iterations had a significant temporal trend, which suggests moderate evidence of a significant decrease in abundance over time in the area, with an effect size of -9% (95% CI of -12% to -5%). The analysis estimated that narwhal abundance in Eclipse Sound decreased by 9% between each two consecutive years.





Figure 36: Narwhal abundance estimates in Eclipse Sound over a span of 19 years along with Baffinland shipping activities for all vessel types (ore carriers, fuel tankers, sea lifts, tugs, and ice breaker).



Figure 37: Trend analysis for Eclipse Sound, Admiralty Inlet, and the combined Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet stock estimates using a resampling simulation method.

For Admiralty Inlet stock alone, the narwhal abundance estimate was 43,042 narwhal (CV = 0.15, 95% CI of 32,218–57,502; Table 21) based on an average of Baffinland's aerial surveys conducted on 14 and 18 August 2022. This estimate was not statistically different than the abundance calculated during the previous DFO survey conducted in August 2013 (35,043 narwhal, CV = 0.42, 95% CI of 14,188–86,553; Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a) (t-test = 0.498, p = 0.623) and the 2020 Baffinland estimate of 31,026 (CV = 0.14, 95% CI of 23,406–41,126) (t-test = 1.538, p = 0.129) (Table 22). The 2022 estimate was statistically higher than the 2019 Baffinland estimate of 28,746 (CV = 0.15, 95% CI of 21,545–38,354) (t-test = 1.861, p = 0.033), (Table 22). The 2022 estimate was statistically lower than the 2021 Baffinland estimate of 72,582 (CV = 0.09, 95% CI of 61,333–85,895) (t-test = 3.304, p = 0.001) (Table 22).

A increasing trend in the estimated abundance of narwhal in the Admiralty Inlet stock can be observed since 2003 (Figure 38). A resampling simulation method was used to estimate the trend in abundance estimates in Admiralty Inlet over the past 20 years (Figure 37). Results of the simulation found 91% of the iterations for Admiralty Inlet had a significant temporal trend, which suggest strong evidence of a significant increase in abundance estimates over time in the area, with an effect size of 11% (95% CI of 7% to 16%). The analysis estimated that narwhal abundance in Admiralty Inlet increased by 11% between each two consecutive years.



Figure 38: Narwhal abundance estimates in Admiralty Inlet over a span of twenty years.

The abundance estimate for the combined Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet stocks was 46,408 narwhal (CV = 0.13, 95% CI of 36,129–59,611; Table 21) based on aerial surveys conducted on 17–18 August 2022. This estimate was not statistically different than the abundance calculated during the previous DFO survey conducted in August 2013 (45,532 narwhal, CV = 0.33, 95% CI of 22,440–92,384; Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a) (t-test = 0.054, p = 0.957), the 2019 Baffinland estimate of 38,677 (CV = 0.11, 95% CI of 31,155–48,015) (t-test = 1.011, p = 0.316), and the 2020 Baffinland estimate of 36,044 (CV = 0.12, 95% CI of 28,267–45,961) (t-test = 1.390, p = 0.170) (Table 22). The 2022 estimate was statistically lower than the 2021 Baffinland estimate of 75,177 (CV = 0.08, 95% CI of 63,795–88,590) (t-test = 3.317, p = 0.001) (Table 22).

A stable trend in the estimated abundance of narwhal in the combined Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet stocks can be observed since 2013 (Figure 39). A resampling simulation method was used to estimate the trend in abundance estimates in the combined Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet over the past 10 years. Results of the simulation found only 1% of the iterations had a significant temporal trend, which suggests no evidence of a temporal trend. The estimated effect size was 2% (95% Cl of -7% to 11%).



Figure 39: Narwhal abundance estimates in the combined Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet over a span of ten years along with Baffinland shipping activities.

The sample sizes used to generate narwhal abundance estimates for DFO's previous surveys (Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a; Marcoux et al. 2019) were not reported, thus degrees of freedom for the DFO surveys were assumed to be the same as the corresponding Baffinland estimate for t-test analysis. The use of a Z-statistic was recommended for surveys with unknown sample sizes although this may represent a higher precision than is warranted by the DFO data. Calculations of a Z-statistic for the combined Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet stocks resulted in similar significance values as the t-statistic (2022 vs 2013: Z-test = 0.054, p = 0.957, 2022 vs 2019: Z-test = 1.011, p = 0.156, 2022 vs 2020: Z-test = 1.390, p = 0.164, 2022 vs 2021: Z-test = 3.317, p = < 0.001). Calculations of a Z-statistic for the Eclipse Sound only stock was not done due to insufficient degrees of freedom to run the statistics.

3.6 Discussion

3.6.1 Narwhal Abundance and Distribution

High-level Summary: Results from the 2022 narwhal abundance survey (i.e., Leg 2 survey) indicated that: i) narwhal abundance in Eclipse Sound was statistically higher in 2022 than that observed in the previous year (2021) although statistically lower than 2016 and 2019 levels, and ii) the combined narwhal abundance in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet was similar in 2022 to what was observed in previous years (2013, 2019 and 2020). These results suggest a portion of the Eclipse Sound stock continued to occupy the Admiralty Inlet summering ground again during the summer of 2022.

The 2022 abundance estimate for the Eclipse Sound narwhal stock was 4,592 narwhal (CV = 0.10, 95% CI of 3,754–5,617) which is statistically higher than the 2021 estimate of 2,595 (CV = 0.33, 95% CI of 1,369–4,919; Golder 2022a) (t-test = 2.017, p = 0.049), indicating that narwhal numbers in Eclipse Sound appear to be increasing from the low numbers observed in 2021. However, the 2022 estimate remains statistically lower than the 2016 estimate of 12,039 (CV = 0.23, 95% CI of 7,768–18,660; Marcoux et al. 2019) (t-test = 2.651, p = 0.038) and the 2019 abundance estimate of 9,931 (CV = 0.05, 95% CI of 9,009–10,946; Golder 2020a) (t-test = 7.808, p < 0.001), indicating that narwhal numbers in Eclipse Sound have not yet rebounded to 2016 and 2019 levels.

The 2022 abundance estimate for the combined Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet stocks was 46,408 narwhal (CV = 0.13, 95% CI of 36,129–59,611), which was not statistically different than the 2013 DFO estimate of 45,532 (CV = 0.33, 95% CI of 22,440–92,384; Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a) (t-test = 0.054, p = 0.957), the 2019 Baffinland estimate of 38,677 (CV = 0.11, 95% CI of 31,155–48,015) (t-test = 1.011, p = 0.316), or the 2020 Baffinland estimate of 36,044 (CV = 0.12, 95% CI of 28,267–45,961) (t-test = 1.390, p = 0.170) (Table 22). These findings support the theory that a portion of the Eclipse Sound stock continued to occupy the Admiralty Inlet summering ground during the summer of 2022.

These findings were compared with results from the 2022 Bruce Head Shore-based Monitoring Program in which the relative abundance of narwhal at Bruce Head (i.e., total number of narwhal corrected for survey effort) was shown to be higher in 2022 (84.9) than in 2020 and 2021 (47.5 and 29.4, respectively), and approaching the 2014 baseline level (98.2) (WSP 2023). However, narwhal relative abundance in 2022 was lower than levels observed in 2016 (178.0), 2017 (121.8) and 2019 (127.2). These findings indicate that narwhal numbers in the RSA appear to be increasing from the low numbers observed in 2020/2021 but have not yet reached levels observed during the initial shipping years (2016, 2017) or those observed in 2019 (WSP 2023). Over the combined 2014-2022 monitoring period at Bruce Head, the second highest relative abundance estimate at Bruce Head was recorded in 2019, when shipping levels in the RSA were the highest to date and Project icebreaking occurred during the early shoulder season for the third consecutive year (2018-2020). In contrast, the lowest relative abundance estimates at Bruce Head were recorded in 2020 and 2021, when shipping levels were similar to 2016. Icebreaking operations took place during the 2020 early shoulder season but not in 2021. These results suggest that the annual volume of Project shipping in the RSA is not a reliable predictor of narwhal relative abundance at Bruce Head in the same year (WSP 2023).

Collectively, the available data indicates that some degree of exchange occurs between the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet stock areas and that the reduced numbers observed in Eclipse Sound in 2020-2022 (Golder 2022a) may be temporary. Possible causes of the observed exchange of narwhal from Eclipse Sound to Admiralty Inlet include:

- Displacement from Eclipse Sound as a result of: i) acoustic disturbance from shipping operations, ii) acoustic disturbance from construction activities associated with the Pond Inlet Small Craft Harbour (SCH) Project, and/or iii) increased killer whale presence in the RSA (Golder 2021c).
- More favourable ecological conditions (e.g., prey availability, ice coverage, lower predation pressure) in Admiralty Inlet during the spring and/or summer seasons of 2020-2022 that served to draw in a larger influx of narwhal from Eclipse Sound, and potentially from other proximal summer stock areas (i.e., Somerset Island, East Baffin Island), with some individuals from the Eclipse Sound stock returning to the RSA in 2022.
- Natural exchange of narwhal between the two putative summer stock areas (i.e., Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet) during the open-water season. This has been previously suggested by DFO based on historical aerial survey results (Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a, 2020; DFO 2020) and telemetry studies (DFO 2020). Natural exchange of narwhal between these stock areas during the open-water season is strongly supported by available IQ (NWMB 2016a, 2016b; QWB 2022).

As noted in Golder (2021c), the above factors may have independently or cumulatively contributed to the observed changes in narwhal numbers in Eclipse Sound in recent years. If it was determined that the changes in narwhal numbers in the RSA were a result of Project activities, this would be consistent with a high severity
response and would be considered a significant alteration of natural behavioural patterns of narwhal in the RSA and/or disruption to their daily routine (WSP 2023; Southall et al. 2021). However, findings from the aerial surveys were consistent with results obtained via Bruce Head conducted in 2022, suggesting that narwhal numbers in the RSA appear to be increasing from the low numbers observed in 2021.

Other Considerations:

For the past four consecutive years (2019–2022), combined surveys of both Admiralty Inlet and Eclipse Sound summering stock areas have been undertaken. The primary impetus for running the combined stock surveys (as opposed to the Eclipse Sound summer stock only) was based on available IQ, which indicates that the geographic and genetic distinction between these two summering stocks may be invalid (NWMB 2016a; 2016b; QWB 2022). DFO has also been investigating the extent to which there is a natural exchange of narwhal between these stock areas during the open-water season (Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a, 2020; DFO 2020). Natural exchange between the two summering areas was proposed as a possible reason why the 2013 survey results for Admiralty Inlet (~35,000 narwhal) and Eclipse Sound (~10,000 narwhal) differed substantially from previous survey results for the same stocks (18,000 for Admiralty Inlet in 2010 and 20,000 for Eclipse Sound in 2004) (Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015a). All of these surveys (i.e., 2004, 2010 and 2013) occurred prior to the start of Baffinland iron ore shipping operations.

Given that the combined stock estimate for Admiralty Inlet and Eclipse Sound indicated that the regional narwhal population remained stable relative to pre-shipping conditions, and in consideration of the available IQ regarding the degree of exchange between narwhal groups on their summering grounds, the observed changes in narwhal abundance in Eclipse Sound in recent years likely reflects a natural exchange between the two putative stock areas that began prior to Baffinland shipping operations, with animals shifting between Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet based on where habitat conditions may be more favorable that season (e.g., ice coverage, prey availability, predation pressure). With the recent influence of rapidly warming ocean temperatures and longer open-water seasons due to climate change, more pronounced changes in habitat conditions are to be expected throughout the Arctic along with commensurate changes in animal distributions and migratory movements. For example, it is well documented that sea ice in the Arctic is presently undergoing rapid reduction due to climate warming (Stroeve et al. 2012; IPCC 2013; Overland and Wang 2013) and this has been directly associated with notable shifts in species distributions for both Arctic marine mammals (Laidre et al. 2008, 2015; Frederiksen and Haug 2015; Nøttestad et al. 2015; Víkingsson et al. 2015; Albouy et al. 2020; Chambault et al. 2022;) and their prey (Frainer et al. 2017; Steiner et al. 2019, 2021; Møller and Nielsen 2020). How this might be manifesting on a micro-geographic scale in the North Baffin region is presently unclear, although some insight is offered when considering changes reported in other Arctic environments in close proximity to Eclipse Sound.

Two major oceanographic changes have recently been observed in coastal areas of Southeast Greenland; a lack of pack ice in summer and increasing sea temperature (NAAMCO 2021). This has had cascading effects on the marine ecosystem, as observed through shifts in fish species assemblages in the region (i.e., change in fish community structure) and previously undocumented occurrences of temperate water cetaceans in Southeast Greenland in high abundances (e.g., humpback whales, fin whales, killer whales, pilot whales and white beaked dolphins). Traditional narwhal habitat in this area has become restricted by the warming oceans and the ability of narwhal to adapt to warming water temperatures is also limited due to their general physiology. Shifts in narwhal distribution in Greenland have also been documented in recent years, with multiple sightings of narwhal in locations well north of their traditional range (e.g., Dove Bay, Greenland Sea, Northeast water and Petermann glacier front) (NAAMCO 2021). Current evidence suggests that a combination of hunting and climate change is negatively impacting the long-term viability of populations in Southeast Greenland (NAAMCO 2021).

A recent study by Chambault et al. (2022) predicted the future distribution of Eastern Baffin Bay narwhal under two different climate change scenarios using narwhal satellite tracking data collected over two decades. The longterm predictive models suggested that the current distribution of Baffin Bay narwhal during summer will undergo a northward shift of more than 200 km by the end of the century to cope with climate change, and that summer narwhal habitats in this region were predicted to decline from 31 to 66% over this period, depending on the climate model. These changes may already be underway in the Eastern Canadian Arctic and may affect Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet differently.

For the above reasons, the potential for climate-driven shifts in species distributions cannot be ignored as a potential driver of the recently observed changes in summer narwhal distribution in Eclipse Sound. To better understand what is occurring, additional engagement and monitoring with Inuit stakeholders and regulatory agencies are needed, inclusive of collaborative regional-scale monitoring to better understand how climate change is impacting the Baffin Bay narwhal population as a whole.

3.6.2 Other Marine Mammals

3.6.2.1 Bowhead Whale

Bowhead whale observations declined substantially prior to the start of the open-water season (Leg 2). suggesting that most bowhead whales seen during Leg 1 had migrated out of the RSA prior to 13 August (start of Leg 2). Four bowhead whales were observed in the RSA during the open-water surveys on 16–17 August. On 16 August, two sightings of individual bowhead whales were sighted in Tremblay Sound (see Appendix B, Figure B-11). On 17 August, one sighting of an individual bowhead whale was sighted in Tremblay Sound and another in Milne Inlet South (see Appendix B, Figure B-12). The Bruce Head team reported a single bowhead whale on five separate occasions approximately one to three weeks after the start of Baffinland shipping activities (7, 9, 10, 17, and 20 August) in the study area in 2022 (WSP 2023). During previous aerial surveys flown in August in the RSA, two bowhead whales were observed in 2021 (Golder 2022c), one bowhead whale was observed in 2020 (Golder 2021a), four bowhead whales were observed in 2019 (Golder 2020a), six were observed in 2014 (Thomas et al. 2015), and none were observed in 2013 or 2015 (Elliott et al. 2015; Thomas et al. 2016). The decline in bowhead sightings during Leg 2 was consistent with baseline conditions and did not suggest that Project shipping activities resulted in displacement of bowhead from their summering ground. Bowhead whales appeared to use Eclipse Sound and Navy Board Inlet as a migration corridor during the early shoulder season, with numbers in the RSA dropping during the open water season. Bowhead relative abundance in the Eclipse Sound grid was similar in 2022 (0.0006 animals/km) compared to the three previous years (0.0006 animals/km in 2021, 0.0003 animals/km in 2020, and 0.0003 animals/km in 2019) (see Appendix D), although bowhead relative abundance was lower during the 2022 Leg 2 surveys (0.0006 animals/km) compared to 2022 Leg 1 surveys (0.0024 animals/km). These results were consistent with IQ which included observations of bowhead migrating through the RSA in Aujaq (end of July to September) (JPCS 2017).

In Admiralty Inlet, bowhead whales were observed during both surveys flown in August. Bowhead sightings were dispersed throughout the Admiralty Inlet grid. Bowhead relative abundance in the Admiralty Inlet grid was lower in 2022 (0.0034 animals/km) than in the previous three years (0.0510 animals/km in 2021, 0.0087 animals/km in 2020, and 0.0313 animals/km in 2019) (see Appendix D). The Canadian High Arctic Cetacean Survey conducted by DFO in August 2013 calculated a bowhead abundance in Admiralty Inlet of 82 whales (CV=0.97; DFO 2015b). Bowhead whale abundance estimates calculated in 2019 were higher than previous estimates in Admiralty Inlet.

The highest estimate for the 2019 MMASP was obtained from the 25–27 August survey with an estimate of 834 bowhead whales (CV=0.50, 95% CI of 334–2,080). The lowest estimate for the 2019 MMASP was obtained two days later from the 29–30 August survey with an estimate of 472 bowhead whales (CV=0.35, 95% CI of 240–926). Bowhead numbers appear to fluctuate considerably from year to year in the Admiralty Inlet grid.

3.6.2.2 Killer Whale

In 2022, killer whale were not observed in the Eclipse Sound grid during the Leg 2 surveys or during the Bruce Head Shore-based Monitoring Program. It is not unusual to not see killer whales in the Eclipse Sound grid in August. During five consecutive years of shore-based monitoring conducted for Baffinland from 2013 to 2017, no killer whale were recorded (Thomas et al. 2014; Smith et al. 2015, 2016, 2017; Golder 2018c). Similarly, killer whale were not observed in the RSA during three consecutive years of aerial surveys conducted between 2013 and 2015 during the open water period (Elliott et al. 2015; Thomas et al. 2015, 2016). Killer whales were observed in the Eclipse Sound grid in August during the three previous years (2019, 2020, 2021).

In Admiralty Inlet, killer whale were not observed in 2022 during aerial surveys. However, on 16 August, killer whale sightings were reported by residents in Arctic Bay and relayed to the aerial survey team through the Inuit observers. Killer whales were observed during the Admiralty Inlet aerial surveys in 2021 but not in 2019 or 2020.

3.6.2.3 Beluga Whale

In 2022, beluga whales were observed in the Eclipse Sound grid during Leg 2 aerial surveys and the Bruce Head shore-based monitoring program. There were three sightings of individual beluga whales observed in Eclipse Sound during Leg 2 visual surveys. One sighting was observed in the Milne Inlet North stratum on 17 August, another was observed on the same day in the Navy Board Inlet stratum, and the third was observed in the Pond Inlet stratum on 21 August (see Appendix B, Figures B-9 and B-11). During a photographic survey on 17 August, one sighting of three beluga whales was recorded. During the 2022 Bruce Head Shore-based Monitoring Program, a large group of 120 beluga was present in the study area on 29 July when the survey crew was arriving to site. This is likely the same group of beluga whales that was observed on 26–27 July in Assomption Harbour during the Leg 1 aerial surveys. Beluga were frequently observed in the Bruce Head study area in groups of 1–3 between 1–16 August 2022, with one group of 10 being observed in the study area on 6 August 2022.

Beluga whales were observed in 2022 for the first time in Admiralty Inlet during aerial surveys flown for the Baffinland project. It is not known why there appears to be an increase in beluga whales in both Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet.

3.6.2.4 Pinnipeds

Pinniped data collected in 2019, 2020, 2021, and 2022 should be interpreted with caution due to the relative difficulty in observing seals at survey altitudes of 305 m (1,000 ft) ASL. Apparent differences in sightings may be the result of changes in survey conditions and the ability of MMOs to identify species rather than actual changes in pinniped numbers or distribution.

Ringed Seal: Ringed seals were sporadically distributed throughout the survey area during Leg 2 of the 2022 MMASP, similar to what was observed in previous years (Elliott et al. 2015; Thomas et al. 2015, 2016; Golder 2020a; Golder 2021a; Golder 2022c). Ringed seal had the highest sighting count of all pinniped species sighted

during the 2022 MMASP, accounting for 71% of all pinniped sightings identified to the species level (333 out of a total of 471). Ringed seal sightings were primarily observed as single animals. During Leg 2, ringed seal relative abundance in the Eclipse Sound grid was also similar in 2022 (0.0726 animals/km) to that observed in the previous two years (0.0702 animals/km in 2021 and 0.0736 animals/km in 2020) (see Appendix D). In the Admiralty Inlet grid ringed seal relative abundance was lower in 2022 (0.0615 animals/km) to that observed in 2021 (0.0920 animals/km) and 2020 (0.0830 animals/km) (see Appendix D). Ringed seal observations provide relative abundance and distribution information. However, this information cannot be used to reliably assess the effects of Project shipping or obtain accurate abundance estimates.

A summary of the 2021 ringed seal aerial survey program which indicated that ringed seal densities had remained stable in the RSA with some annual variations since the onset of shipping or icebreaking activities is provided in Golder (2022b).

Harp Seal: Harp seal were observed during all Leg 2 visual surveys in 2022. In the Eclipse Sound grid, harp seals were observed primarily at the top of Navy Board Inlet and in the Pond Inlet stratum, similar to what had been observed in previous years (Elliott et al. 2015; Thomas et al. 2015, 2016; Golder 2020a, 2021a, Golder 2022c). In the Admiralty Inlet grid, harp seals were observed throughout the survey area, although higher numbers were observed in the Admiralty Inlet North stratum. Harp seal sightings were primarily observed as groups of multiple animals. The largest group size observed in 2022 was 50 animals. During Leg 2, the 2022 harp seal relative abundance in the Eclipse Sound grid (0.0466 animals/km) was slightly higher compared to the previous two years (0.0331 animals/km in 2021 and 0.0448 animals/km in 2020) and lower compared to 2019 (0.0527 animals/km) (see Appendix D).

In the Admiralty Inlet grid, the 2022 harp seal relative abundance (0.1917 animals/km) was lower compared to the previous two years (0.9441 animals/km in 2021 and 0.3685 animals/km in 2020) and higher compared to 2019 (0.1495 animals/km) (see Appendix D). Harp seal observations provide relative abundance and distribution information. However, this information cannot be used to reliably assess the effects of Project shipping or obtain accurate abundance estimates.

Bearded Seal: Similar to previous years, only a few bearded seals were observed during the 2022 MMASP. Six sightings were recorded during Leg 2 surveys. All six sightings were observed in the Eclipse Sound grid; three in Eclipse Sound, two in White Bay, and one in Navy Board Inlet. Limited IQ has been collected regarding the overall abundance of bearded seal. Some Elders in the Baffin region have observed a decrease in bearded seal abundance since the advent of firearms and motorized transportation (Baffinland 2010). In contrast, one Elder noted that bearded seal were rare near Pond Inlet in the past but are now more frequently observed.

Walrus: Walrus were seldom seen in the Eclipse Sound or the Admiralty Inlet grid during the summer surveys. Walrus were not observed in the Eclipse Sound grid during 2022 Leg 2 surveys. A single juvenile walrus was observed on 12 August 2022 by the Bruce Head Shore-based Monitoring Program (WSP 2023). A single walrus was also observed in the northern portion of Admiralty Inlet during Survey 3 (18 August) of the 2022 MMASP.

3.6.2.5 Polar Bear

Polar bear sightings have been regularly recorded during the Baffinland aerial survey programs. The distribution of polar bears in 2022 was similar to what was observed during previous aerial surveys. In the Eclipse Sound grid, polar bears were more likely to be recorded in the Navy Board Inlet and Pond Inlet strata. In 2022, all polar bear

sightings occurred in the Navy Board Inlet stratum, with one sighting observed during each of Surveys 2 and 3, and the remaining four sightings observed during Survey 4 (see Appendix B, Figures B-11, B-12 and B-14). All six sightings were of single animals. Three of the sightings were identified as adults, one sighting was identified as a juvenile and the remaining two were of unknown age classes.

In the Admiralty Inlet grid, polar bears were recorded throughout the study area, although sighting numbers were down from the previous year. Five polar bear sightings totalling seven individuals were made during the 2022 Leg 2 visual surveys in the Admiralty Inlet grid. Three of the sightings were of single animals identified as adults and located in the Admiralty Inlet North stratum on 14 August (Appendix B, Figure B-10). The two remaining sightings were of mothers with a cub on 14 August in Admiralty Inlet South (Appendix B, Figure B-10) and on 18 August in Elwin Inlet (Appendix B, Figure B-13).

4.0 LEG 3: CLEARANCE SURVEY

A third survey (Leg 3) at the end of the shipping season was proposed to occur over a three-day period (29–31 October), with three Inuit researchers and one Mittimatalik Hunters and Trappers Organization (MHTO) observer. The objective of the Leg 3 surveys would have been to conduct a visual clearance survey to confirm that no narwhal entrapment events occurred in Eclipse Sound and Milne Inlet following completion of Baffinland's 2022 shipping operations along the Northern Shipping Route.

The Leg 3 clearance aerial surveys did not take place in 2022 due to the shipping season ending early, on 13 October, as a result of the presence of multi-year ice entering the RSA (Figure 40). Landfast ice later started to form on 23 October (Figure 41).



Figure 40: Ice chart for 13 October 2022 (left; Canadian Ice Services) and satellite image for 14 October 2022 (right; Zoom Earth; https://zoom.earth) showing ice conditions in Eclipse Sound area at the end of the shipping season.



Figure 41: Ice chart for 23 October 2022 (left; Canadian Ice Services) and satellite image for 20 October 2022 (right; Zoom Earth; https://zoom.earth) showing ice conditions in Eclipse Sound area when land fast ice started forming.

5.0 SUMMARY

The 2022 MMASP addressed Project Certificate No. 005 Terms and Conditions 101, 109, 111, and 126. Table 23 demonstrates how Project Certificate Terms and Conditions were met through the 2022 MMASP.

Project Certificate Terms and Conditions	Condition / Evidence of Conditions Met
101	Efforts to involve Inuit in monitoring studies at all levels:
	Inuit researchers participated in Legs 1 and 2 of the 2022 MMASP.
	Monitoring protocols that are responsive to Inuit concerns:
	 Aerial surveys allow for evaluation of narwhal large-scale displacement effects, abandonment of the RSA, moderate to large changes in stock size.
	 Although not designed to assess ringed seal abundance in the RSA, the MMASP reports on values of relative abundance for ringed seals.
	Schedule for periodic aerial surveys as recommended by the MEWG:
	 Aerial surveys in support of the Project were conducted in 2006, 2007, 2008, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2019, 2020, 2021, and 2022.
109	Conduct a monitoring program to confirm the prediction in the FEIS:
	 Aerial survey can measure effects at the narwhal population and/or stock level including evaluation of large-scale displacement effects or abandonment of the RSA.
110	Develop a monitoring program that includes, but is not limited to, acoustical monitoring, to facilitate assessment of the potential short term, long term, and cumulative effects on marine mammals and marine mammal populations. The Proponent is expected to work with the Marine Environment Working Group to determine appropriate early warning indicator(s) that will ensure rapid identification of negative impacts along the southern and northern shipping routes.
	 Conducted dedicated EWI aerial surveys to collect proportion of immatures in the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet stocks
111	Develop clear thresholds for determining if negative impacts as a result of vessel noise are occurring:
	 Conducted statistical analyses to compare the values of the current aerial survey to past aerial surveys.
126	Design monitoring program to ensure that local users can assist with monitoring and evaluating potential impacts:
	Inuit researchers participated in Legs 1 and 2 of the 2022 MMASP.

Table 23: NIRB Pro	iect Certificate No	005 Terms and C	onditions relevant to	the 2022 MMASP
Table 23. MIND 110	ject certificate No.			

Results from the 2022 narwhal abundance aerial survey (Leg 2) indicated that: i) narwhal abundance in Eclipse Sound was statistically higher in 2022 than the previous year (2021), although still statistically lower than in 2016 and 2019, and ii) the combined narwhal abundance in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet was similar in 2022 to what was observed in recent years (2013, 2019 and 2020). These results suggest a portion of the Eclipse Sound stock continued to occupy the Admiralty Inlet summering ground during the summer of 2022.

Given that the combined stock estimate for Admiralty Inlet and Eclipse Sound indicated that the regional narwhal population remained stable relative to pre-shipping conditions, and in consideration of the available IQ regarding the degree of exchange between narwhal groups on their summering grounds, the observed changes in narwhal abundance in Eclipse Sound in recent years likely reflects a natural exchange between the two putative stock areas that began prior to Baffinland shipping operations, with animals shifting between Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet based on where habitat conditions may be more favorable that season (e.g., ice coverage, prey availability, predation pressure). With the recent influence of rapidly warming ocean temperatures and longer open-water seasons due to climate change, more pronounced changes in habitat conditions are to be expected throughout the Arctic along with commensurate changes in animal distributions and migratory movements. For example, it is well documented that sea ice in the Arctic is presently undergoing rapid reduction due to climate warming (Stroeve et al. 2012; IPCC 2013; Overland and Wang 2013) and this has been directly associated with notable shifts in species distributions for both Arctic marine mammals (Laidre et al. 2008, 2015; Frederiksen and Haug 2015; Nøttestad et al. 2015; Víkingsson et al. 2015; Albouy et al. 2020; Chambault et al. 2022;) and their prey (Frainer et al. 2017; Steiner et al. 2019, 2021; Møller and Nielsen 2020). How this might be manifesting on a micro-geographic scale in the North Baffin region is presently unclear, although some insight is offered when considering changes reported in other Arctic environments in close proximity to Eclipse Sound.

Two major oceanographic changes have recently been observed in coastal areas of Southeast Greenland; a lack of pack ice in summer and increasing sea temperature (NAAMCO 2021). This has had cascading effects on the marine ecosystem, as observed through shifts in fish species assemblages in the region (i.e., change in fish community structure) and previously undocumented occurrences of temperate water cetaceans in Southeast Greenland in high abundances (e.g., humpback whales, fin whales, killer whales, pilot whales and white beaked dolphins). Traditional narwhal habitat in this area has become restricted by the warming oceans and the ability of narwhal to adapt to warming water temperatures is also limited due to their general physiology. Shifts in narwhal distribution in Greenland have also been documented in recent years, with multiple sightings of narwhal in locations well north of their traditional range (e.g., Dove Bay, Greenland Sea, Northeast water and Petermann glacier front) (NAAMCO 2021). Current evidence suggests that a combination of hunting and climate change is negatively impacting the long-term viability of populations in Southeast Greenland (NAAMCO 2021).

A recent study by Chambault et al. (2022) predicted the future distribution of Eastern Baffin Bay narwhal under two different climate change scenarios using narwhal satellite tracking data collected over two decades. The long-term predictive models suggested that the current distribution of Baffin Bay narwhal during summer will undergo a northward shift of more than 200 km by the end of the century in order to cope with climate change, and that summer narwhal habitats in this region are predicted to decline from 31 to 66% over this period depending on the climate model. These changes may already be underway in the Eastern Canadian Arctic and may affect Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet differently.

For the above reasons, the potential for climate-driven shifts in species distributions cannot be ignored as a potential driver of the recently observed changes in summer narwhal distribution in Eclipse Sound. To better understand what is occurring, additional engagement and monitoring with Inuit stakeholders and regulatory agencies are needed, inclusive of collaborative regional scale monitoring that looks at the population dynamics of the entire Baffin Bay narwhal stock.

6.0 **RECOMMENDATIONS**

With respect to future monitoring initiatives for the Marine Mammal Aerial Survey Program, WSP provides the following recommendations for implementation in 2023:

- Conduct an early shoulder season survey to document narwhal movements and distribution in the RSA prior to the start of shipping operations.
- Given that the combined stock estimate for Admiralty Inlet and Eclipse Sound indicate that the regional narwhal population remained stable relative to pre-shipping conditions, and in consideration of the available IQ regarding the degree of exchange between narwhal groups on their summering grounds, the observed low narwhal abundance in Eclipse Sound most likely reflects natural exchange between the two putative stock areas, or alternatively, that animals, at this point in time, are finding more favourable ecological conditions in Admiralty Inlet. To better understand this process, additional engagement and monitoring is needed, inclusive of regional-scope monitoring that looks at population dynamics of the Baffin Bay narwhal stock as a whole. It is recommended that Baffinland support DFO in the Baffin Bay narwhal stock abundance survey in 2023, by flying the Admiralty Inlet and Eclipse Sound summer stock areas while DFO surveys the rother remaining summer stock areas belonging to the Baffin Bay narwhal population.
- Conduct an end-of-shipping-season visual clearance survey to confirm that no narwhal entrapment events occurred in Eclipse Sound and Milne Inlet following completion of shipping operations along the Northern Shipping Route.
- Conduct photo-analysis of 2023 aerial survey data collected at 305 m for early warning indicator (EWI) metrics to supplement the data on the proportion of immature narwhal in the population collected through the Bruce Head Shore-based Monitoring Program.

7.0 CLOSURE

We trust that this report meets your immediate requirements. If you have any questions regarding the content of this report, please do not hesitate to contact the undersigned.

WSP Canada Inc.

Tannis Thomas, MSc Marine Biologist Mitch Firman, BSc *Wildlife Biologist*

Patrick Abgrall, PhD Principal, Marine Biologist Bart DeFreitas, MSc, RPBio *Principal, Senior Biologist*

TT/MF/PA/BD/syd

https://golderassociates.sharepoint.com/sites/11206g/deliverables (do not use)/issued to client_for wp/400-499/1663724-428-r-rev0-59000/1663724-428-r-rev0-59000 mmasp report_27apr_23.docx

8.0 **REFERENCES**

- Albouy, C., V. Delattre, G. Donati, T. L. Frölicher, S. Albouy-Boyer, M. Rufino, L. Pellissier, D. Mouillot and F. Leprieur. 2020. Global vulnerability of marine mammals to global warming. Sci. Rep. 10: 548.
- APP (Arctic Pilot Project). 1982. Integrated Rate Analysis. 3 Volumes. Prepared by Arctic Pilot Project. Calgary, Alberta.
- Asselin, N.C. and P.R. Richard, 2011. Results of narwhal (*Monodon monoceros*) aerial surveys in Admiralty Inlet, August 2010. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2011/065. iv + 26 p.
- Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation (Baffinland). 2010. Mary River Project: Environmental Impact Statement, December 2010. Appendix 8A-2: Marine Mammal Baseline 2007-2010. Prepared by LGL Ltd., Toronto, Ontario and North/South Consultants Inc., Winnipeg, Manitoba, for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario.
- Baffinland. 2012. Mary River Project Final Environmental Impact Statement. February 2012.
- Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation (Baffinland). 2020. Draft Adaptive Management Plan. Phase 2 Proposal for the Mary River Project.
- Baffinland. 2021a. Marine Environmental Working Group (MEWG) Minutes. 13 May 2021 Teleconference. 15 p.
- Baffinland. 2021b. Marine Mammal Trigger Action Response Plan (TARP) and Action Toolkits. *In* Baffinland Responses to Post-Hearing Questions related to Phase 2. 22 March 2021.
- Baird, R.W. 2001. Status of Killer whale, Orcinus orca, in Canada. Canadian Field-Naturalist 115:676-701.
- Barlow, J., W. O. Charles, T. D. Jackson, and L. T. Barbara. 1998. Harbor porpoise, *phocoena phocoena*, abundance estimation for California, Oregon, and Washington: II. Aerial surveys. Fishery Bulletin. 86(3): 433-444.
- Beckett, J., D. Chiperzak, B. Wheeler, T. Hills, D. Ebner, and M. Setterington. 2008. Nunavut Wildlife Resource and Habitat Values. Final report. Prepared by Nunami Jacques Whitford Ltd., Yellowknife, NWT for Nunavut Planning Commission, Cambridge Bay, Nunavut. 238 p.
- Breed, G.A., C.J.D. Matthews, M. Marcoux, J. Higdon, B. LeBlanc, S.D. Petersen, J. Orr, N.R. Reinhart, and S.H. Ferguson. 2017. Sustained disruption of narwhal habitat use and behavior in the presence of Arctic killer whale. PNAS 114(1):2628-2633.
- Buckland, S.T., Anderson, D.R., Burnham, K.P., Laake, J.L., Borchers, D.L., and L. Thomas.2001. Introduction to distance sampling: estimating abundance of biological populations. Oxford University Press, Oxford, xv + 432 p.
- Buckland, S. T., R. E. Russell, B. G. Dickson, V. A. Saab, D. N. Gorman, and W. M. Block. 2009. Analysing designed experiments in distance sampling. Journal of Agricultural, Biological and Environmental Statistics. 14:432-442.
- Burns, J.J. and K.J. Frost. 1979. The Natural History and Ecology of the Bearded Seal (*Erignathus barbatus*).
 Final report OCSEAP contract 02-5-022-53. Alaska Department of Fish and Game. Fairbanks, Alaska.
 77 p.

- Burns, J.J. 1981. Bearded Seal (*Erignathus barbatus*, Erxleben, 1777). In: Ridgway, S.H. and R.J. Harrison (eds.) Handbook of marine mammals. Volume 2: Seals. Academic Press. London, UK. p.145-170.
- Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency (CEAA). 2009. Operational Policy Statement Adaptive Management Measures under the *Canadian Environmental Assessment Act*. Catalogue No. 978-1-100-12062-1. ISBN: En106-83/2009EPDF.
- Campbell, R.R., D.B. Yurick, and N.B. Snow. 1988. Predation on Narwhal, *Monodon monoceros*, by Killer whale, *Orcinus orca*, in the Eastern Canadian Arctic. Canadian Field-Naturalist 102:689-696.
- Chambault, P., K.M. Kovacs, C. Lydersen, O. Shpak, J. Teilmann, C.M. Albertsen and M.P. Heide-Jorgensen. 2022. Future seasonal changes in habitat for Arctic whales during predicted ocean warming. Science Advances. 8(29).
- COSEWIC (Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada). 2004a. COSEWIC Assessment and Update Status Report on the Narwhal *Monodon monoceros* in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada, Ottawa, Ont. vii +50 p.
- COSEWIC. 2004b. COSEWIC assessment and update status report on the beluga whale *Delphinapterus leucas* in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada. Ottawa. ix + 70 pp. (www.sararegistry.gc.ca/status/status_e.cfm).
- COSEWIC. 2009. COSEWIC assessment and update status report on the Bowhead Whale *Balaena mysticetus*, Bering-Chukchi-Beaufort population and Eastern Canada-West Greenland population, in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada. Ottawa. vii + 49 pp. (www.sararegistry.gc.ca/status/status_e.cfm).
- COSEWIC. 2019. COSEWIC assessment and status report on the Ringed Seal *Pusa hispida* in Canada. Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada. Ottawa. xii + 82 pp. (https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/species-risk-public-registry.html).
- Covington, M. 1985. Astrophotography for the amateur. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 168 p.
- DeMaster, D.P., Lowry, L.F., Frost, K.J., and Bengston, R.A. 2001. The effect of sea state on estimates of abundance for beluga whales (Delphinapterus leucas) in Norton Sound, Alaska. Fish. Bull. 99: 197–201.
- DFO (Fisheries and Oceans Canada). 2015a. Abundance estimates of narwhal stocks in the Canadian High Arctic in 2013. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Sci. Advis. Rep. 2015/046.
- DFO. 2015b. Updated abundance estimate and harvest advice for the Eastern Canada-West Greenland bowhead whale population. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Sci. Advis. Rep. 2015/052.
- DFO. 2017. Field Summary Report 2016 Narwhal Aerial Surveys (3-24 August) (Pond Inlet/Eclipse Sound & Milne Inlet / Admiralty Inlet). 10 p.
- DFO. 2020. Information related to the delineation of the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet narwhal stocks. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Sci. Advis. Rep. 2020/048.

- Doniol-Valcroze, T, Gosselin, J.F., Pike, D., Lawson, J., Asselin, N., Hedges, K., and S. Ferguson. 2015a. Abundance estimates of narwhal stocks in the Canadian High Arctic in 2013. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2015/060. v + 36 p.
- Doniol-Valcroze, T, Gosselin, J.F., Pike, D., and J. Lawson. 2015b. Spatial modelling of narwhal density in fiords during the 2013 High Arctic Cetacean Survey (HACS). DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2015/059. v + 31 p.
- Doniol-Valcroze, T., Gosselin, J.F., Pike, D.G., Lawson, J.W., Asselin, N.C., Hedges, K., and S.H. Ferguson. 2020. Narwhal Abundance in the Eastern Canadian High Arctic in 2013. NAMMCO Scientific Publications 11. https://doi.org/10.7557/3.5100.
- Elliott, R.E., S. Raborn, H.R. Smith and V.D. Moulton. 2015. Marine mammal aerial surveys in Eclipse Sound, Milne Inlet, Navy Board Inlet, and Pond Inlet, 31 August – 18 October 2013. LGL Report No. TA8357-2.
 Prepared by LGL Limited, King City, ON for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, ON. 61 p.
- Ferguson, S.H., J.W. Higdon and K.H. Westdal. 2012. Prey Items and Predation Behaviour of Killer whale (*Orcinus orca*) in Nunavut, Canada, based on Inuit Hunter Interviews. Aquatic Biosystems 8: 10.1186/2046-9063-8-3.
- Ferguson, S.H., M.K. Taylor and F. Messier. 2000. Influence of Sea Ice Dynamics on Habitat Selection by Polar Bears. Ecology 81:761-772.
- Ferguson, S.H., M.K. Taylot, E.W Born, A. Rosing-Asvid and F. Messier. 2001. Activity and Movement Patterns of Polar Bears Inhabiting Consolidated Versus Active Pack Ice. Arctic 54:49-54.
- Fewster, R.M., S.T. Buckland, K.P. Burnham, D.L. Borchers, P.E. Jupp, J.L. Laake, and L. Thomas. 2009. Estimating the encounter rate variance in distance sampling. Biometrics 65(1): 225–236.
- Finley, K.J. and C.R. Evans. 1983. Summer Diet of the Bearded Seal (*Erignathus barbatus*) in the Canadian High Arctic. Arctic 36:82-89.
- Finley, K. J., G. W. Miller, R. A. Davis, and W. R. Koski. 1983. A distinctive large breeding population of ringed seals (*Phoca hispida*) inhabiting the Baffin Bay pack ice. Arctic 36:162–173.
- Frainer, A., R. Primicerio, S. Kortsch, M. Aune, A. V. Dolgov, M. Fossheim and M. M. Aschan. 2017. Climatedriven changes in functional biogeography of Arctic marine fish communities. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 114: 12202–12207.
- Frederiksen, M. and T. Haug. 2015. Editorial: climate change and marine top predators. Front. Ecol. Evol. 3: 136
- Golder Associates Ltd. (Golder). 2017. Integration Report: Marine Mammals in Eclipse Sound, Milne Inlet and Pond Inlet. Golder Report No. 1663724-006-R-Rev0. 91 p. + appendices.
- Golder. 2018a. 2017 Narwhal Tagging Study Technical Data Report. Golder Report No.1663724-082-R-RevA. Prepared by Golder Associates Ltd., Vancouver, BC for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario. 93 p. + appendices.

- Golder. 2018b. 2016 Marine Mammal Aerial Photographic Survey Milne Inlet and Eclipse Sound. Golder Report No.1663724-036-R-Rev1. Prepared by Golder Associates Ltd., Vancouver, BC for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario. 20 p.
- Golder. 2018c. 2017 Bruce Head Shore-based Monitoring Program. Golder Report No.1663724-041-R-Rev0. Prepared by Golder Associates Ltd., Vancouver, BC for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario. 89 p. + appendices.
- Golder. 2019. 2018 Ship-based Observer Program Golder Report No.1663724-088-R-Rev0. Prepared by Golder Associates Ltd., Vancouver, BC for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario. 48 p. + appendices.
- Golder. 2020a. 2019 Marine Mammal Aerial Survey. Golder Report No.1663724-191-R-Rev0. Prepared by Golder Associates Ltd., Victoria, BC for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario. 98 p.
- Golder. 2020b. 2019 Bruce Head shore-based monitoring program. Final Golder Report No. 1663724-199-R-Rev0. Prepared by Golder Associates Ltd., Victoria, BC for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario. 117 p. + appendices.
- Golder. 2020c. 2019 Ship-based Observer Program Technical Data Report. Golder Report No.1663724-185-R-Rev0. Prepared by Golder Associates Ltd., Vancouver, BC for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario. 64 p. + appendices.
- Golder. 2021a. 2020 Marine Mammal Aerial Survey. Golder Report No.1663724-270-R-Rev1. Prepared by Golder Associates Ltd., Victoria, BC for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario. 79 p.+ appendices.
- Golder. 2021b. 2020 Bruce Head shore-based monitoring program. Golder Report No. 1663724-269-R-Rev0. Prepared by Golder Associates Ltd., Victoria, BC for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario. 142 p. + appendices.
- Golder. 2021c. Preliminary Summary of 2020 Narwhal Monitoring Programs. Technical Memorandum No. 1663724-285-TM-Rev1-48000. 07 April 2021.
- Golder. 2022a. 2021 Bruce Head shore-based monitoring program Golder Report No. 1663724-269-R-Rev0. Prepared by Golder Associates Ltd., Victoria, BC for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario. 183 p. + appendices.
- Golder. 2022b. 2021 Ringed Seal Aerial Survey Golder Report No. 1663724-351-R-Rev0. Prepared by Golder Associates Ltd., Victoria, BC for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario. 55 p. + appendices.
- Golder. 2022c. 2021 Marine Mammal Aerial Survey. Golder Report No.1663724-353-R-Rev0. Prepared by Golder Associates Ltd., Victoria, BC for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario. 109 p.+ appendices.
- Gosselin, J.-F., Hammill, M.O., and Lesage, V. 2007. Comparison of photographic and visual abundance indices of belugas in the St. Lawrence Estuary in 2003 and 2005. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Secr. Res. Doc. 2007/025. ii + 27 p.
- Greendale, R.G. and C. Brousseau-Greendale. 1976. Observations of Marine Mammal Migration at Cape Hay, Bylot Island, During the Summer of 1976. Fisheries and Marine Service Technical Report 680. 25 p.

- Grendzdörffer, G.J., Guretzki, M., and Friedlander, I. 2008. Photogrammetric image acquisition and image analysis of oblique imagery. Photogramm. Rec. 23(124): 372-386.
- Hammill, M.O., Stenson, G.B., Mosnier, A. and Doniol-Valcroze, T. 2021. Trends in abundance of harp seals, *Pagophilus groenlandicus*, in the Northwest Atlantic, 1952-2019. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2021/006. iv + 30 p.
- Harwood, L.A., F. McLaughlin, R.M. Allen, J. Illasiak Jr. and J. Alikamik. 2005. First-ever Marine Mammal and Bird Observations in the Deep Canada Basin and Beaufort/Chukchi Seas: Expeditions During 2002. Polar Biology 28:250-253.
- Hay, K., D. Aglukark, D. Igutsaq, J. Ikkidluak, and M. Meeka. 2000. Final Report of the Inuit bowhead knowledge study, Nunavut, Canada. Nunavut Wildlife Management Board, 101pp. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.25607/OBP-1675.
- Heide-Jørgensen, M.P., R. Dietz, K.L. Laidre and P. Richard. 2002. Autumn movements, home ranges and winter density of narwhal (*Monodon monoceros*) tagged in Tremblay Sound, Baffin Island. Polar Biol. 25:331– 341.
- Higdon, J. 2007. Status of knowledge on killer whales (Orcinus orca) in the Canadian Arctic. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2007/048. ii + 37 p.
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change). 2013. Climate change 2013: the physical science basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom.
- Jason Prno Consulting Services Ltd (JPCS). 2017. *Technical Supporting Document (TSD) No. 03: Results of Community Workshops Conducted for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation's* Phase 2 Proposal. Report submitted to Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation. January 2017.
- Johnson, S.R., Renaud, W.E., Richardson, W.J., Davis, R.A., Holdsworth, C. and Hollingdale, P.D. 1976. Aerial Surveys of Birds in Eastern Lancaster Sound, 1976. LGL Ltd. Environmental Research Associates, Toronto, for Norlands Petroleums Ltd. Calgary, Alberta. 180 p.
- Kingsley, M. C. S. 1998. The numbers of ringed seals (*Phoca hispida*) in Baffin Bay and associated waters, Pages 181–196 in M. P. Heide-Jørgensen, and C. Lydersen, eds., NAMMCO Scientific Publications. Tromso, Norway, North Atlantic Marine Mammal Commission.
- Kingsley, M. C. S. 1986. Distribution and abundance of seals in the Beaufort Sea, Amundsen Gulf, and Prince Albert Sound, 1984. Rep. No. 25, Environmental Studies Revolving Funds, Ottawa.
- Koski, W.R. 1980. Distribution and Migration of Marine Mammals in Baffin Bay and Eastern Lancaster Sound, May–July 1979. Prepared by LGL Ltd., Toronto, Ontario for Petro-Canada Exploration Inc., Calgary, Alberta. 317 p.
- Koski, W.R. and R.A. Davis. 1979. Distribution of Marine Mammals in Northwest Baffin Bay and Adjacent Waters, May–October 1978. Prepared by LGL Ltd., Toronto, Ontario for Petro-Canada Exploration Inc., Calgary, Alberta. 305 p.

- Kovacs, K.M., C. Lydersen, J.E. Overland and S.E. Moore. 2011. Impacts of changing sea-ice conditions on Arctic marine mammals. Marine Biodiversity 41:181-194.
- Laidre, K.L., M.P. Heide-Jørgensen, M.L. Logsdon, R.C. Hobbs, P. Heagerty, R. Dietz, O.A. Jørgensen and M.A. Trebel. 2004. Seasonal narwhal habitat associations in the high Arctic. Ecol. Appl., 18: S97-S125.
- Laidre, K.L., I. Stirling, L.F., Lowry, Ø., Wiig, M.P. Heide-Jørgensen, and S.H. Ferguson. 2008. Quantifying the sensitivity of Arctic marine mammals to climate-induced habitat change. Mar. Biol. 145:821–831.
- Laidre, K.L., H. Stern, K.M. Kovacs, L.F. Lowry, S.E. Moore, E.V. Regehr, S.H. Ferguson, Ø. Wiig, P. Boveng, R.P. Angliss, E.W. Born, D., Litovka, L. Quakenbush, C. Lydersen, D. Vongraven, and F. Ugarte. 2015. Arctic marine mammal population status, sea ice habitat loss, and conservation recommendations for the 21st century. Conserv. Biol. 29: 724-737. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12474
- Laake, J. L., and D. L. Borchers. 2004. Methods for incomplete detection at distance zero. In Advanced Distance Sampling. Oxford University Press. Pp. 108-189.
- Laake, J. L., D. Borchers, L. Thomas, D. Miller, and J. Bishop. 2018. Mrds:Mark-recapture distance sampling. R package version 2.2.0.
- Laake, J. L., J. Calambokidis, S. D. Osmek, and D. J. Rugh. 1997. Probability of detecting harbor porpoise from aerial surveys: estimating g(0). Journal of Wildlife Management. 61(1): 63-75.
- Lunn, N. J., S. Schliebe, and E. W. Born. (Editors). 2002. Polar bears: Proceedings of the thirteenth working meeting of the IUCN/SSC polar bear specialist group. SSC Occasional Paper No. 26. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland and Cambridge, UK, vii + 153 pp.
- Marcoux, M., L.M., Montsion, J.B., Dunn, S.H., Ferguson, and C.J.D Matthews. 2019. Estimate of the abundance of the Eclipse Sound narwhal (*Monodon Monoceros*) summer stock from the 2016 photographic aerial survey. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2019/028. iv + 16 p.
- Marcoux, M., M. Auger-Métré and M.M. Humphries. 2009. Encounter frequencies and grouping patterns of narwhal in Koluktoo Bay, Baffin Island. Polar Biol. 32:1705-1716.
- Marcoux, M., B. Young, N. C. Asselin, C. A. Watt, J. B. Dunn, and S. H. Ferguson. 2016. Estimate of Cumberland Sound beluga (*Delphinapterus leucas*) population size from the 2014 visual and photographic aerial survey. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2016/037. lv + 19 p.
- Marsh, H., and D. F. Sinclar. 1989. Correcting for visibility bias in strip transect aerial surveys of aquatic fauna. The Journal of Wildlife Management. 53(4): 1017-1024.
- Matthews, C.J.D., Watt, C.A., Asselin, N.C., Dunn, J.B., Young, B.G., Montison, L.M., Westdal, K.H., Hall, P.A., Orr, J.R., Ferguson, S.H., and M. Marcoux. 2017. Estimated abundance of the Western Hudson Bay beluga stock from the 2015 visual and photographic aerial survey. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2017/061. v + 20 p.
- McLaren, P.L. and R.A. Davis. 1982. Distribution of wintering marine mammals off West Greenland and in southern Baffin Bay and northern Davis Strait, March 1982. Prepared by LGL Ltd., Toronto, Ontario for Arctic Pilot Project, Petro-Canada Explorations Inc., Calgary, Alberta. 98 p.

Miller, R.S. 1955. A survey of the mammals of Bylot Island, Northwest Territories. Arctic 8:167-176.

- Møller, E.F. and T. G. Nielsen. 2020. Borealization of Arctic zooplankton—Smaller and less fat zooplankton species in Disko Bay, Western Greenland. Limnol. Oceanogr. 65: 1175–1188.
- North Atlantic Marine Mammal Commission (NAMMCO). 2021. Report of the Ad hoc Working Group on Narwhal in East Greenland. October 2021, Copenhagen, Denmark. Available at https://nammco.no/topics/narwhal_beluga_reports/
- Nichols O.C., H.L. Kite-Powell, R.D. Kenney, and M.W. Brown. 2005. A simple two-dimensional model of ship encounter risk for right whales in Cape Cod Bay: Final results and management implications.
 Collaborative works of the Center for Coastal Studies, PO Box 1036, Provincetown, USA, Marine Policy Center, Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution, Woods Hole, USA, Graduate School of Oceanography, University of Rhode Island, Narragansett, USA and the New England Aquarium, Central Wharf, Boston, USA.
- Nøttestad, L., B. Krafft, V. Anthonypillai, M. Bernasconi, L. Langárd, H.L., Mørk and Fernö. 2015. Recent changes in distribution and relative abundance of cetaceans in the Norwegian Sea and their relationship with potential prey. Front. Ecol.Evol. 2: 150-160.
- Nunavut Wildlife Management Board (NWMB). 2016a. Public hearing to consider modifications to total allowable harvests for the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet Narwhal Management Units. 28 November 2016. 237 p.
- NWMB. 2016b. Public hearing to consider modifications to total allowable harvests for the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet Narwhal Management Units. 29 November 2016. 237 p.
- Overland, J.E. and M. Wang. 2013. When will the summer Arctic be nearly sea ice free? Geophysical Research Letters 40:2097–2101.
- Qikiqtani Inuit Association (QIA). 2018. Qikiqtaaluk Inuit Qaujimajatuqangit and Inuit Qaujimajangit Iliqqusingitigut for the Baffin Bay and Davis Strait Marine Environment. Prepared by Heidi Klein, Sanammanga Solutions Inc. for submission to the Nunavut Impact Review Board for the Baffin Bay and Davis Strait Strategic Environmental Assessment. November 2018.
- QIA. 2019. Tusaqtavut Study (Study) on the Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation's (Proponent) Mary River Project (Project) Phase 2 Proposal. Report submitted to Nunavut Impact Review Board. June 2019.
- Qikiqtaaluk Wildlife Board (QWB). 2022. Submission to the Nunavut Wildlife Management Board (NWBM). Regular Meeting No. RM 001-2022. 01 February 2022.
- R Core Team. 2021. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www.R-project.org/.
- Reeves R.R. and Mitchell E. 1988. Distribution and seasonality of killer whales in the eastern Canadian Arctic. Rit Fiskideildar, 11: 136–160.
- Riewe, R.R. 1977. The utilization of wildlife in the Jones Sound region by the Grise Fiord Inuit. In: L.C. Bliss (ed.) Truelove Lowland, Devon Island, Canada: A High Arctic Ecosystem. University of Alberta Press. Edmonton, Alberta. p. 623-644.

- Richard, P., P. Weaver, P. Dueck and L. Barber. 1994. Distribution and numbers of Canadian high arctic narwhal, (*Monodon monoceros*) in August 1984. Medd. om Grønl. Biosci. 39:41-50.
- Richard, P., J.L. Laake, R.C. Hobbs, M.P. Heide-Jørgensen, N.C. Asselin and H. Cleator. 2010. Baffin Bay narwhal population distribution and numbers: Aerial surveys in the Canadian High Arctic, 2002-04. Arctic. 63: 85-99.
- Schweinsburg, R.E., L.J. Lee and P Latour. 1982. Distribution, movement, and abundance of polar bears in Lancaster Sound, Northwest Territories. Arctic 35:159-169.
- Scientific Working Group of Canada-Greenland Joint Commission on Polar Bear (SWG). 2016. Re-assessment of the Baffin Bay and Kane Basin polar bear subpopulations: Final report to the Canada-Greenland Joint Commission on Polar Bear. July, 31, 2016, 636 p.
- Sikumiut Environmental Management Ltd. (SEM). 2014. 2014 Ship-Based Observer Pilot Program. Prepared by Sikumiut Environmental Management Ltd., St. John's, NL for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario. 17 p. + appendices.
- SEM. 2016. 2015 Ship-Based Observer Program. Prepared by Sikumiut Environmental Management Ltd., St. John's, NL for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario. 14 p. + appendices.
- Smith, H.R., J.R. Brandon, P. Abgrall, M. Fitzgerald, R.E. Elliott and V.D. Moulton. 2015. Shore-based monitoring of narwhal and vessels at Bruce Head, Milne Inlet, 30 July – 8 September 2014. LGL Report No. FA0013. Prepared by LGL Limited, King City, ON for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, ON. 73 p. + appendices.
- Smith, H.R., S. Raborn, M. Fitzgerald and V.D. Moulton. 2016. Shore-based monitoring of narwhal and vessels at Bruce Head, Milne Inlet, 29 July – 5 September 2015. LGL Report No. FA0044. Prepared by LGL Limited, King City, ON for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, ON. 70 p. + appendices.
- Smith, H.R., V.D. Moulton, S. Raborn, P. Abgrall, R.E. Elliott, and M. Fitzgerald. 2017. Shore-based monitoring of narwhal and vessels at Bruce Head, Milne Inlet, 2016. LGL Report No. FA0089-1. Prepared by LGL Limited, King City, Ontario for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario. 87 p. + appendices.
- Steiner N.S., W.W.L. Cheung, A.M. Cisneros-Montemayor, H. Drost, H. Hayashida, C. Hoover, J. Lam, T. Sou, U.R. Sumaila, P. Suprenand, T.C. Tai and D.L. VanderZwaag. 2019. Impacts of the Changing Ocean-Sea Ice System on the Key Forage Fish Arctic Cod (Boreogadus Saida) and Subsistence Fisheries in the Western Canadian Arctic—Evaluating Linked Climate, Ecosystem and Economic (CEE) Models. Frontiers in Marine Science. 6:179.
- Steiner, N.S., J. Bowman, K. Campbell, M. Chierici, E. Eronen-Rasimus, M. Falardeau, H. Flores, A. Fransson, H. Herr, S.J. Insley, H.M. Kauko, D. Lannuzel, L. Loseto, A. Lynnes, A. Majewski, K.M. Meiners, L.A. Miller, L. N. Michel, S. Moreau, M. Nacke, D. Nomura, L. Tedesco, J.A. van Franeker, M. A. van Leeuwe and P. Wongpan. 2021. Climate change impacts on sea-ice ecosystems and associated ecosystem services. Elem Sci Anth. 9:1
- Stroeve JC, Serreze MC, Holland MM, Kay JE, Malanik J, Barrett AP. 2012. The Arctic's rapidly shrinking sea ice cover: a research synthesis. Climatic Change 110:1005–1027.

- Southall, B.L., D.P. Nowacek, A.E. Bowles, V. Senigaglia, L. Bejder, and P.L. Tyack. 2021. Marine Mammal Noise Exposure Criteria: Assessing the Severity of Marine Mammal Behavioral Responses to Human Noise. Aquatic Mammals. 47(5): 421-464. SWG (Scientific Working Group of Canada-Greenland Joint Commission on Polar Bear). 2016. Re-assessment of the Baffin Bay and Kane Basin polar bear subpopulations: Final report to the Canada-Greenland Joint Commission on Polar Bear. July, 31, 2016, 636 p.
- Taylor, M.K. and L.J. Lee. 1995. Distribution and abundance of Canadian polar bear populations: A management perspective. Arctic 48:147-154.
- Thomas, T., P. Abgrall, S.W. Raborn, H. Smith, R.E. Elliott and V.D. Moulton. 2014. Narwhal and shipping: shorebased study at Bruce Head, Milne Inlet, August 2013. LGL Report No. TA8286-1. Prepared by LGL Limited, King City, ON for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, ON. 60 p. + appendices.
- Thomas, T.A., S. Raborn, R.E. Elliott, and V.D. Moulton. 2015. Marine mammal aerial surveys in Eclipse Sound, Milne Inlet, Navy Board Inlet, and Pond Inlet, 1 August – 22 October 2014. Final LGL Report No. FA0024-2. Prepared by LGL Limited, King City, ON for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, ON. 70 p.
- Thomas, T.A., S. Raborn, R.E. Elliott and V.D. Moulton. 2016. Marine mammal aerial surveys in Eclipse Sound, Milne Inlet and Pond Inlet, 1 August – 17 September 2015. LGL Draft Report No. FA0059-2. Prepared by LGL Limited, King City, ON for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, ON. 85 p. + appendices.
- Tuck, L.M. 1957. Wildlife Investigations in the Cape Hay Region, Lancaster Sound, 1957. Report to the Canadian Wildlife Service.
- Víkingsson, G.A., D.G. Pike, H. Valdimarsson, A, Schleimer, T. Gunnlaugsson, T. Silva, B.P. Elvarsson, B. Mikkelsen, N. Øien, G. Desportes, V. Bogason and P.S. Hammond. 2015. Distribution, abundance, and feeding ecology of baleen whales in Icelandic waters: have recent environmental changes had an effect? Front. Ecol. Evol. 2: 161-172
- Watt, C.A., J. Orr, B. LeBlanc, R. Richard and S.H. Ferguson. 2012. Satellite tracking of narwhal (*Monodon monoceros*) from Admiralty Inlet (2009) and Eclipse Sound (2010- 2011). DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2012/046. iii + 17 p.
- Watt, C.A., Marcoux, M., Asselin, N.C., Orr, J.R., and Ferguson, S.H. 2015. Instantaneous availability bias correction for calculating aerial survey abundance estimates for narwhal (*Monodon monoceros*) in the Canadian High Arctic. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2015/044. v + 13 p.
- WSP. 2023. 2022 Bruce Head Shore-based Monitoring Report Final Report. Report No. 166372401-438-R-Rev0-63000. 27 April 2023.
- Young, B.G., D.J. Yurkowski, J.B. Dunn, and S.H. Ferguson. 2019. Comparing infrared imagery to traditional methods for estimating ringed seal density. Wildlife Society Bulletin https://doi.org/10.1002/wsb.958.
- Yurkowski, D.J., B.G. Young, J.B. Dunn, and S.H. Ferguson. 2018. Spring distribution of ringed seals (*Pusa hispida*) in Eclipse Sound and Milne Inlet, Nunavut: implications for potential ice-breaking activities. Arctic Science https://doi.org/10.1139/as-2018-0020.

APPENDIX A

MMO Training Manual



2022 Marine Mammal Aerial Survey Program Training Manual

Submitted to:

Submitted by:

Golder Associates Ltd.

237 - 4th Avenue SW, Suite 3300, Calgary, Alberta, T2P 4K3, Canada

+1 403 299 5600

1663724-391-R-Rev0-59000

8 July 2022

Distribution List

Table of Contents

1.0	INTRODUCTION1		1
2.0	PROGRAM OBJECTIVES AND OVERVIEW1		1
3.0	HEALTH AND SAFETY1		1
	3.1	Aircraft	1
	3.2	Personnel	2
4.0	FIELD	PROGRAM	3
	4.1	Survey Area	3
	4.2	Flight and Observational Procedures	5
	4.3	Photographic Data	6
	4.4	Photographic Surveys	6
5.0	DAIL	Y ROUTINES	7
6.0	EQUIPMENT		7
7.0	DATA	COLLECTION	9
	7.1	Navigator/Data Manger	9
	7.2	Primary and Secondary Observers	10
	7.2.1	Environmental Data	10
	7.2.2	Sighting Data	11
8.0	DATA	MANAGEMENT	14
	8.1	Data Transcription	14
	8.1.1	Flight Data	14
	8.1.2	Environmental/Effort Data	14
	8.1.3	Sighting Data	15
	8.2	Data Editing	15
	8.3	Data Storage and Backup	16
SIG	SIGNATURE PAGE		
9.0	REFE	RENCES	18

TABLES

Table 1: Environmental Codes	10
Table 2: Sighting Data Codes	12

FIGURES

Figure 1: Aircraft de Havilland Canada DHC-6 Twin Otter operated by Kenn Borek Air Ltd.	2
Figure 2: Geographic strata for Eclipse Sound Grid (on the right) and Admiralty Inlet Grid (on the left)	3
Figure 3: Leg 1 transect lines for the Eclipse Sound study area	4
Figure 4: Leg 2 transect lines for the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet study areas.	5
Figure 5: Twin Otter aircraft configuration with aerial crew locations	9

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A Camera Setup

APPENDIX B Examples of Environmental and Sighting Data

APPENDIX C

Hard Copy Datasheets for Secondary Observers

1.0 INTRODUCTION

The Marine Mammal Aerial Survey Program (MMASP) represents one of several programs that were developed to support the Mary River Project (the Project). The MMASP is part of the Marine Monitoring Program (MMP) for marine mammals, in accordance with Project Certificate (PC) terms and conditions issued for the Project. This manual was developed by experienced marine mammal observers to help train other biologists who may or may not have aerial survey experience.

A marine mammal observer (MMO) is a person with training in marine mammal survey techniques. These survey techniques include spotting and identifying marine mammals, determining location of sightings and their movement, and recording environmental variables.

This MMASP training manual will cover the following:

- objectives of the MMASP
- health and safety
- field program overview and procedures
- survey equipment
- data collection, management, and backup

2.0 PROGRAM OBJECTIVES AND OVERVIEW

The 2022 MMASP is proposed to occur during two separate survey legs: Leg 1 (early shoulder season) and Leg 2 (open-water season). The Leg 1 surveys are proposed to occur over a 14-day window in mid-July, during the staging period when narwhal and other marine mammals await ice break-out prior to their entry into Eclipse Sound and Milne Inlet. The objective of the Leg 1 surveys is to collect data on the presence/absence and distribution of marine mammals prior to and during initial shipping operations in the RSA. These surveys aim to address identified data gaps for narwhal during ice break-up in the early shoulder season. Leg 2 surveys are proposed to occur over a 14-day window in August corresponding with the peak open-water period. The objective of Leg 2 surveys is to obtain an updated (2022) abundance estimate for the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet narwhal summer stocks, as well as for other marine mammal species in the Regional Study Area (RSA). Survey design and data collection methodology previously developed by Fisheries and Oceans Canada (DFO) (Matthews et al. 2017; Marcoux et al. 2016; Doniol-Valcroze et al. 2015; Asselin and Richard 2011; Golder 2020, 2021) will be used to allow for a comparison to previously reported abundance estimates.

3.0 HEALTH AND SAFETY

3.1 Aircraft

Leg 1 and 2 surveys will be flown in a de Havilland Canada DHC-6 Twin Otter aircraft operated by Kenn Borek Air Ltd. (Ken Borek; Figure 1). This short takeoff and landing utility aircraft seats 19 passengers, has a maximum range of approximately 4.5 hours or 1207 km (750 miles) and a cruise speed of 265 km/h (165 mph).

Kenn Borek's safety management system is consistent and aligned with Transport Canada's highest airline standard complete with Emergency Response Plan and Quality Assurance Program. Kenn Borek continuously monitors and develops the following safety objectives:

- Non-punitive Policy
- Proactive Reporting
- Annual Goal Setting
- Management of Change / Risk Management Program
- Corrective Action Planning and Quality Assurance Oversight
- Continuous promotion of a safe and just culture by all Kenn Borek Air management



Figure 1: Aircraft de Havilland Canada DHC-6 Twin Otter operated by Kenn Borek Air Ltd.

3.2 Personnel

MMOs are expected to familiarize themselves with aircraft exit locations and safety equipment on-board the aircraft. This information will be reviewed during the safety briefing prior to each flight. In addition to aircraft safety, all MMOs must read and understand the MMASP program-specific Health, Safety, Security and Environment (HSSE) Plan which will be reviewed prior to the start of MMASP related work. A major component of the HSSE Plan is the identification of potential health and safety hazards associated with the MMASP including environmental conditions and MMO activities and the implementation of the controls necessary to minimize the risk to people. The program specific HSSE Plan is based on the assessment of previous worksites and similar activities and is a dynamic document that can be modified if things change during the MMASP. The HSSE plan will typically cover the following information:

- personnel contact information
- emergency contact information

- Safe Work Practices and Procedures
- toolbox meetings (to be completed at the start of every day)
- incident reporting

4.0 FIELD PROGRAM

4.1 Survey Area

Two survey grids (Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet) encompass the survey area for the 2022 MMASP. Eclipse Sound Grid is divided into nine strata (Baffin Bay, Pond Inlet, Eclipse Sound East, Eclipse Sound West, Navy Board Inlet, Tremblay Sound, Milne Inlet North, Milne Inlet South, and Fjords; Figure 2). Admiralty Inlet Grid is divided into three strata (Admiralty Inlet North, Admiralty Inlet South, and Fjords; Figure 2).



Figure 2: Geographic strata for Eclipse Sound Grid (on the right) and Admiralty Inlet Grid (on the left).

Leg 1 study area encompasses the Eclipse Sound Grid and is based on the boundaries flown in previous surveys from 2013–2016 (DFO 2017; Golder 2017), with the addition of a Baffin Bay stratum (Figure 2). Leg 1 is designed to focus in the open-water area around the floe edge (blue and yellow/orange lines in Figure 3) in the Baffin Bay or eastern Pond Inlet strata where narwhal are known to stage prior to entering Eclipse Sound. Reconnaissance flights will be flown periodically in Tremblay Sound, Eclipse Sound and Milne Inlet to verify narwhal presence/absence. If narwhal are observed in these strata, the entire survey grid will be flown, including all strata (switching from yellow/orange floe edge line and blue transect lines to red transect lines in Figure 3).



Figure 3: Leg 1 transect lines for the Eclipse Sound study area.

Leg 2 will survey Eclipse Sound Grid and Admiralty Inlet Grid within a two- to three-day period to obtain an estimate of narwhal abundance in the combined areas. The boundaries for the Eclipse Sound Grid are the same as those for Leg 1 with the exclusion of the Baffin Bay stratum (see Figure 2). As during Leg 1, systematic random visual line-transect surveys will be flown for all strata (except Tremblay Sound and Milne Inlet South where photographic surveys will be conducted) with the location of the first line chosen at random (Figure 4). A photographic survey with complete coverage will be flown for the Tremblay Sound and Milne Inlet South strata. Reconnaissance flights in Eclipse Fjords will be flown when time and weather permits.

The boundaries for Admiralty Inlet are divided into three strata (see Figure 4). Systematic random visual linetransect surveys will be flown for the North and South strata with the location of the first line chosen at random (Figure 4). Reconnaissance flights in the fjords will be flown when time and weather permits.

During visual line-transect surveys, if large aggregations (e.g., >50 narwhals or when observers indicated that they cannot accurately keep up with narwhal counts) are identified, a photographic survey will be flown with complete coverage over the group to allow for accurate counts of animals. To identify aggregations observed during visual surveys, all personnel on board the aircraft are instructed to look out for herds of narwhal and alert

everyone when one was sighted. When such an aggregation is located, lines will be flown in a cross pattern over the group, to determine its spatial extent. Using pre-planned survey grids, the aggregation will be photographed using a systematic grid with complete coverage as seen in Figure 4 for the Milne Inlet South and Tremblay Sound strata.



Figure 4: Leg 2 transect lines for the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet study areas.

4.2 Flight and Observational Procedures

Each survey will be flown along the transect lines at a target altitude of 305 m (1,000 feet) with a target speed of 185 km/h (100 knots). The survey aircraft for all survey Legs will consist of a de Havilland Twin Otter 300 equipped with four bubble windows on the sides and a large belly window used for cameras. MMOs will be stationed at the front and rear bubble windows that provide a view of the track line directly below the aircraft. Visual surveys will be conducted as a double-platform experiment with independent observation platforms at the front (primary) and rear (secondary) of the survey plane. The two observers stationed on the same side of the aircraft will be separated visually and acoustically to achieve independence of their conditional detections. A fifth member of the survey team will be responsible for overseeing camera operations, data entry, and navigation along the survey grid.

Observers will focus on the area closest to the track line and use their peripheral vision for sightings farther afield. Primary observers will record every marine mammal sighting by speaking into a hand-held audio recorder to supplement the data being collected in real time in Mysticetus. Secondary observers will also record every marine mammal sighting in a hand-held audio recorder, as well as enter partial observation records in Mysticetus. Each sighting record will include information on time, species type, group size, group composition (presence of calves, mother/calf pairs, adults, number of tusks, etc.), direction of travel (heading), speed of travel, sighting cue, behaviour, and activity. A group is defined as animals within one to a few body lengths of each other and oriented or moving in a similar direction. Observers will give priority to estimating group size, especially when densities are high, followed by other variables (direction of movement, presence of young, number of tusks) if time permits. Geometers will automatically assign the perpendicular declination angle of each sighting in the Mysticetus program for the primary and secondary observers. Position and altitude of the plane will be recorded every second using a GPS connected to a laptop running Mysticetus. A dedicated Bluetooth GPS unit and iPad will also be used to track the aircraft location using specialized navigational mapping software (Foreflight pre-programmed with the survey transect grid).

Observational conditions (environmental data) will be recorded onto the audio recorders by the primary observers at the start of each transect and re-stated at any time a change was detected throughout the survey. Conditions will include sea state (Beaufort scale), ice concentration (in tenths), fog (% cover in field of view and intensity), and glare (% of forward field of view and intensity). Environmental data will be entered into Mysticetus after each flight.

4.3 Photographic Data

To supplement visual observations, the aircraft will collect continuous photographic records below the aircraft using dual oblique cameras pointing downwards towards either side of the track line. A three-second interval between photographs will allow for a target overlap of 20% between successive photographs along the direction of the aircraft at the survey altitude of 1,000 ft above sea level. The aircraft will be fitted with a camera belly port hatch to accommodate a custom camera frame and two Canon EOS 5DS R Digital Single Lens Reflex (DSLR) still cameras.

Each camera will be connected to a laptop and controlled remotely (settings, start and stop). Photographs will be stored in high-resolution RAW format. At the end of each survey photos will be transferred to an external hard drive.

4.4 Photographic Surveys

During visual line-transect surveys, if large aggregations (>50 narwhals or when observers indicate that they cannot accurately keep up with narwhal counts) are identified, a photographic survey will be flown with complete coverage over the group to allow for accurate counts of animals. To better quantify large narwhal aggregations observed on the visual surveys, all personnel on board the aircraft will be instructed to look out for herds of narwhal and alert everyone when one was sighted. When such an aggregation is located, two lines will be flown in a cross pattern over the group to determine its spatial extent. Using the pre-planned survey grid, the aggregation will be photographed using a systematic grid with complete coverage. A six-second interval between photographs will allow for a target overlap of ~15% between successive photographs along the direction of the aircraft at the survey altitude of 2,000 ft above sea level. During Leg 2 a dedicated photographic survey will be flown in the Milne Inlet South and Tremblay Sound strata where narwhal are known to concentrate at that time of the year.

5.0 DAILY ROUTINES

Every morning the aerial crew will meet at a designated area to take the bus to the Weather Haven where they will remain for the duration of the day awaiting a weather window for a survey. Upon arriving at the Weather Haven a daily toolbox session will be initiated with the aerial crew and a plan put into motion to either prepare for a survey or to check back in an allotted time if weather conditions are not favorable for a survey. Weather requirements for surveying include a ceiling of greater than 333 m (1,000 ft) and sea states of less than Beaufort level five.

Flight days—If the weather permits a flight, the lead MMO will set up a time for departure. Typical flight days range in length from 10-12 hours depending upon weather. *Punctuality is required*. Delays or missing crew members can force the survey to be canceled. Bring water and food for the flight, keeping in mind that the plane has no toilet. A small bag including toiletries and a coat are also good to bring, as sometimes poor weather may require the use of an alternate landing site. Each MMO will be supplied with a dry suit to wear while working on the aircraft and a headset. After a flight, it is important to enter and validate the data as soon as possible. Depending on the landing time, this could be either that evening or the next morning.

Non-flight days—Typical workdays range in length from 8–10 hours depending upon the number of trained staff members available, the weather, and how much data needs processing from the previous day. When no surveys are flown MMO's will be expected to do data entry and validation.

6.0 EQUIPMENT



Clinometer

Depression angle from the horizon to the sighting is determined using a clinometer when the marine mammal is perpendicular to the aircraft. Use only one clinometer reading for the center of a group (no angle ranges). See Appendix B for instructions of use.



Geometer

When the marine mammal is perpendicular to the aircraft, sight the animal in the center of the scope and press the button on the front of the geometer. This will automatically record sighting time and declination angles of the sighting in the Mysticetus program. This device can be used instead of the clinometer.



Digital Recorder

Digital recorders will be used to record sighting data and environmental data to be transcribed to the Mysticetus database at the end of each flight.



Laptop with Mysticetus program

The Mysticetus program will be used to record GPS tracks and waypoints (transect start and stop, sightings, and environmental data) during each survey. After each survey, additional data will be entered on a laptop computer into the Mysticetus database. The database is programmed with data forms (drop-don menus) and data entry fields that are specific to the type of data being collected.



Bad Elf GPS

A Bad Elf GPS Pro device will be used to track the aircraft during marine mammal surveys at one second intervals.

Each GPS device should be turned on at the start of the flight by pressing the "ON" button located on the left side of the device. It may take a few minutes for the device to acquire satellites.

The MMO should check the GPS device regularly during the flight to ensure that it has not lost signal and is working properly.



Camera Equipment

Each aircraft will be equipped with two identical camera systems, using Canon EOS 5DS DSLR cameras fitted with 35 mm lenses. The cameras will be connected to a laptop computer to control exposure settings and photo interval. The cameras will be installed within the camera hatch on a custom-made mount. Images will be saved directly to the internal camera cards. The cameras will be oriented widthwise (long side perpendicular to the track line) and angled obliquely: one to the port side and the other to the starboard side. See Appendix A for detailed camera setup.



Personal Protective Equipment

Observers will be provided with a dry suit and a headset prior to each flight.

7.0 DATA COLLECTION

Each aerial survey crew consists of five positions: two primary observers (front observers), two secondary observers (rear observers), and the navigator/data manager (Figure 5). The positions are assigned prior to takeoff and have different responsibilities, however during long flights positions can be rotated during refuelling to reduce fatigue.



Figure 5: Twin Otter aircraft configuration with aerial crew locations

7.1 Navigator/Data Manger

A specially designed electronic database (Mysticetus) with mapping software will be downloaded with the survey track lines so the observers can be notified by the navigator of the start and stop point of the transects. Geometers will automatically populate Mysticetus with the date, time, location (i.e., GPS coordinates), observer and declination angle of the primary and secondary observer sightings. The data manager will supplement the sighting data for the primary observers. A drop-down menu is available to facilitate recording data collected during the survey, but some data will be transcribed from the audio recorders into the database after the flight. Supplemental sighting data for the secondary observers will be entered after completion of the survey. Primary and secondary observers will be connected to separate computers each running their own version of Mysticetus. A portable GPS unit will be plugged into each computer to record GPS positions and waypoints during each flight with the Mysticetus program. The date, time, and GPS coordinates are automatically recorded with each one-second point on the track line.

The data manager will be responsible for keeping a flight log in the Mysticetus database connected to the primary observers. The flight log should have the date, flight number, start (aircraft starts moving) and stop (aircraft stops moving) times, and the survey number for each time the aircraft is flown.

7.2 Primary and Secondary Observers

At the start of the flight, each observer is issued a geometer, synchronized wristwatch, and digital voice recorder. Primary observers sit in the forward right and left seats and collect environmental and sightings data used for analyses. The two most experienced MMOs on the aircraft should be occupying the primary observer positions. Secondary observers sit in the rear right and left seats and are collecting sightings data to be used in the doubleplatform experiment. The double-platform experiment requires independent observation platforms at the front (primary) and rear (secondary) of the survey plane. The two observers stationed on the same side of the aircraft will be separated visually and acoustically to achieve independence of their conditional detections.

7.2.1 Environmental Data

Environmental conditions are recorded at the start and end of each transect and whenever conditions change within the viewing area (Table 1). The viewing area is estimated out to approximately 1 km from the aircraft (see Appendix B). Four environmental conditions are recorded:

- Ice tenths cover: Tenths of the viewing area covered in ice.
- Beaufort wind force (Beaufort Sea State): Visual conditions of the wave height and froth.
- Glare: Percentage of searching area affected by sun reflection and intensity.
- **Fog**: Percentage of the viewing area obscured due to fog and level of intensity.

See Appendix B for examples of the various environmental conditions.

Environmental Type	Code	Description
Ice Cover	0/10 - 10/10	Ice cover within viewing area
Beaufort Wind Force	0	Sea like a mirror
	1	Ripples with the appearance of scales are formed, but without foam crests
	2	Small wavelets, short but more pronounced. Crests have glassy appearance and don't break.
	3	Smooth, large wavelets. Crests begin to break. Scattered whitecaps.
	4	Small waves, becoming longer. Fairly frequent whitecaps.
	5	Moderate waves, taking a pronounced long form. Many whitecaps.
	6	Large waves forming, white foam crests more extensive everywhere. Probably spray.
	7-12	Ranges from a gale to a hurricane.

Table 1: Environmental Codes

Environmental Type	Code	Description
Percent Glare	0 -100%	Percent glare obscuring viewing area
Glare Intensity	Intense	When animals were certainly missed in the center of reflection angle
	Medium	When animals were likely missed in the center of reflection angle
	Low	When animals were likely detected in center of reflection angle
	None	No glare
Fog Cover	0 -100%	Percent fog obscuring viewing area
Fog Intensity	Thick	Dense thick fog that you cannot see through
	Moderate	Thick and light fog interspersed, can see through at times
	Light	Light fog that you can see through
	None	No fog

7.2.2 Sighting Data

Sighting data is recorded every time a marine mammal is sighted (Table 2). Examples with descriptions of each sighting type are provided in Appendix B.

Observers will trigger the geometer when a marine mammal is spotted **perpendicular** to the aircraft so the sighting along with the date, time, location, observer and declination angle is automatically entered in the Mysticetus program. Primary observers will notify the Mysticetus operator (i.e., data manager) of the species and group size.

Both primary and secondary observers will record the following additional information about the sighting on their digital voice recorder in order of importance:

- Time: hour, minute and second
- **Species**: name of species observed
- **Group size**: number of individuals in group
- Included/excluded: on transect or on transit
- Direction of movement: clockface direction of movement in relation to the aircraft
- Speed: relative speed of animal's movement
- Age/sex: apparent age of the animal and if tusk present
- Behavior: movements or biological processes in which animal is engaged
- Activity: a collection of behaviors that indicate the animal is working toward an overall goal (e.g., feeding, migrating)
- Sighting cue: What alerted you to the sighting?
Table 2: Sighting Data Codes

Sighting Type	Code	Description			
Species	Species (e.g., narwhal)	Narwhal, bowhead, beluga, ringed seal, harp seal, walrus, etc.			
Group Size	#	Number of individuals in group (group is defined as animals that are within one body length of each other and oriented or moving in a similar direction).			
Clinometer angle	# degrees	Depression angle from the horizon to the sighting as determined using a clinometer when the marine mammal is perpendicular to the aircraft. Use only one clinometer reading for the center of a group (no angle ranges). If using a geometer, sighting time and depression angle are automatically stored on a laptop with the press of the button. Clinometers will only be used if needed.			
Include/Exclude	Include	A sighting seen within the field of view on transect, at the surface or clearly visible just below surface, and at survey altitude.			
	Exclude	If the sighting is seen on transit, or outside the field of view (i.e., behind the aircraft or well beyond 1 km), or barely visible below surface, or seen when flying above normal survey altitude (i.e., on transit flights).			
Direction of movement	Clockface 1-12	Clockface direction of movement in relation to the aircraft. 12 o'clock means animal is moving in same direction as aircraft.			
Speed	Fast	When animal is swimming rapidly through the water, often associated with splashes. Wake left behind.			
	Moderate	When animal is swimming moderately through water, often associated with trail behind animal.			
	Slow	When animal is swimming slowly through water, but trail barely visible in water.			
	Not moving	Animal is stationary, no movement.			
Age	# adults	Large whitish animals should be assumed to be adults. Dark animals that are 85% or larger than the length of whitish adults should be assumed to be adults. Code unknown if not sure.			
	# juveniles	Dark in color and 15% smaller than adult. May have short tusk present. Code unknown if not sure.			
	# calves	Whitish to grey in appearance and slightly less than half of the length of the adult female. Code unknown if not sure.			
Sex	# males	If tusk visible code as male. Code unknown if not sure.			
	# females	If no tusk visible and not accompanied by a calf. Code as female.			
	# mother	Code as mother if seen with a calf.			
		Code unknown if not sure.			
Activity	Feeding	Animal seen feeding or evidence of prey observed.			
	Traveling	Moving in a distinct direction with a moderate to fast pace.			
	Resting	Animal lying motionless at the surface of the water or on the ice/land.			

Sighting Type	Code	Description		
	Milling	Moving but net movement is near zero, e.g., swimming in circles.		
	Socializing	Engaged in social activity (involving more than one animal).		
	Unknown	Nothing recorded.		
Behaviour	Hauled out	Hauled out on ice or land (pinnipeds). Primary behaviour to record for pinnipeds.		
	Diving	Animal descends below the surface.		
	Fluking	When a whale raises its fluke as it dives beneath the water.		
	Surfacing	When a marine mammal is observed coming to the surface of the water.		
	Swimming	Animal is swimming at the surface.		
	Surface activity	Splashing, jumping, flipper or tail slapping, implies social interaction.		
	Looking	When animal is in an upright position with its head out of the water and is actively looking at something (pinniped or polar bear).		
	Blow	When whale releases air from its lungs at the surface of the water, observed as clouds of moist air. Can be visible at far distances.		
	Breaching	When a whale leaps with its entire body out of the water.		
	Spyhopping	When a whale raises its head vertically out of the water so that its eyes are clear of the surface.		
	Walking/Running/S tanding	Polar bear walking, running, or standing on ice or land.		
	Dead	Observation of a dead marine mammal.		
	Logging	When a marine mammal is on the surface and is neither swimming nor moving		
	Unknown	Nothing recorded.		
Sighting cue	Blow	Whale exhales breath at surface of water seen as a watery mist.		
	Body	Body or marine mammal.		
	Footprint	Surface of the water looks disturbed and are made when a marine mammal has just been on or near the surface of the water.		
	Splash	Splashes may be a sign that a marine mammal is present.		
	Birds	Aggregation of birds may be attracted to marine mammal when they are feeding.		
	Unknown	Nothing recorded.		

8.0 DATA MANAGEMENT

One of the most important parts of the work is to carefully record information on all sightings/observations during the survey onto the audio recorders and transcribe that data into the database after every flight. This information is critical to the success of the MMASP Program. A lot of time and mentorship will be spent on training to properly, efficiently, and consistently record information.

8.1 Data Transcription

Once the survey is complete, data from the voice recorders must be transcribed into the Mysticetus database for the primary observers or on data sheets for the secondary observers as soon as possible so that people may be able to accurately fill in any data not recorded during the survey. There will be prompts to enable the MMO to enter data efficiently and out-of-range error checking to ensure that only plausible values can be entered into the database. The Mysticetus database includes three types of data: flight data, environmental/effort data, and marine mammal sightings data.

8.1.1 Flight Data

Flight data is recorded by the data recorder during the flight and is assigned waypoints in the tracking program. Flight data includes the following data:

- Date
- Location (Eclipse Sound or Admiralty Inlet)
- Survey number
- Flight number (can take up to four flights to complete a survey)
- Observers and their locations on the aircraft

8.1.2 Environmental/Effort Data

Environmental/effort data are assigned waypoints in the database by the data recorder during the flight. Primary observers will fill in specific information associated with the waypoints after the flight from their audio recordings. Environmental/effort data include the following data:

- Start and stop transects (assigned a waypoint by data recorder during flight)
- Environmental record (assigned a waypoint by data recorder during flight)
- Ice cover for environmental record (filled in by primary observer audio recordings after flight)
- Beaufort wind force for environmental record (filled in by primary observer audio recordings after flight)
- Glare cover and intensity for environmental record (filled in by primary observer audio recordings after flight)
- Fog cover and intensity for environmental record (filled in by primary observer audio recordings after flight)

8.1.3 Sighting Data

Marine mammal sightings are assigned waypoints in the database by the data recorder during the flight. Primary and secondary observers will fill in specific information associated with the waypoints after the flight from their audio recorders. Sighting data include the following waypoints:

- Marine mammal sighting (assigned a waypoint by geometer during flight)
- Species (filled in by data recorder in real time for primary observer or by primary/secondary observer audio recordings after flight)
- Group size (filled in by data recorder in real time for primary observer or by primary/secondary observer audio recordings after flight)
- Clinometer angle (automatically entered by geometer)
- Observer (automatically entered by geometer)
- Include/exclude (filled in by primary/secondary observer audio recordings after flight)
- Direction of movement (filled in by primary/secondary observer audio recordings after flight)
- Speed (filled in by primary/secondary observer audio recordings after flight)
- Age (filled in by primary/secondary observer audio recordings after flight)
- Sex (filled in by primary/secondary observer audio recordings after flight)
- Activity (filled in by primary/secondary observer audio recordings after flight)
- Behaviour (filled in by primary/secondary observer audio recordings after flight)
- Sighting cue (filled in by primary/secondary observer audio recordings after flight)

Once all data have been entered, all electronic entries should be compared to digital recordings again, by a different observer, to check for errors. Backups of the database should be made regularly and stored on an external hard drive and another computer.

8.2 Data Editing

Check your own work at the end of each survey to ensure accuracy. If you note a mistake, and can remember the details, correct it and initial the changes. If you cannot remember, do not make a guess. Missing data are preferable to incorrect data. All columns should be filled out to the best of your ability; there should be no blank spaces in the spreadsheet. Additionally, if you note a mistake by another MMO, bring it to their attention as soon as possible, so it can be corrected.

8.3 Data Storage and Backup

MMOs are required to do the following measures after each survey is complete to help prevent collected data from being lost:

- Data recorded onto the digital recorders must be backed up onto the field computer.
- Mysticetus data should be backed up regularly in several places: external hard drive, lead MMO's laptop and on the field computer, as coordinated by the lead MMO. Backups should be double-checked to ensure that data were successfully transferred.

The photographic images will be backed up after every flight and a copy made for duplicates.

SIGNATURE PAGE

Golder Associates Ltd.

1

Tannis Thomas, MSc Biologist

atre Byell

Patrick Abgrall Senior Marine Biologist

TT/PA/syd

Golder and the G logo are trademarks of Golder Associates Corporation

https://golderassociates.sharepoint.com/sites/11206g/deliverables (do not use)/issued to client_for wp/300-399/1663724-391-r-rev0-59000/1663724-391-r-rev0-59000/1663724-391-r-rev0-59000/1663724-391-r-rev0-59000/1663724-391-r-rev0-59000/1663724-391-r-rev0-59000/1663724-391-r-rev0-59000/1663724-391-r-rev0-59000/1663724-391-r-rev0-59000/1663724-391-r-rev0-59000/1663724-391-r-rev0-59000/1663724-391-r-rev0-59000/1663724-391-r-rev0-59000/1663724-391-rev0-59000/1663724-391-rev0-59000/1663724-391-rev0-59000/1663724-391-rev0-59000/1663724-391-rev0-59000/1663724-391-rev0-59000/1663724-391-rev0-59000/1663724-391-rev0-59000/1663724-391-rev0-59000/1663724-391-rev0-59000/1663724-391-rev0-59000/1663724-391-rev0-59000/1

9.0 **REFERENCES**

- DFO. 2017. Field Summary Report 2016 Narwhal Aerial Surveys (3-24 August) (Pond Inlet/Eclipse Sound & Milne Inlet / Admiralty Inlet). 10 p.
- Matthews, C.J.D., Watt, C.A., Asselin, N.C., Dunn, J.B., Young, B.G., Montison, L.M., Westdal, K.H., Hall, P.A., Orr, J.R., Ferguson, S.H., and M. Marcoux. 2017. Estimated abundance of the Western Hudson Bay beluga stock from the 2015 visual and photographic aerial survey. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2017/061. v + 20 p.
- Marcoux, M., B. Young, N. C. Asselin, C. A. Watt, J. B. Dunn, and S. H. Ferguson. 2016. Estimate of Cumberland Sound beluga (*Delphinapterus leucas*) population size from the 2014 visual and photographic aerial survey. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2016/037. lv + 19 p.
- Doniol-Valcroze, T, Gosselin, J.F., Pike, D., Lawson, J., Asselin, N., Hedges, K., and S. Ferguson. 2015a. Abundance estimates of narwhal stocks in the Canadian High Arctic in 2013. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2015/060. v + 36 p.
- Asselin, N.C. and P.R. Richard, 2011. Results of narwhal (*Monodon monoceros*) aerial surveys in Admiralty Inlet, August 2010. DFO Can. Sci. Advis. Sec. Res. Doc. 2011/065. iv + 26 p.
- Golder Associates Ltd. (Golder). 2017. Integration Report: Marine Mammals in Eclipse Sound, Milne Inlet and Pond Inlet. Golder Report No. 1663724-006-R-Rev0. 91 p. + appendices.
- Golder Associates Ltd. 2020. 2019 Marine Mammal Aerial Survey. Golder Report No.1663724-191-R-Rev0. Prepared by Golder Associates Ltd., Victoria, BC for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario. 98 p.
- Golder Associates Ltd. 2021. Draft 2020 Marine Mammal Aerial Survey. Golder Report No.1663724-270-R-RevB. Prepared by Golder Associates Ltd., Victoria, BC for Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation, Oakville, Ontario. 99 p.

1663724-391-R-Rev0-59000

APPENDIX A

Camera Setup

CAMERA SETUP

Camera Settings

- Mark each camera left or right (small piece of electrical tape with a "L" or "R" in silver permanent marker), mark media cards left or right.
- In playback menu, turn rotate tall and image review off.
- In shooting menu set image quality to RAW size large, 14 bit, image area to FX (36X24) 1.0 x with auto DX crop off, color space to RGB, and turn active D-lighting to off.
- In setup menu format both the SD and CF cards and set camera to write to one card then overflow to the next card. Set camera date and time to the precise GPS date and time, do this at the start of every day, check the date-time at the end of every flight when you're back in the hotel to see if there is any drift. If there is drift record it so that true camera times can be estimated to get an accurate match with GPS time.
- Connect cameras to a laptop running the camera control software. Using the camera control software, set cameras to shoot in manual settings, shutter priority of at least 1/1600 s, the aperture can be set on automatic if you expect a large variability in the brightness of the photos, particularly when ice in present in the survey area. Try to balance to keep an f stop that is not wide open as there is some clutter introduced to the pixels when shooting at wide open but do not close the aperture too much either. You can increase the ISO to increase shutter speed but there is some noise introduced to the pixels at the highest ISOs. Setting the ISO at 400 to 800 should be acceptable if you need to go that high to get 1/1600 sec shutter speed. We should do some tests in the aircraft when we get the chance to evaluate the tradeoff between ISO and shutter speed.
- Be careful with AF buttons, make sure they are set manual, if need be tape with electrical tape, remove tape after each flight so that glues do not adhere too much.

Inverter

- Bring plenty of extension cords, plan layout before flight.
- Careful with cords draped over seats and along floors, there are pinch points that can cut or damage cables (electrical, antenna, GPS, serial).
- Duct tape cords to the walls to keep them from getting in the way or being tripped over.
- Turned on inverter at start of flight before action starts, may have to ask pilot, they usually turn it off when starting aircraft, best to indicate when they look back to check on passengers before beginning taxiing, or after take-off during level flight.

Mounting Cameras on the Frames

- Frame, aircraft floor, camera port opening may have sharp edges, be careful.
- Setup frame, set camera angles depending on how many cameras you intend on using (e.g., 2, 3 or 4), 2 is usually one looking left and one looking right. If using a 35 mm lens, adjust angles to 27 degrees from centerline using a digital protractor.
- Camera image long axis is usually perpendicular to the flight direction to get the maximum strip width.
- Fit camera to frame before first flight, make sure that lenses are not touching camera port glass and that frame is setup for least vibration, set camera mount delimiters if they are available so that the camera will not touch parts of the aircraft when they are shooting (airframe vibration transferred to camera, damage to glass, damage to camera). Prevent the edges of the camera port from being included in the photos taken.
- Connect electrical.
- Tape connections if you can, especially between AC/DC power supply and dummy battery lead of camera.
- Carefully mount camera taking care to avoid stretching cables to prevent connectors from coming loose.
- Fire test shots to verify the centerline is covered in the images.

For connecting all equipment in the aircraft refer to image below.



APPENDIX B

Examples of Environmental and Sighting Data This appendix contains examples of environmental and sighting data used in the data collection of the MMASP:

Environmental data includes:

- Ice cover
- Wind force
- Glare
- Fog

Sighting data contains:

- Species
- Number
- Clinometer
- Include/exclude
- Heading
- Speed
- Age
- Sighting cue
- Behavior
- Activity

Field of View

- Looking forward and to out to the side of the aircraft
- 90 degrees and out to 1 km



Environmental Data

- · Ice cover
- · Wind force
- · Glare
- Fog
- Subjective

Based on average of conditions





Percent ice cover



Beaufort Wind Force Chart

Wind Speed		Beaufort Wind	World	Wave	Description
Knots	m/s	Force	Organization Terms	(m)	
<1	<0.5	0	Calm	0	Glassy like a mirror
1-3	0.5-1.5	.1	Light air	<0.1	Ripples with the appearance of scales but no whitecaps or foam crests
4-6	2.1-3.1	2	Light breeze	0-0.1	Small wavelets, crests have a glassy appearance but do not break (no whitecaps)
7-10	3.6-5.1	3	Gentie breeze	0.1-0.5	Smooth large wavelets, crests begin to break, occasional/scattered whitecaps
11-16	5.7-8.2	4	Moderate breeze	0.5-1.2	Slight, small fairly frequent whitecaps
17-21	8.7-10.8	5	Fresh breeze	1.2-2.4	Moderate waves becoming longer, some spray, frequent moderate whitecaps
22-27	11.3-13.9	6	Strong breeze	2.4-4	Rough, larger waves, longer-formed waves, many large whitecaps
28-33	14.4-17.0	7	Near gale	4-6	Very rough, large waves forming, white foam crests everywhere, spray is present
34-40	17.5-20.6	8	Gale		
41-47	21.1-24.2	9	Strong gale		
48-55	24.7-28.3	10	Storm	6-9	High
56-63	28.8-32.4	11	Violent storm	9-14	Very high



NS) GOLDER



Wind Force 4

Frequent white-caps

Glare

Two measurements:

- Percent percent glare obscuring viewing area (0 - 100 %)
- Intensity intense, medium, low, or none







Fog

Two measurements:

- Percent percent fog obscuring viewing area (0 - 100 %)
- Intensity thick, moderate, light, or none







8 July 2022

(\S) GOLDER



Sighting Data

- · Collected for each sighting:
 - Species
 - · Number (group size)
 - · Clinometer angle
 - Include/exclude
- · Collected if time:
 - · Heading
 - · Speed
 - · Age
 - · Sighting Cue
 - · Activity/Behavior





Narwhal

- small whale 4.2 to 4.7 m
- low bushy blow
- spotted black and white coloration
- males have a tusk
- · tail convex on trailing edge





Beluga

- small whale 4.3 to 4.9 m
- low bushy blow
- adults white and calves are gray



Bowhead

- · large whale
- hump near blowhole
- · can have white on chin and tail
- · blows are v-shaped



Killer Whale

- mid-sized whale 9 m
- dorsal fin
- · black with white patches



Sperm Whale

Large whale 12.5 to 19.2 m
S-shaped blowhole at front of head and offset to left
Thick, low dorsal fin followed by series of bumps on dorsal ridge



Seals

- Ringed Seal
- Harp Seal
- Bearded Seal
- Hooded Seal



Ringed Seal

- Small seal 1.1 to 1.6 m
- Short thick neck and fat body
- Color: light gray rings encircle spots on back



- Harp Seal
- mid-sized seal 1.8 to 1.9 m
- old animals have harp pattern with black mask
 - · young animals have dark spots
 - can be seen in large groups porpoising



Bearded Seal

- large seal 2.1 to 2.5 m
- color light to dark gray or brown
- small head to body ratio
 densely packed vibrissae (beard)



Hooded Seal

- large seal 2.0 to 2.6 m
- silver white with dark blotches
- · face and muzzle very dark
- males with inflatable nasal cavity



Walrus

- large pinniped
- light to dark brown
- · white tusks



Polar Bear

NS GOLDER



Group Size

 Number of individuals in group (group is defined as animals that are within one or a few body lengths of each other and oriented or moving in a similar direction)

Using Clinometers

• Wait until the plane is perpendicular to the sighting. Then keep both eyes open and, looking though the inclinometer, line up the horizontal line with the center portion of the animal.

• Record the number on the <u>left</u> that the horizontal line passes through.

• If a group of several animals is sighted, measure from the center of the group.





Keep both eyes open!

•Line up mammal with horizontal line (use middle of mammal)

•Use scale on left = 17



Using Geometers

• Wait until the plane is perpendicular to the sighting.

 Sight the animal in the center of the scope and press the button on the front of the geometer.

 This will electronically record time and declination angles for the sighting in a text file.

• Takes into account the tilt, roll, and yaw of the aircraft.

• If a group of several animals is sighted, measure from the center of the group.

Include / Exclude

Include

 Sighting is on transect, within the field of view, at the surface or clearly visible just below surface, and at survey altitude

Exclude

 Sighting is on transit or outside of the field of view (i.e. behind the aircraft or well beyond 1 km distance), or barely visible below surface, or seen when flying above normal survey altitude (i.e. on transit flights above 1000 ft).

Heading

- Assume aircraft is always pointing to 12:00
- · Record clock face direction of animal (1 to 12)

Belugas heading towards 6:00

Speed

Fast

· White water streaming off bodies, wake left behind

Moderate

· Definite heading, steady motion, small amount of white water

Slow

Definite heading, forward motion observable, no white water visible

Not Moving

· Marine mammal is stationary, no movement



Narwhal age classes





Narwhal Calf Key

Sighting Cue

- Body
- · Blow
- Footprint
- Splash
- Birds











Behaviour

- · Hauled Out
- Diving
- Fluke
- Surfacing
- Swimming
- Surface Activity
- Looking
- Blow
- Breaching
- Spyhopping
- · Walking, Running, Standing (i.e. Polar Bear)
- Dead
- Logging



Hauled Out

Hauled out on ice or land (pinnipeds)



Diving

Marine mammal descends below the surface.



Fluke

Whale shows its fluke as it dives beneath the water.



Surfacing

Marine mammal observed coming to the surface of the water.




Swimming

Marine mammal swimming at the surface of the water



Surface Activity

Marine mammal splashing, jumping, flipper or tail slapping, implies social interaction

NS GOLDER

Looking

When animal is in an upright position with its head out of the water and is actively looking at something (pinniped or polar bear)





Blow

Marine mammal releases air from its lungs at the surface of the water, observed as clouds of moist air. Can be visible at far distances.

****SI GOLDER



Breach

When a whale leaps with its entire body out of the water.



Spyhop

Marine mammal raises its head vertically out of the water so that its eyes are clear of the surface.

Walk, Run, Stand

Polar bear walking, running, or standing on ice or land.





Logging

When a marine mammal is on the surface and is neither swimming nor moving.



Dead

When a marine mammal is identified deceased on land or in water

Activity

An activity is composed of several behaviors and cannot always be determined

- Feeding
- Traveling
- Resting
- Milling
- Socializing
- Unknown



Feeding

Marine mammal seen feeding or evidence of prey observed.



Travelling

Moving in a distinct direction with a moderate to fast pace



Resting

Marine mammal lying motionless at the surface of the water or on the ice/land



Milling

Moving but net movement is near zero, eg. swimming in circles.



Socializing

Engaged in social activity (involving more than one animal)

APPENDIX C

Hard Copy Datasheets for Secondary Observers

Time	Species	Group size	Dec. angle	Include / exclude	Dir. of Travel	Speed	Age	Sex	Activity	Beh.	Sight.cue

8 July 2022

Date: ____

Observer name: _

SOLDER

golder.com

APPENDIX B

Mapbook



LEC						
	3END					
•	COMMUNI	TY		AERIAL SUR	/EY TRACK	
§ 📢	MILNE POR	RT	—	MILNE INLET	TOTE ROAD	
AM [®]	RINE MAMMAL	SPECIES	AIS_202	2_AllCompiled	1_Tracks_20	
ОВ	SERVATIONS (G	ROUP SIZE)	NON-PR	OJECT VESSE	EL SHIP	
BO	WHEAD WHALE		IRACKS	OTUED		
	′ 1			OTHER		
HA				40 km BUFFE		
) 10+		121	BOUNDARY	IILEMENTAREA	
	/			WATERBODY	(NO ICE DATA)	
NA	RWHAL		ICE CON	CENTRATION	I	
	' 1 7			< 1/10		
	2-10			1-3/10		
	7 10+			4-6/10		
				9-10/10		
	GED SEAL					
		a				
	JENTIFIED SEA					
	2-10					
UN	DENTIFIED WHA	ALE				
	' 1					
00						
8100						
>						
X						
\times						
\langle						
×						
×						
×××						
×××						
××		0	25		50	
×××		0	25		50	
		0 1:1,000,000	25	KILO	50 IMETRES	
REI	ERENCE(S)	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DATA	25	KILO	50 METRES 117, RETRIEVED FR	OM KNIGH
REI MIL PIE OB	TERENCE(S) NE PORT INFRA SOLD LTD. FULC TAINED FROM C.	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DATA CRUM DATA MANA(ANADIAN ICE SEF	25 BY HATCH, JJ 3EMENT SITE WICE, GOVER	KILO NUARY 25, 20 VAY 19, 2017. IMENT OF CA	50 METRES 117, RETRIEVED FR ICE CONCENTRATI NADA. DALLY ICE C	OM KNIGH ON HARTS –
REI MIL PIE OB' BAH HYI	TERENCE(S) NE PORT INFRA SOLD LTD. FULC TAINED FROM C, TFIN BAY AND AI DROGRAPHY PC	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DATA RUM DATA MANAG ANADIAN ICE SER PPROACHES TO R PPROACHES TO R PPLATE D LACF	25 BY HATCH, J/ 3EMENT SITE VICE, GOVER ESOLUTE BA AND PROVING	KILO NUARY 25, 20 VAY 19, 2017. VMENT OF CA ACCESSED A LAL BOUNDAR	50 METRES 1/17, RETRIEVED FR ICE CONCENTRATI NADA. DAILY ICE C UGUST 9, 2022. V DATA OBTAINFD	OM KNIGH ON HARTS – FROM
REI MIL PIE BAI HYI GEO PPO	FERENCE(S) NE PORT INFRA SOLD LTD. FULC FAINED FROM C. FIN BAYAND AI NROGRAPHY, PC JGRATIS, © DEP JGRATIS, © ITM	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DATA CRUM DATA MANAG ANADIAN ICE SEF PPROACHES TO R DPULATED PLACE, ARTMENT OF NAT ZONE 17. DATIM	25 ABY HATCH, JJ SEMENT SITE VICE, GOVER ESOLUTE BAN AND PROVING URAL RESOU URAL RESOU	KILO INUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. JMENT OF CA ACCESSED A IAL BOUNDAR ICES CANADA	50 IMETRES 1/7, RETRIEVED FR ICE CONCENTRATI NADA. DAILY ICE C UGUST 9, 2022. RY DATA OBTAINED V ALL RIGHTS RESE	OM KNIGH ON HARTS – FROM ERVED.
REI MIL PIE OB' BAH HY GEI CLI	FERENCE(S) NE PORT INFRA SOLD LTD. FULC TAINED FROM C. FIN BAY AND A DROGRAPHY, PC DGRATIS, © DEP DJECTION: UTM ENT	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DATA 2RUM DATA MANAC ANADIAN ICE SEE PPROACHES TO R 3PULATED PLACE, 2ARTMENT OF NAT ZONE 17 DATUM	25 ABY HATCH, JJ 3EMENT SITE VICE, GOVER ESOLUTE BAY AND PROVING URAL RESOUI NAD 83	KILO INUARY 25, 20 WAY 19, 2017. JMENT OF CA ACCESSED A JAL BOUNDAF ICES CANADA	50 IMETRES IOT, RETRIEVED FR ICE CONCENTRATI INADA. DAILY ICE VIGUST 9, 2022. RY DATA OBTAINED I. ALL RIGHTS RESE	OM KNIGH ON HARTS – FROM ERVED.
REIL PIE OB' BAA HYTE CLI SBA	FERENCE(S) NE PORT INFRA SOLD LTD. FULC TAINED FROM CA FIN BAY AND A DROGRAPHY, PC DGRATIS, © DEP DJECTION: UTM ENT KFFINLAND	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DATA SRUM DATA MANAA ANADIAN ICE SER PROACHES TO R PPROACHES TO R PULATED PLACE. SARTMENT OF NAT ZONE 17 DATUM: IRON MINES	25 Wey Hatch, JJ SEMENT SITE VICE, GOVER ESOLUTE BAY AND PROVING URAL RESOUR NAD 83 S CORPOI	KILO INUARY 25, 20 WAY 19, 2017. IMENT OF CA ACCESSED A IAL BOUNDAR ICES CANADA RATION	50 METRES D17, RETRIEVED FR ICE CONCENTRATI NADA. DAILY ICE C UGUST 9, 2022. RY DATA OBTAINED ALL RIGHTS RESE	OM KNIGH ON HARTS – FROM ERVED.
REIL PIELOB BAAIS PIELOB HYIGE CLI CUI	TERENCE(S) NE PORT INFRA SOLD LTD. FULC TAINED FROM C. TFIN BAY AND AI DROGRAPHY, PC DGRATIS, © DEP DJECTION: UTM ENT INT INT	0 1:1,000,000 ISTRUCTURE DATA SRUM DATA MANAA ANADIAN ICE SEF PPROACHES TO R PPULATED PLACE, PARTMENT OF NAT ZONE 17 DATUM: IRON MINES	25 NBY HATCH, J/ SEMENT SITE VICE, GOVER ESOLUTE BAY AND PROVING INAD 83 S CORPOL	KILO NUARY 25, 20 VAY 19, 2017. VMENT OF CA A ACCESSED A IAL BOUNDAR IAL BOUNDAR CES CANADA RATION	50 METRES 117, RETRIEVED FR ICE CONCENTRATI NADA. DALIV ICE C VUGUST 9, 2022. RY DATA OBTAINED A. ALL RIGHTS RESE	OM KNIGH ON HARTS – FROM ERVED.
REIMILE OBA	ERENCE(S) NE PORT INFRA SOLD LTD. FULC TRINED FROM C. FIN BAY AND AI DROGRAPHY, PC DRATIS, © DEP DJECTION: UTM ENT IFFINLAND	0 I:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DATA SRUM DATA MANAA ANADIAN LCE SER PPROACHES TO R PULATED PLACE, ARTIMENT OF NAT ZONE 17 DATUM: IRON MINES PRO IECT	25 ABY HATCH, J/ SEMENT SITE ESOLUTE BAY AND PROVING URAL RESOU NAD 83 S CORPOL	KILO NUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. VMENT OF CA ACCESSED A IAL BOUNDAR ICES CANADA RATION	50 IMETRES 117, RETRIEVED FR ICE CONCENTRATI INDA. DALIY ICE C VUGUST 9, 2022. RY DATA OBTAINED A. ALL RIGHTS RESE	OM KNIGH ON HARTS – FROM ERVED.
HILL OBAL PIELOBAL HYIGE BA UNIT DIA DIA DIA DIA DIA DIA DIA DIA DIA DIA	TERENCE(S) NE PORT INFRA SOLD LTD. FULC TAINED FROM C. TFIN BAY AND AI DROGRAPHY, PC DROGRAPHY, PC DROGRAPHY, PC DROTION: UTM ENT INT INT INT INT INT INT INT INT INT I	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DATA CRUM DATA MANAG ANADIAN ICE SEF PPROACHES TO R PPROACHES TO R PROJECT MAMMAL AI	25 ABY HATCH, J/ 3EMENT SITE ESOLUTE BAN AND PROVING URAL RESOLI INAD 83 3 CORPOI ERIAL SU	KILO INUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. IMENT OF CA ACCESSED A ACCESSED A RACION RATION	50 IMETRES 117, RETRIEVED FR ICE CONCENTRATI INADA. DALIY ICE C AUGUST 9, 2022. RY DATA OBTAINED A. ALL RIGHTS RESE	OM KNIGH ON HARTS – FROM ERVED.
REIME MILLEOBAA HYGER CLI BA HYGER CLI BA MM 20 TH FF	ERENCE(S) NE PORT INFRA SOLD LTD. FULC TAINED FROM C. TFIN BAY AND AI DROGRAPHY, PC DGRATIS, @ DEP DJECTION: UTM ENT IFFINLAND JJECT ARY RIVER 22 MARINE E LE	0 1:1,000,000 ISTRUCTURE DATA SRUM DATA MANAA ANADIAN LCE SEF PPROACHES TO R PPROACHES TO R ARTIMENT OF NAT ZONE 17 DATUM: IRON MINES PROJECT MAMMAL AI UND LEG 1 S	25 ABY HATCH, J/ SEMENT SITE SESOLUTE BAY AND PROVING INAD 83 S CORPOI ERIAL SU SURVEY 1	KILO NUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. WHENT OF CA A ACCESSED A IAL BOUNDAR CES CANADA RATION RATION	50 IMETRES 117, RETRIEVED FR ICE CONCENTRATI INDAD. DAILY ICE C VUGUST 9, 2022. RY DATA OBTAINED ALL RIGHTS RESE	OM KNIGH ON HARTS – FROM ERVED.
	FERENCE(S) NE PORT INFRA SOLD LTD. FULC TAINED FROM C. FIN BAY AND AI DROGRAPHY, PC DIECTION: UTM ENT FFINLAND DJECT ARY RIVER 22 MARINE LE LIPSE SOL	0 1:1,000,000 ISTRUCTURE DATA SRUM DATA MANADIAN ICE SEF PPROACHES TO R OPULATED PLACE, PPROACHES TO RAT ZONE 17 DATUM: IRON MINES PROJECT MAMMAL AI UND LEG 1 S	25 ABY HATCH, J/ SEMENT SITE WICE, GOVENT SURAL RESOUTE BAY AND PROVING URAL RESOUTE SOUTH STORES ERIAL SU SURVEY 1	KILO NUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. VMENT OF CA ACCESSED A SAL BOUNDAR CES CANADA RATION RATION RVEYS - JULY 21	50 METRES 117, RETRIEVED FR ICE CONCENTRATI NADA. DALIVICE C AUGUST 9, 2022. RY DATA OBTAINED A. ALL RIGHTS RESE I, 2022	OM KNIGH ON HARTS – FROM ERVED.
	ERENCE(S) NE PORT INFRA SOLD LTD. FULC TAINED FROM C. FIN BAY AND AI DROGRAPHY, PC DJECTION: UTM ENT IFFINLAND DJECT ARY RIVER 22 MARINE LE LE SULFSE SOL	0 1:1,000,000 ISTRUCTURE DATA SRUM DATA MANAA ANADIAN ICE SEF PPROACHES TO R PPROACHES TO R ATTMENT OF NAT ZONE 17 DATUM IRON MINES PROJECT MAMMAL AI UND LEG 1 S	25 ABY HATCH, J/ SEMENT SITE ESOLUTE BAY AND PROVING: NAD 83 S CORPOI ERIAL SU SURVEY 1	KILC NUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. A ACCESSED A SAL BOUNDAR RES CANADA RATION RVEYS - JULY 21	50 METRES 117, RETRIEVED FR ICE CONCENTRATI ICD CONCENTRATI NADA. DALIY ICE C VUGUST 9, 2022. RY DATA OBTAINED ALL RIGHTS RESE I, 2022 2023-03-22 TT	OM KNIGH ON HARTS – FROM ERVED.
REI MILL PIEBOBAN HYTI BAN CLI BA HYTI PR BA M/ 200 TTT EC CO	ERENCE(S) NE PORT INFRA SOLD LTD. FULC TRINED FROM C. FIN BAY AND AI DROGRAPHY, PC DIECTION: UTM ENT INFFINLAND DJECT ARY RIVER 22 MARINE 22 MARINE LE LIPSE SOL	0 I:1,000,000 ISTRUCTURE DATA SRUM DATA MANAA ANADIAN LCE SEF PPROACHES TO R ARTIMENT OF NAT ZONE 17 DATUM: IRON MINES PROJECT MAMMAL AI UND LEG 1 S	25 ABY HATCH, J/ SEMENT SITE WICE, GOVENT SITE WICE, GOVENT SURAL RESOULTE BAY AND PROVINO. SOURCE SOURCES ERIAL SU SURVEY 1 YYY DES DES	KILC NUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. VMENT OF CA A ACCESSED A IAL BOUNDAR RACES CANADA RATION RATION RATION RUEYS - JULY 21 IGNED	50 METRES 1)17, RETRIEVED FR ICE CONCENTRATI INDA. DAILY ICE C VUGUST 9, 2022. RY DATA OBTAINED A. ALL RIGHTS RESE I, 2022 2023-03-22 TT A.	OM KNIGH ON HARTS – FROM ERVED.
REIMUL MILL DBAATI GEU CLI BA UNIT GEU CO TIT EC CO	TERENCE(S) NE PORT INFRA SOLD LTD. FULC TAINED FROM C. TFIN BAY AND AI ORGRAPHY, PC OGRATIS, © DEP DJECTION: UTM ENT FFINLAND DJECT ARY RIVER 22 MARINE LE LIPSE SOL VSULTANT	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DATA CRUM DATA MANAA ANADIAN ICE SEF PPROACHES TO R OPULATED PLACE, PARTMENT OF NAT ZONE 17 DATUM IRON MINES PROJECT MAMMAL AI UND LEG 1 S	25 ABY HATCH, J/ SEMENT SITE VICE, GOVER LESOLUTE BAN AND PROVING URAL RESOUI NAD 83 S CORPOI ERIAL SU SURVEY 1 YYY DES PRE	KILC NUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. MENT OF CESSED A A ACCESSED A IAL BOUNDAR RACES CANADA RATION RATION RUEYS - JULY 21 IGNED PARED	50 METRES 1)17, RETRIEVED FR ICE CONCENTRATI INDAL DALIY ICE C VIGUST 9, 2022. RY DATA OBTAINED A. ALL RIGHTS RESE 1, 2022 2023-03-22 TT AA TT	OM KNIGH ON HARTS – FROM ERVED.
	TERENCE(S) NE PORT INFRA SOLD LTD. FULC TAINED FROM C. TFIN BAY AND AI DOROGRAPHY, PC DOROGRAPHY, PC DOROFTINIC SUBCT ARY RIVER 22 MARINE LE COROFICIAL CONTRACTOR CO	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DATA CRUM DATA MANAX ANADIAN ICE SEF PPROACHES TO R POPLATED PLACE, PARTMENT OF NAT ZONE 17 DATUM IRON MINES PROJECT MAMMAL AI UND LEG 1 S	25 ABY HATCH, J/ SEMENT SITE HISOLUTE BAN AND PROVING URAL RESOU INAD 83 S CORPOI ERIAL SU SURVEY 1 YYY DES PRE REL	KILC INUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. VIMENT OF CA. ACCESSED A CIAL BOUNDAF ICCES CANADA RATION RATION RVEYS - JULY 21 IGNED PARED IEWED DOVED	50 METRES 1)17, RETRIEVED FR ICE CONCENTRATI NADA. DALLY ICE C AUGUST 9, 2022. RY DATA OBTAINED A. ALL RIGHTS RESE 1, 2022 2023-03-22 TT AA TT PA	OM KNIGH ON HARTS – FROM ERVED.
	TERENCE(S) NE PORT INFRA SOLD LTD. FUIC TAINED FROM C. TFIN BAY AND AI DOROGRAPHY, PC DOROGRAPHY, PC DO	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DATA CRUM DATA MANAG ANADIAN ICE SEF PROACHES TO R POPLATED PLACE, PARTMENT OF NAT ZONE 17 DATUM IRON MINES PROJECT MAMMAL AI UND LEG 1 S	25 ABY HATCH, J/ 3EMENT SITE WICE, GOVER IESOLUTE BAN AND PROVING URAL RESOLUTE NAD 83 S CORPOI ERIAL SU SURVEY 1 YYY DES PRE REV APP	KILC INUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. VIMENT OF CA ACCESSED A CIAL BOUNDAF ICCES CANADA RATION RATION RVEYS - JULY 21 IGNED PARED IEWED ROVED	50 METRES 117, RETRIEVED FR ICE CONCENTRATI INADA. DALIY ICE C VIGUST 9, 2022. RY DATA OBTAINED ALL RIGHTS RESE 2023-03-22 TT AA TT PA	OM KNIGH ON HARTS – FROM ERVED.

TITTT TITTT SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE HA



LEGEND					
COMMUNI [®]	ΓY		AERIAL SUR	VEY TRACK	
	रा		MILNE INLET	TOTE ROAD	
	SPECIES	AIS_202	2_AllCompile	d_Tracks_20	
OBSERVATIONS (G	ROUP SIZE)	NON-PR	OJECT VESS	EL SHIP	
HARP SEAL		TRACKS			
\bigcirc 1					
2-10				TTI EMENT AREA	
10+		1.1.1	BOUNDARY		
			WATERBODY	(NO ICE DATA)	
NARWHAL		ICE CON	ICENTRATION	4	
▼ 1			< 1/10		
2-10			1-3/10		
10+			4-6/10		
RINGED SEAL			9-10/10		
• 1					
UNIDENTIFIED SEA	L				
1					
2-10					
	LE				
▼ 1					
/					
0000					
80					
8					
×					
X					
	0	25		50	
	1:1,000,000		KILO	DMETRES	
REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRA	STRUCTURE DATA	BY HATCH, J/	ANUARY 25, 2	017, RETRIEVED FF	OM KNIGH
PIESOLD LTD. FULC OBTAINED FROM CA	RUM DATA MANAG	EMENT SITE	MAY 19, 2017. NMENT OF CA	NADA. DAILY ICE C	ION CHARTS –
BAFFIN BAY AND AN HYDROGRAPHY, PC	PROACHES TO RE	ESOLUTE BAY	ACCESSED	AUGUST 9, 2022. RY DATA OBTAINED	FROM
GEOGRATIS, © DEP PROJECTION: UTM	ARTMENT OF NATU ZONE 17 DATUM	JRAL RESOUR	RCES CANAD	A. ALL RIGHTS RES	ERVED.
CLIENT					
BAFFINLAND	IRON MINES	CORPO	RATION		
MARY RIVER	PROJECT				
2022 MARINE	MAMMAL AE	RIAL SU	RVEYS		
		URVEVo	V 2'	2 2022	
	ND LEG I 3	UNVET 2		L, 2022	
CONSULTANT		YYY	Y-MM-DD	2023-03-22	
		DES	IGNED	TT	
		PRE	PARED	AA	
2					
100	11	REV	IEWED	TT	
	<u> </u>	REV	IEWED	TT PA	
PROJECT NO.	CONTROL	RE\ APP	ROVED	TT PA EV.	FIGUR





IF THIS MEASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE H



LEGEND					
COMMUNITY	,		AERIAL SUR	VEY TRACK	
🖇 😠 🛛 MILNE PORT			MILNE INLET	TOTE ROAD	
MARINE MAMMAL SP	ECIES	(-1)	NUNAVUT SE	ETTLEMENT ARE	A
OBSERVATIONS (GRO	OUP SIZE)	-	BOUNDARY		
BELUGA					
			< 1/10	•	
10+			1-3/10		
BOWHEAD WHALE			4-6/10		
▼ 1			7-8/10		
HARP SEAL			9-10/10		
O 1			LANDFAST I	CE	
2-10					
NARWHAL					
⊽ 1					
2-10					
POLAR BEAR					
1					
RINGED SEAL					
• 1					
2-10					
UNIDENTIFIED SEAL					
1					
SUNIDENTIFIED WHAL	E				
ະສິ 🗸 1					
0		30		60	
REFERENCE(S)	1:1,100,000		KILU	JMETRES	
MILNE PORT INFRAST	RUCTURE DATA BY	HATCH, J.	ANUARY 25, 2 MAY 19, 2017.	017, RETRIEVED	FROM KNIG
BOBTAINED FROM CAN	ADIAN ICE SERVIC	E, GOVER	NMENT OF CA	ANADA. DAILY ICE AUGUST 9, 2022	E CHARTS -
HYDROGRAPHY, POP	ULATED PLACE, AND		CIAL BOUNDA	RY DATA OBTAIN	ED FROM
PROJECTION: UTM Z	ONE 17 DATUM: NA	D 83			
	RON MINES O				
PROJECT					
	ΎΚΟJECΙ Μαμμαί αερ		RVEVS		
ADMIRALTY IN	ILET LEG 1 SU	URVEY	5 – JULY	26, 2022	
		100		2023-03 33	
			IGNED	TT	
		PRF	PARED	AA	
••	- 1 -	RE\	/IEWED	TT	
		APF	ROVED	PA	
PROJECT NO	CONTROL		RE	EV.	FIGL



360000 IF THIS MEASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE HJ



IF THIS MEASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE HAS BEEN MC



N P	LEGEND					
ND	COMMUN	ITY		AERIAL SUR	VEY TRACK	
	၌ 伏 MILNE PO	RT		MILNE INLET	TOTE ROAD	
	[®] MARINE MAMMAL	SPECIES	AIS_202	2_AllCompile	d_Tracks_20	
	OBSERVATIONS (G	ROUP SIZE)	PROJEC	T VESSEL SH	IIP TRACKS	
	BELUGA		****	BULK (ORE)	CARRIER	
			* ***	OIL TANKER		
			****	SERVICE VE	SSEL	
10	HARP SEAL		NON-PR TRACKS	OJECT VESS	EL SHIP	
	O 1			OTHER		
г	2-10			40 km BUFFE	R ZONE	
36	NARWHAI		-1		ETTLEMENT AREA	
	▼ 1					
C	2-10			CENTRATION		
	RINGED SEAL			< 1/10	•	
	• 1			1-3/10		
	2-10			4-6/10		
		AL.		7-8/10		
	1					
	8					
	8100					
\bigotimes						
\bigotimes						
\otimes						
\bigotimes						
\sim						
		0	25		50	
		1.1 000 000		אוו ע	METRES	
	REFERENCE(S)	1.1,000,000		KILC	JWIE I I NEO	
	MILNE PORT INFRA	ASTRUCTURE DATA E	Y HATCH, JA	NUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017	017, RETRIEVED F	ROM KNIGHT TION
35		ANADIAN ICE SERV	ICE, GOVERI	MENT OF CA	ANADA. DAILY ICE	CHARTS -
	HYDROGRAPHY, P	OPULATED PLACE, A		CIAL BOUNDA	RY DATA OBTAINE	
and	PROJECTION: UTM	ZONE 17 DATUM: N	IAD 83			
the second						
or la	, BAFFINLAND	IRON MINES	CORPO	KAHUN		
Non	PROJECT					
	MARY RIVER	PROJECT	DIA:			
1.15	2022 MARINE	E MAMMALAE	RIAL SUI	VEYS		
N.	ECLIPSE SO	UND LEG 1 SL	JRVEY 8	– AUGUS	ST 1, 2022	
and and					, = - -	
2	CONSULTANT		YYY	Y-MM-DD	2023-03-22	
N.E.			DES	IGNED	TT	
2			PRE	PARED	AA	
9			REV	IEWED	TT	
		-	APP	ROVED	PA	
5	PROJECT NO.	CONTROL		RE	EV.	FIGURE
	1003/2401	59000-06		0		в-8



<u> </u>							
	EGEND)					
ND	•	COMMUNIT	Y		AERIAL SUR	VEY TRACK	
8 (т		MILNE INLET	TOTE ROAD	
M 8200		MAMMAI S	PECIES	PROJE	T VESSEL SH	IIP TRACKS	
Ö	BSERV	ATIONS (GF	ROUP SIZE)	****	BULK (ORE)	CARRIER	
H	ARP SE	EAL		****	GENERAL CA	ARGO VESSEL	
	0	1		****			
(\bigcirc	2-10				99EI	
		A1					
		1		TRACK	S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	EL SHIP	
					ICEBREAKEF	R (TERRY FOX)	
<u>.</u>	\vee	2-10			OTHER		
RI	INGED	SEAL			40 km BUFFE	R ZONE	
1	•	1			NUNAVUT SE	ETTLEMENT ARE	A
		2-10		1.1.1.1	BOUNDARY		
U	NIDEN.	TIFIED SEAL	-		WATERBODY	(NO ICE DATA)	
	•	1		ICE CO	CENTRATION	I	
	\frown	2-10			< 1/10		
0000							
8							
~							
			0	25		50	
			0	25		50	
			0	25	KILC	50 DMETRES	
R	EFERE	NCE(S)	0	25	KILC		
RIME	EFERE LILNE P	NCE(S) ORT INFRAS	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN	25 TA BY HATCH, J AGEMENT SITE	KILC ANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017.	50 DMETRES	FROM KNIGHT
	EFERE ILINE P BTAINS BTAINS BTAINS	NCE(S) ORT INFRAS J LTD. FULC ED FROM CA SAY AND A F	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN. INADIAN ICE SE	25 TA BY HATCH, J AGEMENT SITE ERVICE, GOVER DESOI UTE BAY	KILC ANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. NMENT OF CA	50 DMETRES	FROM KNIGHT ATION E CHARTS – 24
1903 - 1903 - 1905 - 1905 - 1905 - 1905 - 1905 - 1905 - 1905 - 1905 - 1905 - 1905 - 1905 - 1905 - 1905 - 1905 -	EFERE EILNE P IESOLL BTAINBA AFFIN J VDROQ	NCE(S) ORT INFRAS 1 LTD. FULC ED FROM CA BAY AND AF BAY AND AF BAY AND AF BAY AND AF BAY AND AF	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN. IXADIAN ICE SE PULATED PLAC	25 TA BY HATCH, J AGEMENT SITE ERVICE, GOVER RESOLUTE BAY E, AND PROVIN	KILC ANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. MENT OF CA , ACCESSED J ZIAL BOUNDAI	50 DMETRES	PEROM KNIGHT NATION E CHARTS – 23. IED FROM
I R M PI OB	EFERE HILNE P HESOLL BTAINE AFFIN I YDROC EOGRA	NCE(5) ORT INFRAS 1 LTD. FULC ED FROM CA BAY AND AF BAY AND AF BRAPHY, PO TISN: 0 DEPA TION: UTM 2	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN. INADIAN ICE SE PULATED PLAC. RTIMENT OF INA CONE 17 DATU	25 TA BY HATCH, J AGEMENT SITE ERVICE, GOVER ESOLUTE BAY ESOLUTE BAY ESOLUTE BAY TURAL RESOU	KILC ANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. NMENT OF CA (ACCESSED J CIAL BOUNDAI RCES CANAD/	50 DMETRES D17, RETRIEVED ICE CONCENTR INADA. DAILY IC INUARY 20, 202 RY DATA OBTAIN A, ALL RIGHTS R	FROM KNIGHT ATION E CHARTS – 23. IED FROM ESERVED.
	EFERE DILINE P DIESOLL BTAINS AFFIN I YDROQ EOGRA VDROQ EOGRA VDROQ EOGRA VDROQ EOGRA VDROQ EOGRA VDROQ EOGRA VDROQ EOGRA VDROQ EOGRA VDROQ VDRO	NCE(S) ORT INFRAS 1 LTD. FULC ED FROM CA BAY AND AF BAY AND AF BRAPHY, PO ATIS, © DEP/ TION: UTM 2	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN, INADIAN ICE SE PROACHES TO PULATED PLAC RTMENT OF NA CONE 17 DATU	25 TA BY HATCH, J AGEMENT SITE ERVICE, GOVER E, AND PROVIN ATURAL RESOU MI: NAD 83	KILC ANUARY 25, 21 MAY 19, 2017. NMENT OF CA (ACCESSED J CIAL BOUNDAI RCES CANADA	50 DMETRES D17, RETRIEVED ICE CONCENTR NADA. DAILY IC ICE CONCENTR NADA. DAILY IC INUARY 20, 202 RY DATA OBTAIN A. ALL RIGHTS R	FROM KNIGHT ATION E CHARTS – 23. IED FROM ESERVED.
Na constant Na co	EFERE HILNE P HESOLL BTAINE YDROC EOGRA TOURC	NCE(S) ORT INFRAS 1 LTD. FULC ED FROM CA BAY AND AF SRAPHY, PO TTIS, © DEPA TION: UTM 2 INLAND	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN, INADIAN ICE SE PULATED PLAC ARTMENT OF NA CONE 17 DATUI IRON MINE	25 TA BY HATCH, J AGEMENT SITE ERVICE, GOVER E, AND PROVINA TURAL RESOU M: NAD 83 ES CORPO	KILC ANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. NMENT OF CA (ACCESSED J CIAL BOUNDAI RCES CANAD/ RATION	50 DMETRES D17, RETRIEVED ICE CONCENTR NADA. DAILY IC RY DATA OBTAIN A. ALL RIGHTS R	FROM KNIGHT KATION E CHARTS – 23. IED FROM ESERVED.
00000 1 명 이 평요국 뿐이고 # 21	EFERE ILINE P IESOLE BTAINE AFFIN I VDROC EOGR/ LIENT	NCE(S) ORT INFRAS 1 LTD. FULC ED FROM CA BAY AND AF SRAPHY. PO ATIS, © DEPA TION: UTM 2 INLAND	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN, INADIAN ICE SE PULATED PLAC INTMENT OF NAU SONE 17 DATU IRON MINE	25 TA BY HATCH, J AGEMENT SITE ERVICE, GOVER E, AND PROVINU THAL RESOLUTE ATURAL RESOLUTE MI: NAD 83 ES CORPO	KILC ANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. NMENT OF CA (ACCESSED J CIAL BOUNDAI RCES CANAD/ RATION	50 DMETRES D17, RETRIEVED ICE CONCENTR NADA. DAILY IC JANUARY 20, 202 RY DATA OBTAIN A. ALL RIGHTS R	FROM KNIGHT KATION E CHARTS – 23. IED FROM ESERVED.
. 1 1 2 2 3 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	EFERE DIESOLE BTAINE PIESOLE EOGR/ AFFIN I VDROC EOGR/ COJEC	NCE(S) ORT INFRAS LTD. FULC ED FROM CA SAY AND AF SRAPHY. PO ATIS, © DEPA TION: UTM 2 INLAND	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN, INADIAN ICE SE PULATED PLAC PTOACHES TO PULATED PLAC POCONE 17 DATUINE IRON MINE	25 TA BY HATCH, J AGEMENT SITE ERVICE, GOVER RESOLUTE BAY E, AND PROVINU THURAL RESOLUTE M: NAD 83 ES CORPO	KILC ANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. NMENT OF CA (ACCESSED J CIAL BOUNDAI RCES CANAD/ RATION	50 DMETRES D17, RETRIEVED ICE CONCENTR NADA. DAILY IC JANUARY 20, 202 RY DATA OBTAIN A. ALL RIGHTS R	I FROM KNIGHT KATION E CHARTS – 23. IED FROM ESERVED.
> 전 30 00000 > 전 31 00 1 20 5 편으크로 21	EFERE FILNE P IESOLD BTAINB EOGRA ROJEC LIENT BAFFI ROJEC MARY	NCE(S) ORT INFRAS D LTD. FULC ED FROM CA SAY AND AF SRAPHY, PO ATIS, @ DEPA TION: UTM 2 INLAND	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN, INADIAN ICE SE PULATED PLAC PROACHES TO PULATED PLAC TO ATUI IRON MINE PROJECT	25 TA BY HATCH, J AGEMENT SITE ERVICE, GOVER EAND PROVIN E, AND PROVIN M: NAD 83 ES CORPO	KILC ANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. NMENT OF CA /. ACCESSED J CIAL BOUNDAI CLAL BOUNDAI RACTION	50 JMETRES D17, RETRIEVED ICE CONCENTR NADA. DAILY IC JANUARY 20, 202 RY DATA OBTAIN A. ALL RIGHTS R	FROM KNIGHT ATION E CHARTS – 23. IED FROM ESERVED.
1. V 전 110000 1 년 0 년 10 년 10 년 10 년 10 년 10	EFERE DIESOLD BTAINB VDROC EOGR/ ROJEC LIENT BAFFI ROJEC INARY 022 I	NCE(S) ORT INFRAS DITD. FULC ED FROM CA SAY AND AF SRAPHY. PO ATIS, @ DEPA TION: UTM 2 INLAND T T KIVER MARINE	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN, INADIAN ICE SE PULATED PLAC PROACHES TO PULATED PLAC PROACHES TO ATUIN IRON MINE PROJECT MAMMAL /	25 TA BY HATCH, J AGEMENT SITE ERVICE, GOVER E AND PROVIN E, AND PROVIN TURAL RESOU M: NAD 83 ES CORPO	KILC ANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. NMENT OF CA NACTESSED J CIAL BOUNDAI RCES CANAD/ RATION RATION	50 JMETRES D17, RETRIEVED ICE CONCENTR NADA. DAILY IC JANUARY 20, 202 RY DATA OBTAIN A. ALL RIGHTS R	FROM KNIGHT ATION E CHARTS – 23. IED FROM ESERVED.
1 1 N 전 1 1 0 0 1 3 0 3 8 2 1	EFERE BTAINS BTAINS PIESOLE BTAINS EOGRA ROJEC LIENT ROJEC ILIENT ROJEC ILIENT ROJEC ILIENT ROJEC ILIENT ROJEC ILIENT	NCE(S) ORT INFRAS D LTD. FULC ED FROM CA BAY AND AF BAY AND AF AF AND AF AF AND AF AF AND AF AF AND AF AND	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN, INADIAN ICE SE PULATED PLAC PROACHES TO PULATED PLAC IRON MINE PROJECT MAMMAL /	25 TA BY HATCH, J AGEMENT SITE ERVICE, GOVER E, AND PROVINU MI: NAD 83 ES CORPO	KILC ANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. NMENT OF CA (ACCESSED J CIAL BOUNDAI RCES CANAD/ RATION RATION	50 DMETRES D17, RETRIEVED ICE CONCENTR NADA. DAILY IC JANUARY 20, 202 RY DATA OBTAIN A. ALL RIGHTS R	I FROM KNIGHT ATION E CHARTS – 23. IED FROM ESERVED.
=====================================	EFERE DILINE P IESOLE BTAINE POROJEC LIENT BAFFI AAPFI BAFFI MARY 022 I IITLE CLIF	NCE(S) ORT INFRAS D LTD. FULC ED FROM CA BAY AND AF BAY AND AF AND AF	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN, INADIAN ICE SE PULATED PLAC PROACHES TO PULATED PLAC PROJECT MAMMAL / IND LEG 2	25 TA BY HATCH, J AGEMENT SITE ERVICE, GOVER E AND PROVIN E, AND PROVIN TURAL RESOU M: NAD 83 ES CORPO AERIAL SU SURVEY 1	KILC ANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. NMENT OF CA CACESSED J CIAL BOUNDAI RACTION RATION RATION RVEYS – AUGUS	50 METRES 017, RETRIEVED ICE CONCENTR NADA. DAILY IC JANUARY 20, 202 RY DATA OBTAIN A. ALL RIGHTS R ST 13, 2022	FROM KNIGHT ATION E CHARTS – 23. IED FROM ESERVED.
21 프 크 1 전 전 1 관요·카뿐으로 2 월	EFERE DILINE P IESOLIC BTAINE POROJEC LIENT BAFFI BAFFI BAFFI BAFFI BAFFI BAFFI CLIF	NCE(S) ORT INFRAS D LTD. FULC ED FROM CA BAY AND AF SRAPHY. PO TION: UTM 2 INLAND T CRIVER MARINE PSE SOU	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN, INADIAN ICE STO PULATED PLAC PROJECT MAMMAL / IRON MINE PROJECT MAMMAL / IND LEG 2	25 TA BY HATCH, J AGEMENT SITE ERVICE, GOVER EAND PROVIN ESOUTE BAY EAND PROVIN M: NAD 83 ES CORPO AERIAL SU SURVEY 1	KILC ANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. NMENT OF CA CACESSED J CIAL BOUNDAI RACTION RATION RVEYS – AUGUS	50 DMETRES D17, RETRIEVED ICE CONCENTR NADA. DAILY IC JANUARY 20, 202 RY DATA OBTAIN A. ALL RIGHTS R	FROM KNIGHT ATION E CHARTS – 23. IED FROM ESERVED.
SI = ISV stateo∃kasi SI = ISV stateo∃kasi	EFERE DIESOLD BTAINB PIESOLD BTAINB AFFIN VDROC EOGR/ ROJEC LIENT BAFFI BAFFI BAFFI BAFFI BAFFI COLF CLIF	NCE(S) ORT INFRAS D LTD. FULC ED FROM CA SAY AND AF SAY AND AF SAY AND AF STAPHY. PO TION: UTM 2 INLAND T CRIVER MARINE PSE SOU	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN, INADIAN ICE SE PULATED PLAC PROJECT MAMMAL / IND LEG 2	25 TA BY HATCH, J AGEMENT SITE ERVICE, GOVER EAND PROVIN ESOLUTE BAY EAND PROVIN M: NAD 83 ES CORPO AERIAL SU SURVEY 1	KILC ANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. NMENT OF CA CACESSED J CIAL BOUNDAI RATION RATION RVEYS – AUGUS	50 DMETRES D17, RETRIEVED ICE CONCENTR NADA. DAILY IC JANUARY 20, 202 RY DATA OBTAIN A. ALL RIGHTS R ST 13, 2022 2023-03-22	FROM KNIGHT ATION E CHARTS – 23. IED FROM ESERVED.
N H H N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N N	EFERE DILINE P IESOLE BTAINS EOGR/ ROJEC LIENT BAFFI MARY 022 I ITLE CLIF	NCE(S) ORT INFRAS D LTD. FULC ED FROM CA BAY AND AF BAY	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN, INADIAN ICE SE PULATED PLAC PROJECT MAMMAL / IRON MINE PROJECT MAMMAL / IND LEG 2	25 TA BY HATCH, J AGEMENT SITE ERVICE, GOVER EAND PROVIN ESOUTE BAY EAND PROVIN M: NAD 83 ES CORPO AERIAL SU SURVEY 1	KILC ANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. NMENT OF CA CACESSED J CIAL BOUNDAI RATION RATION RVEYS – AUGUS	50 DMETRES D17, RETRIEVED ICE CONCENTR NADA. DAILY IC JANUARY 20, 202 RY DATA OBTAIN A. ALL RIGHTS R ST 13, 2022 2023-03-22 TT	FROM KNIGHT ATION E CHARTS – 23. IED FROM ESERVED.
[프 프 000000 1403 480 1400 1400 1400 1400 1400 1400 1400	EFERE DIESOLD BTAINS EOGR/ ROJEC LIENT BAFFI BAF	NCE(S) ORT INFRAS D LTD. FULC ED FROM CA BAY AND AF BAY AND AF CALL AND TA AF CALL AND AF CALL AND AF A	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN, NADIAN ICE SE PULATED PLAC PROJECT MAMMAL / IRON MINE PROJECT MAMMAL / IND LEG 2	25 TA BY HATCH, J AGEMENT SITE ERVICE, GOVER E AND PROVIN E SOUTE BAY E SOUTE	KILC ANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. NMENT OF CA CACESSED CIAL BOUNDAI RATION RATION RVEYS – AUGUS 'Y-MM-DD SIGNED PARED	50 DMETRES D17, RETRIEVED ICE CONCENTR NADA. DAILY IC JANUARY 20, 202 RY DATA OBTAIN A. ALL RIGHTS R ST 13, 2022 2023-03-22 TT AA	FROM KNIGHT ATION E CHARTS – 23. IED FROM ESERVED.
에이이이 1 년 년 1 년 1 년 1 년 1 년 1 년 1 년 1 년 1	EFERE BTAINS BTAINS PIESOLD BTAINS PORCO EOGRA ROJEC LIENT BAFFI BAFFI BAFFI BAFFI BAFFI BAFFI CLIF	NCE(S) ORT INFRAS D LTD. FULC ED FROM CA BAY AND AF BAY AND AF CALL AND TA AF CALL AND AF CALL A	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN, INADIAN ICE SE PULATED PLAC PROJECT MAMMAL / IRON MINE PROJECT MAMMAL / IND LEG 2	25 TA BY HATCH, J AGEMENT SITE ERVICE, GOVER EAND PROVIN ESCORPO AERIAL SU SURVEY 1 SURVEY 1	KILC ANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. NMENT OF CA CACESSED CIAL BOUNDAI RATION RATION RATION RVEYS - AUGUS 'Y-MM-DD GIGNED PARED /IEWED	50 DMETRES D17, RETRIEVED ICE CONCENTR NADA. DAILY IC JANUARY 20, 202 RY DATA OBTAIN A. ALL RIGHTS R ST 13, 2022 2023-03-22 TT AA TT	FROM KNIGHT ATION E CHARTS – 23. IED FROM ESERVED.
(1000000) 100000000000000000000000000000	EFERE BTAINS BTAINS BTAINS AFFIN VDROC EOGR/ ROJEC LIENT BAFFI BAFFI BAFFI BAFFI BAFFI BAFFI BAFFI CLIF	NCE(S) ORT INFRAS D LTD. FULC ED FROM CA BAY AND AF BAY	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN, INADIAN ICE SE PULATED PLAC PROJECT MAMMAL / IRON MINE PROJECT MAMMAL / IND LEG 2	25 TA BY HATCH, J AGEMENT SITE ERVICE, GOVER EAND PROVINU M: NAD 83 ES CORPO AERIAL SU SURVEY 1 SURVEY 1	KILC ANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. NMENT OF CA CACESSED CIAL BOUNDAI RATION RATION RVEYS - AUGUS 'Y-MM-DD SIGNED PARED /IEWED PROVED	50 DMETRES D17, RETRIEVED ICE CONCENTR NADA. DAILY IC JANUARY 20, 202 RY DATA OBTAIN A. ALL RIGHTS R CONCENTRATION	FROM KNIGHT ATION E CHARTS – 23. IED FROM ESERVED.
년 월 100000 300000 300000 300000 300000 3000000	EFERE DILINE P IESOLE BTAINS EOGR/ ROJEC LIENT BAFFI BAFFI BAFFI BAFFI BAFFI BAFFI CLIF CLIF	NCE(S) ORT INFRAS D LTD. FULC ED FROM CA BAY AND AF BAY AND AF TION: UTM 2 INLAND T X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X	0 1:1,000,000 STRUCTURE DA RUM DATA MAN. STRUCTURE DA PROACHES TO PULATED PLAC PROJECT MAMMAL / IRON MINE PROJECT MAMMAL / IND LEG 2 CONTROL	25 TA BY HATCH, J AGEMENT SITE ERVICE, GOVER ESOLUTE BAY E, AND PROVINA M: NAD 83 ES CORPO AERIAL SU SURVEY 1 SURVEY 1 PRE REV APR	KILC ANUARY 25, 20 MAY 19, 2017. NMENT OF CA CACESSED CIAL BOUNDAI RACION RATION RVEYS - AUGUS 'Y-MM-DD SIGNED PARED /IEWED 'ROVED RE	50 DMETRES D17, RETRIEVED ICE CONCENTR NADA. DAILY IC JANUARY 20, 202 RY DATA OBTAIN A. ALL RIGHTS R 2023-03-22 TT AA TT PA	FROM KNIGHT ATION ECHARTS – 23. IED FROM ESERVED.



AND		0					
	•	COMMUNIT	Y		AERIAL SUR	VEY TRACK	
	∢	MILNE POR	т	—	MILNE INLET	TOTE ROAD	
	PHOTO			PROJEC	T VESSEL SH	IIP TRACKS	
		BELLICA	DOLINATIONS	****	BULK (ORE)	CARRIER	
		BOWHEAD	WHAI F	****	GENERAL C	ARGO VESSEL	
				****	ICEBREAKE	R (BOTNICA)	
			PECIES	<i>}</i>	SERVICE VE	SSEL	
	OBSER	ATIONS (GF	OUP SIZE)	NON-PR	OJECT VESS	EL SHIP	
	BELUGA	4			OTHER		
ÎT	▼	1		-1	NUNAVUT SI	ETTLEMENT AREA	
30	\bigtriangledown	2-10		1.5	BOUNDARY		
. [\bigtriangledown	10+			WATERBODY	(NO ICE DATA)	
E C	V			ICE CON	CENTRATION	4	
	BOWHE	AD WHALE			< 1/10		
	<u> </u>	1					
		2-10					
1.	HARP S	EAL					
	O 2	1					
	\bigcirc	2-10					
	\bigcap	10.					
		10+					
	and Server	AL					
	₩ ▼	1					
	\bigtriangledown	2-10					
	$\overline{}$						
	\lor	10+					
ad ?	POLAR	BEAR					
- Ale		1					
ari,		2-10					
	RINGED	SEAL					
	•	1					
		2-10					
	UNIDEN	IFIED SEAL					
	\sim	1					
	\bigcirc	2-10					
W. A	UNIDEN	TIFIED WHA	LE				
	▼	1					
ne/lir							
		0		20		<u></u>	
		U L		30		60	
A	8		1:1,100,000		KILO	DMETRES	
A	PIESOLI	ORT INFRAS	RUM DATA MANAGE	EMENT SITE	MUARY 25, 2 MAY 19, 2017	ICE CONCENTRATI	OM KNIGHT ON
∇	OBTAINI BAFFIN	ED FROM CA BAY AND AP	NADIAN ICE SERVI PROACHES TO RES	ICE, GOVERI SOLUTE BAY	MENT OF CA	ANADA. DAILY ICE C JANUARY 20, 2023.	HARTS –
X	HYDRO	GRAPHY, PO	PULATED PLACE, A	ND PROVINC	CES CANAD	RY DATA OBTAINED	FROM
	PROJEC	TION: UTM Z	ONE 17 DATUM: N	IAD 83			
				00000			
	DALL			JUNPUI			
X	PROJEC	т					
\mathbf{M}	MAR	RIVER	PROJECT				
N	2022	MARINE	MAMMAL AE	RIAL SUI	VEYS		
		RALTY II	NLET LEG 2 S	SURVEY	2 – AUGI	JST 14. 2022	
					_ ,		
1	CONSUL	TANT		YYY	Y-MM-DD	2023-03-22	
				DES	IGNED	TT	
		11		PRE	PARED	AA	
				REV	IEWED	TT	
W.				APP	ROVED	PA	
5	PROJEC	CT NO.	CONTROL		RI	EV.	FIGURE
N. (1964 P	16637	/2401	59000-06		0		B-10

25mm IF THIS MEASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE



ND	LEGEND					
ND.	COMMUN	ITY		AERIAL SUR	VEY TRACK	
	🛔 😿 🛛 MILNE PO	DRT		MILNE INLET	TOTE ROAD	
	^{SOM} PHOTOGRAPHIC S MAMMAL SPECIES	URVEY MARINE	PROJE	CT VESSEL SH	IIP TRACKS	
1	BOWHEA	D WHALE	****	BULK (ORE)	CARRIER	
	NARWHA	L	****	GENERAL C	ARGO VESSEL	
	MARINE MAMMAL	SPECIES	77777			
	OBSERVATIONS (ROUP SIZE)	NON-PE		SSEL	
3			TRACK	3		
Ň	\sim		****	OTHER		
E	10+		\boxtimes	40 km BUFFE	ER ZONE	
	NARWHAL		124	NUNAVUT SE BOUNDARY	ETTLEMENT ARE	A
	2-10			WATERBODY	(NO ICE DATA)	
	POLAR BEAR		ICE CO	CENTRATION	4	
	1			< 1/10		
	RINGED SEAL					
	• 1					
	2-10					
	UNIDENTIFIED SE	AL				
	0 1					
	2-10					
_	0					
	2					
	100000					
\square	8					
\gg						
\bigotimes						
\bigotimes						
\bigotimes						
\boxtimes						
		0	25		50	
	REFERENCE(S)	1:1,000,000		KILC	DMETRES	
	MILNE PORT INFR	ASTRUCTURE DATA E	BY HATCH, J	ANUARY 25, 2	017, RETRIEVED	FROM KNIGHT
	OBTAINED FROM (CRUM DATA MANAGE	ICE, GOVER	NMENT OF CA	NADA. DAILY IC	E CHARTS –
	HYDROGRAPHY, P	OPULATED PLACE, A	ND PROVIN	CIAL BOUNDA	JANUARY 20, 202 RY DATA OBTAIN	23. IED FROM
	GEOGRATIS, © DE PROJECTION: UTM	PARIMENT OF NATUR	KAL RESOU NAD 83	KCES CANAD	A. ALL RIGHTS R	ESERVED.
	CLIENT					
		IRON MINES	CORPO	RATION		
	PROJECT					
	MARY RIVER	ROJECT				
	2022 MARIN	E MAMMAL AE	RIAL SU	RVEYS		
	TITLE FCI IDSE SO		IRVEV 2		ST 16 2022	
				- 40608	51 10, 2022	
	CONSULTANT		YYY	Y-MM-DD	2023-03-22	
		6 I N	DES	SIGNED	TT	
	• • • •		PRE	EPARED	AA	
			RE	/IEWED	TT	
			APF	PROVED	PA	
	PROJECT NO.	CONTROL		RE	EV.	FIGURE
_	166372401	59000-06		0		B-11



	LEGEN)					
AND	•	COMMUNITY			AERIAL SURVE	Y TRACK	
	i 🔒					DTE ROAD	
		GRAPHIC SUR		PROJEC	T VESSEL SHIP	TRACKS	
	мамма	L SPECIES OF	SERVATIONS	****	BULK (ORE) CA	RRIER	
		BELUGA		}}}}	GENERAL CAR	GO VESSEL	
		BOWHEAD W	HALE	****	ICEBREAKER (E	BOTNICA)	
		NARWHAL		****	SERVICE VESS	EL	
	MARINE	MAMMAL SPI	ECIES	NON-PR	OJECT VESSEL	SHIP	
	BEARD	ED SEAL		TRACKS	6		
	•	1		****	ICEBREAKER (FERRY FOX)	
ЛТ С	BELUGA	A.			OTHER		
	~	1			40 km BUFFER	ZONE	
2	HARP S	EAL		(\mathbb{Z}^{n})	NUNAVUT SETT BOUNDARY	LEMENT AREA	
E Ch	0	1			WATERBODY (N	IO ICE DATA)	
	\cap	2-10		ICE CON		,	
	\bigcirc	2-10			< 1/10		
	$\left(\right)$	10+					
/							
	NARWH	AL					
/	V	1					
	POLAR	BEAR					
111		1					
	RINGED	SEAL					
	•	1					
		2-10					
		TIFIED SEAL					
	0000	1					
		2-10					
	\bigcirc						
\mathbf{X}^{-}							
\bigotimes							
\bigotimes							
\times							
\times							
\bigotimes							
\sim							
		0		25		50	
			1 000 000			TDEC	
	REFERE	1 INCE(S)	:1,000,000		KILOMI	EIRES	
	MILNE P	PORT INFRAST	RUCTURE DATA BY	HATCH, J	ANUARY 25, 2017	, RETRIEVED FR	OM KNIGHT
	OBTAIN	ED FROM CAN	ADIAN ICE SERVICE	ENT SITE E, GOVER	MAY 19, 2017. IC NMENT OF CANA	ADA. DAILY ICE C	HARTS –
	BAFFIN HYDRO	BAY AND APP GRAPHY, POPI	ROACHES TO RESO JLATED PLACE, ANE	DUTE BAY	'. ACCESSED JAN CIAL BOUNDARY	NUARY 20, 2023. DATA OBTAINED	FROM
	GEOGR. PROJEC	ATIS, © DEPAR TION: UTM ZO	TMENT OF NATURA	L RESOUI 0 83	RCES CANADA. A	ALL RIGHTS RESE	ERVED.
	CLIENT			'			
	₿AFF	INLAND IF	RON MINES C	ORPO	RATION		
	80000						
		ת סבו/וב ר מי					
	2022		AMMAI AFRI	IAL SU	RVEYS		
	TITLE						
	ECI IF			RVEY 3	– AUGUST	17, 2022	
		-3E 300r	ID LEG 2 SUF				
		-32 300	ID LEG 2 SUF				
	CONSUL		ID LEG 2 SUF	YYY	Y-MM-DD	2023-03-22	
	CONSUL		ID LEG 2 SUF	YYY	Y-MM-DD	2023-03-22 TT	
	CONSUL			YYY DES PRE	Y-MM-DD SIGNED PARED	2023-03-22 TT AA	
	CONSUL			YYY DES PRE RE\	Y-MM-DD BIGNED PARED (IEWED	2023-03-22 TT AA TT	
	CONSUL			YYY DES PRE RE\ APF	Y-MM-DD SIGNED PARED /IEWED ROVED	2023-03-22 TT AA TT PA	
	CONSUL			YYYY DES PRE RE\ APF	Y-MM-DD SIGNED PARED VIEWED ROVED REV.	2023-03-22 TT AA TT PA	FIGURE

55000 IF THIS MEASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE HAS BEEN N



25000 IF THIS MEASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE HAS BEEN MODIFI



LEGEND		
COMMUNITY	—— AER	IAL SURVEY TRACK
	MILM	E INLET TOTE ROAD
	PROJECT VE	SSEL SHIP TRACKS
MAMMAL SPECIES OBSERVA		
NARWHAL	SED	
MARINE MAMMAL SPECIES		
OBSERVATIONS (GROUP SIZE	E) TRACKS	I VESSEL SHIP
BEARDED SEAL	DTH	ER
• 1	40 k	m BUFFER ZONE
BELUGA		AVUT SETTLEMENT AREA
▼ 1	BOU	NDARY
HARP SEAL	WAT	ERBODY (NO ICE DATA)
0 1	ICE CONCEN	TRATION
2-10	< 1/*	10
$\tilde{\frown}$		
10+		
2-10		
POLAR BEAR		
1		
RINGED SEAL		
• 1		
2-10		
ONIDENTIFIED SEAL		
£ <u>2-10</u>		
UNIDENTIFIED WHALE		
<i>**</i>		
0	25	50
0 1:1,000,0 REFERENCE(S)	25	50 KILOMETRES
0 1:1,000,0 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTUI PIESOLD LTD. FULCRUM DAT7 OBTAINED FROM CANADIAN BAFFIN BAY AND APPROACH HYDROGRAPHY, POPULATED GEOGRATIS, © DEPARTMENT PROJECTION: UTM ZONE 17 CLIENT BAFFINLAND IRON 1	25 00 RE DATA BY HATCH, JANUA MANAGEMENT SITE MAY ICE SERVICE, GOVERNMEJ SE TO RESOLUTE BAY. ACC PLACE, AND PROVINCIAL I OF NATURAL RESOURCES DATUM: NAD 83 MINES CORPORAT	50 KILOMETRES RY 25, 2017, RETRIEVED FROM KNIGH 19, 2017. ICE CONCENTRATION IT OF CANADA. DAILY ICE CHARTS – SESSED JANUARY 20, 2023. SOUNDARY DATA OBTAINED FROM CANADA. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
0 1:1,00,0 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTUI PIESOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATA OBTAINED FROM CANADIAN BAFFIN BAY AND APPROACH HYDROGRAPHY, POPULATED GEOGRATIS, © DEPARTMENT PROJECTION: UTM ZONE 17 CLIENT BAFFINLAND IRON N 8	25 THE DATA BY HATCH, JANUA MANAGEMENT SITE MAY ICE SERVICE, GOVERNMEN ES TO RESOLUTE BAY, ACC PLACE, AND PROVINCIAL I OF NATURAL RESOURCES DATUM: NAD 83 MINES CORPORAT	50 KILOMETRES RY 25, 2017, RETRIEVED FROM KNIGH 19, 2017. ICE CONCENTRATION IT OF CANADA. DAILY ICE CHARTS – SESSED JANUARY 20, 2023. SOUNDARY DATA OBTAINED FROM CANADA. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
0 T1:1,00,0 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTUI PIESOLD LTD. FULCRUM DAT/ OBTAINED FROM CANADIAN BAFFIN BAY AND APPROACH HYDROGRAPHY, POPULATED GEOGRATIS, © DEPARTMENT PROJECTION: UTM ZONE 17 CLIENT BAFFINLAND IRON N PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJE 2022 MARINE MAMM	25 00 RE DATA BY HATCH, JANUA MANAGEMENT SITE MAY ICE SERVICE, GOVERNMEI SE TO RESOLUTE BAY. ACC PLACE, AND PROVINCIAL I OF NATURAL RESOURCES DATUM: NAD 83 MINES CORPORAT ECT IAL AERIAL SURVE	50 KILOMETRES RY 25, 2017, RETRIEVED FROM KNIGH 9, 2017. ICE CONCENTRATION IT OF CANADA. DAILY ICE CHARTS – SESSED JANUARY 20, 2023. SOUNDARY DATA OBTAINED FROM CANADA. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.
0 1:1,000,0 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTUI PIESOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATA OBTAINED FROM CANADIAN BAFFIN BAY AND APPROACHI HYDROGRAPHY, POPULATED GEOGRATIS, © DEPARTMENT PROJECTION: UTM ZONE 17 CLIENT BAFFINLAND IRON N PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJE 2022 MARINE MAMM TITLE ECLIPSE SOUND LE	25 00 RE DATA BY HATCH, JANUA MANAGEMENT SITE MAY ICE SERVICE, GOVERNMEI SE TO RESOLUTE BAY, ACC PLACE, AND PROVINCIAL I OF NATURAL RESOURCES DATUM: NAD 83 MINES CORPORAT ECT MAL AERIAL SURVE EG 2 SURVEY 4 – A	50 KILOMETRES RY 25, 2017, RETRIEVED FROM KNIGH 19, 2017. ICE CONCENTRATION IT OF CANADA. DAILY ICE CHARTS – IESSED JANUARY 20, 2023. BOUNDARY DATA OBTAINED FROM CANADA. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. TION EYS JUGUST 21, 2022
0 TI:1,000,0 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTUI PIESOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATA OBTAINED FROM CANADIAN BAFFIN BAY AND APPROACHI HYDROGRAPHY, POPULATED GEOGRATIS, © DEPARTMENT PROJECTION: UTM ZONE 17 CLIENT BAFFINLAND IRON N PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJE 2022 MARINE MAMM TITLE ECLIPSE SOUND LE	25 00 RE DATA BY HATCH, JANUA MANAGEMENT SITE MAY ICE SERVICE, GOVERNMEH SE TO RESOLUTE BAY, ACC PLACE, AND PROVINCIAL I OF NATURAL RESOURCES DATUM: NAD 83 MINES CORPORAT CT IAL AERIAL SURVE CT IAL AERIAL SURVE CT IAL AERIAL SURVE	50 KILOMETRES RY 25, 2017, RETRIEVED FROM KNIGH 19, 2017. ICE CONCENTRATION IT OF CANADA. DAILY ICE CHARTS – IESSED JANUARY 20, 2023. SOUNDARY DATA OBTAINED FROM CANADA. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. TON TON EYS UGUST 21, 2022
0 TI:1,000,0 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTUI PIESOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATA OBTAINED FROM CANADIAN BAFFIN BAY AND APPROACHI HYDROGRAPHY, POPULATED GEOGRATIS, © DEPARTMENT PROJECTION: UTM ZONE 17 CLIENT BAFFINLAND IRON N PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJE 2022 MARINE MAMM TITLE ECLIPSE SOUND LE	25 00 RE DATA BY HATCH, JANUA MANAGEMENT SITE MAY ICE SERVICE, GOVERNMEH ES TO RESOLUTE BAY. ACC PLACE, AND PROVINCIAL I OF NATURAL RESOURCES DATUM: NAD 83 MINES CORPORAT ECT IAL AERIAL SURVE EG 2 SURVEY 4 – A YYYY-MM DESIGNE	50 KILOMETRES RY 25, 2017, RETRIEVED FROM KNIGH 19, 2017. ICE CONCENTRATION IT OF CANADA. DAILY ICE CHARTS – IESSED JANUARY 20, 2023. SOUNDARY 20, 2023. SOUNDARY DATA OBTAINED FROM CANADA. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. ION EYS UGUST 21, 2022 ID TT
0 T:1,000,0 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTUP PIESOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATA OBTAINED FROM CANADIAN BAFFIN BAY AND APPROACH HYDROGRAPHY, POPULATED GEOGRATIS, © DEPARTMENT PROJECTION: UTM ZONE 17 CLIENT BAFFINLAND IRON M PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJE 2022 MARINE MAMM TITLE ECLIPSE SOUND LE	25 00 RE DATA BY HATCH, JANUA MANAGEMENT SITE MAY ICE SERVICE, GOVERNMEN ES TO RESOLUTE BAY, ACC OF NATURAL RESOURCES DATUM: NAD 83 MINES CORPORAT ECT MAL AERIAL SURVE EG 2 SURVEY 4 – A VYYY-MM DESIGNE PREPART	50 KILOMETRES RY 25, 2017, RETRIEVED FROM KNIGH 19, 2017, ICE CONCENTRATION 17 OF CANADA. DAILY ICE CHARTS – JESSED JANUARY 20, 2023. SOUNDARY 20, 2023. JOUNDARY DATA OBTAINED FROM CANADA. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. ION EYS UGUST 21, 2022 D TT ED AA
0 1:1,000,0 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTUP PIESOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATA OBTAINED FROM CANADIAN BAFFIN BAY AND APPROACH HYDROGRAPHY, POPULATED GEOGRATIS, © DEPARTMENT PROJECTION: UTM ZONE 17 CLIENT BAFFINLAND IRON M PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJE 2022 MARINE MAMM TITLE ECLIPSE SOUND LE	25 00 RE DATA BY HATCH, JANUA MANAGEMENT SITE MAY ICE SERVICE, GOVERNMEN ES TO RESOLUTE BAY. ACC OF NATURAL RESOURCES DATUM: NAD 83 MINES CORPORAT ECT MAL AERIAL SURVE EG 2 SURVEY 4 – A VYYY-MM DESIGNE PREPARI DEVIEWA	50 KILOMETRES RY 25, 2017, RETRIEVED FROM KNIGH 10, 2017, ICE CONCENTRATION IT OF CANADA. DAILY ICE CHARTS – IESSED JANUARY 20, 2023. ISOUNDARY 20
0 1:1,000,0 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTUP PIESOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATA OBTAINED FROM CANADIAN BAFFIN BAY AND APPROACH HYDROGRAPHY, POPULATED GEOGRATIS, © DEPARTMENT PROJECTION: UTM ZONE 17 CLIENT BAFFINLAND IRON M PROJECT MARY RIVER PROJE 2022 MARINE MAMM TITLE ECLIPSE SOUND LE	25 00 RE DATA BY HATCH, JANUA MANAGEMENT SITE MAY ICE SERVICE, GOVERNMEN ES TO RESOLUTE BAY. ACC OF NATURAL RESOURCES DATUM: NAD 83 MINES CORPORAT ECT MAL AERIAL SURVE EG 2 SURVEY 4 – A VYYY-MM DESIGNE PREPARI REVIEWI ADDOCT	50 KILOMETRES RY 25, 2017, RETRIEVED FROM KNIGH 19, 2017, ICE CONCENTRATION NT OF CANADA. DAILY ICE CHARTS IESSED JANUARY 20, 2023. ISOUNDARY 20, 2023. ISOUNDARY DATA OBTAINED FROM CANADA. ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. ION EYS UGUST 21, 2022 D TT D AA D TT D AA D TT D PA
0 1:1,000,0 REFERENCE(S) MILNE PORT INFRASTRUCTUI PIESOLD LTD. FULCRUM DATA OBTAINED FROM CANADIAN BAFFIN BAY AND APPROACH HYDROGRAPHY, POPULATED GEOGRAPHY, POPULATED	25 00 RE DATA BY HATCH, JANUA MANAGEMENT SITE MAY ICE SERVICE, GOVERNMEL STO RESOLUTE BAY. ACC OF NATURAL RESOURCES DATUM: NAD 83 MINES CORPORAT ECT MAL AERIAL SURVEY EG 2 SURVEY 4 – A VYYY-MM DESIGNE PREPARI REVIEWI APPROVI TOU	50 KILOMETRES RY 25, 2017, RETRIEVED FROM KNIGH 19, 2017, ICE CONCENTRATION IT OF CANADA. DAILY ICE CHARTS – EESED JANUARY 20, 2023. 30UNDARY 20, 2023. 30UNDARY 20, 2023. ION EYS JUGUST 21, 2022 ID 2023-03-22 ID TT ID AA ID TT ID ID

25mm IF THIS MEASUREMENT DOES NOT MATCH WHAT IS SHOWN, THE SHEET SIZE HAS B

APPENDIX C

Distance Sampling and Mark-Recapture Models

Table 1: Narwhal Distance Sampling and Mark-Recapture Models

	Distance Sampling		Mark-Recapture
AIC + key function + series adjustment	Model ¹	AIC	Model ¹
12724.323 gamma cos(2)	~GlareAng:GlareInt + ObsPair	1479.416	~observer + ObsPair:observer + ObsPair:distance + ObsPair
12728.864 gamma cos(2)	~ObsPair + GlareAng:GIrIntRank + GlareAng + RC45	1488.310	~observer + ObsPair:observer + observer:distance + ObsPair
12729.258 gamma cos(2)	~ObsPair + GlareAng:GlrIntRank + GlareAng + RC45 + size	1503.855	~observer + ObsPair:observer + size
12729.761 gamma cos(2)	~ObsPair + GlareAng:GlrIntRank + GlareAng + RC60 + Bft	1504.537	~observer + ObsPair:observer + size:Bft + size
12730.029 half-norm cos(2)	~GlareAng:GlareInt + ObsPair	1504.773	~observer + ObsPair:observer + size:Bft + Bft + size
12730.563 gamma cos(2,3)	~ObsPair + GlareAng:GIrIntRank + GlareAng + RC30	1505.846	~observer + ObsPair:observer + Bft + size
12730.822 gamma cos(2,3)	~ObsPair + GlareAng:GIrIntRank + GlareAng + RC45	1511.333	~observer + ObsPair:observer + size:Bft
12731.824 half-norm cos(2,3)	~GlareAng:GlareInt + ObsPair	1512.386	~observer + ObsPair:observer + size:Bft + Bft
12732.505 half-norm cos(2)	~ObsPair + GlareAng:GlrIntRank + GlareAng + GlrIntRank + size	1515.764	~observer + ObsPair:observer + ObsPair:distance
12733.817 haz-rate poly(4)	~ObsPair + GlareAng:GIrIntRank + GlareAng	1516.743	~observer + ObsPair:observer:distance + Bft + distance + ObsPair
12733.923 half-norm cos(2)	~ObsPair + GlareAng:GlrIntRank + GlareAng + RC15 + Bft + size	1518.152	~observer + ObsPair:observer:distance + distance + ObsPair

	Distance Sampling		Mark-Recapture
AIC + key function + series adjustment	Model ¹	AIC	Model ¹
12734.101 half-norm cos(2)	~ObsPair + GlareAng:GlrIntRank + GlareAng + RC15 + Bft	1518.367	~observer + ObsPair:observer + observer:distance + distance
12734.210 haz-rate poly(4)	~ObsPair + GlareAng:GlrIntRank + GlareAng + RC15	1523.046	~observer + ObsPair:observer:distance + Bft + ObsPair
12734.385 haz-rate poly(4)	~GlareAng:GlareInt + ObsPair	1524.683	~observer + ObsPair:observer:distance + ObsPair
12734.763 half-norm cos(3)	~GlareAng:GlareInt + ObsPair	1524.890	~observer + ObsPair:observer + GlareAng:GlrInt + GlareAng
12734.822 Haz-rate cos(2)	~ObsPair + GlareAng:GlrIntRank + GlareAng	1525.199	~observer + ObsPair:observer
12734.923 half-norm cos(3)	~ObsPair + GlareAng:GlrIntRank + GlareAng + RC15 + size	1525.738	~observer + ObsPair:observer + Bft:distance
12734.947 Haz-rate poly(6)	~ObsPair + GlareAng:GlrIntRank + GlareAng	1526.000	~observer + ObsPair:observer + Bft + distance
12734.988 Haz-rate cos(2)	~ObsPair + GlareAng:GlrIntRank + GlareAng + GlrIntRank	1526.050	~observer + ObsPair:observer + Bft:distance + distance
12735.011 half-norm cos(2)	~ObsPair + GlareAng:GlrIntRank + GlareAng + Bft + size	1526.349	~observer + ObsPair:observer + Bft + Bft:distance

 distance = horizontal distance, GlareAng = glare coverage angle, GlareInt = glare intensity, GlrIntRank = glare intensity rank, observer = primary/secondary observer, ObsPair = pairing of individual observers on same side of aircraft, size = group size, Bft = Beaufort seastate, RCxx = rolling count for the number of observation recorded within the xx seconds prior to an observation and summed for both observers in a pairing.

APPENDIX D

Leg 2 Relative Abundance of Marine Mammals

Relative Abundance of Marine Mammals in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet Grids

Marine mammal relative abundance was calculated and expressed as number of animals/km, as outlined in Section 2.4.2 of the report. In 2022 a total of 5,709.49 km of effort (4,641.60 km during visual surveys and 1,067.88 km during photographic surveys) was flown over two completed surveys in Eclipse Sound (Survey 3 and 4) and Admiralty Inlet (Survey 2 and 3) grids. The relative abundance of marine mammals in the Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet grids for the surveys, expressed as the animal detection rate (no. of animals relative to survey effort in km), are shown in Tables 1 and 2.

Eclipse Sound Grid: Narwhal had the highest relative abundance (0.6512 animals/km) of all the marine mammal species identified to the species level, followed by ringed seal, harp seal, bearded seal, beluga whale, bowhead whale, and then polar bear (Table 1). Unidentified seals had the fourth highest relative abundance of 0.0302 animals/km in the Eclipse Sound grid.

Admiralty Inlet Grid: Narwhal had the highest relative abundance (2.8330 animals/km) of all the marine mammal species identified to the species level, followed by harp seal, ringed seal, beluga whale, bowhead whale, and then walrus and polar bear (Table 2). Unidentified seals had the fourth highest relative abundance of 0.0318 animals/km in the Admiralty Inlet grid.

Species	Visual S	Survey	Photographic Survey	Combined Visual and Photographic Survey		
	No. of Sightings	No. of Animals	Surface Count	Animal Detection Rate (animals/km)		
Narwhal	76	122	1,883	0.6512		
Bowhead Whale	0	0	2	0.0006		
Beluga Whale	2	2	3	0.0016		
Unidentified Whale	1	1	0	0.0003		
Ringed Seal	154	168	—	0.0726		
Harp Seal	13	108	_	0.0466		
Bearded Seal	5	5	_	0.0022		
Walrus	0	0	_	0.0000		
Unidentified Seal	63	70	-	0.0302		
Polar Bear	2	2	0	0.0006		

 Table 1: Sighting and Animal Detection Rate (Relative Abundance) of Marine Mammals in Eclipse Sound

 Grid during Leg 2, Surveys 3 and 4

Table 2: Sighting and Animal Detection Rate (Relative Abundance) of Marine Mammals in	Admiralty Inlet
Grid during Leg 2, Surveys 2 and 3	-

Species	Visual S	Survey	Photographic Survey	Combined Visual and Photographic Survey	
	No. of Sightings	No. of Animals	Surface Count	Animal Detection Rate (animals/km)	
Narwhal	930	1744	5,708	2.8330	
Bowhead Whale	5	8	1	0.0034	
Beluga Whale	10	53	22	0.0285	
Unidentified Whale	1	1	0	0.0004	
Ringed Seal	123	143	_	0.0615	
Harp Seal	106	446	_	0.1917	
Bearded Seal	0	0	_	0.0000	
Walrus	1	1	_	0.0004	
Unidentified Seal	62	74	_	0.0318	
Polar Bear	1	1	0	0.0004	

Comparison with 2021, 2020 and 2019 MMASP

The relative abundance for this section was calculated based on data collected for Survey 2, 3 and 4 in 2022, Survey 4 in the 2021 MMASP, Surveys 1 and 3 in the 2020 MMASP and Surveys 3 and 4 in the 2019 MMASP because these surveys had complete grid coverage of the combined survey grids in good sighting conditions.

Eclipse Sound Grid: The relative abundance of marine mammals in the RSA was higher in 2022 (0.77 animals/km) compared to that observed in 2021 (0.43 animals/km), but lower compared to that observed in 2020 (1.05 animals/km) and 2019 (1.74 animals/km; Table 3). Narwhal relative abundance in 2022 (0.6512 animals/km) increased by 99% compared to 2021 (0.3270 animals/km) and decreased by 60% and 15% compared to 2019 (1.6396 animals/km) and 2020 (0.7682 animals/km), respectively. Ringed seal relative abundance in 2022 (0.0726 animals/km) was similar to that seen in 2021 (0.0702 animals/km) and 2020 (0.736 animals/km) (Table 3). Harp seals relative abundance in 2022 was higher than in 2021, similar to 2020, and lower then that observed in 2019 (Table 3). It should be noted that the seal data should be interpreted with caution due to the difficulty of observing and identifying seals at survey altitudes of 305 m (1,000 ft) above sea level (ASL), especially as sea states increase.

Admiralty Inlet Grid: The relative abundance of marine mammals in the Admiralty Inlet grid was lower in 2022 (3.1181 animals/km) to that observed in 2021 (12.6872 animals/km), 2020 (3.3705 animals/km) and in 2019 (4.8911 animals/km; Table 3). Narwhal relative abundance in 2022 (2.8330 animals/km) increased by 37% compared to 2020 (2.0704 animals/km) and decreased by 17% and 75% compared to 2019 (3.4363 animals/km) and 2021 (11.6507 animals/km), respectively. Ringed seals and harp seals were observed in lower relative abundance in 2022 compared to 2012 and 2020, but higher relative abundance in 2022 compared to 2019 (Table 3). Unidentified seals were observed in lower relative abundance in 2022 compared to 2019 (Table 2021, 2020 and 2019).

Table 3: Relative Abundance of Marine Mammals in Eclipse Sound and Admiralty Inlet survey grids during Leg 2 in 2019, 2020 and 2021.

	Eclipse Sound Grid				Admiralty Inlet Grid			
Species	2019 (animals/km)	2020 (animals/km)	2021 (animals/km)	2022 (animals/km)	2019 (animals/km)	2020 (animals/km)	2021 (animals/km)	2022 (animals/km)
Narwhal	1.6396	0.7682	0.3270	0.6512	3.4363	2.0704	11.6507	2.8330
Bowhead Whale	0.0003	0.0003	0.0006	0.0006	0.0313	0.0087	0.0510	0.0034
Beluga Whale	_	-	-	0.0016	-	_	-	0.0285
Killer Whale	0.0010	0.0045	0.0000	-	0.0000	0.0000	0.0085	-
Sperm Whale	0.0000	0.0016	0.0000	_	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	_
Unidentified Whale	0.0000	0.0006	0.0000	0.0003	0.0000	0.0012	0.0014	0.0004
Ringed Seal	0.0047	0.0736	0.0702	0.0726	0.0122	0.0830	0.0920	0.0615
Harp Seal	0.0527	0.0448	0.0331	0.0466	0.1495	0.3685	0.9441	0.1917
Bearded Seal	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	0.0022	0.0000	0.0004	0.0000	-
Hooded Seal	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000	_	0.0000	0.0004	0.0000	_
Walrus	-	-	-	_	-	-	-	0.0004
Unidentified Seal	0.0574	0.1829	0.0289	0.0302	1.2938	0.9286	0.1708	0.0318
Polar Bear	0.0000	0.0000	0.0006	0.0006	0.0000	0.0032	0.0000	0.0004
Total	1.7396	1.0490	0.4301	0.7684	4.8911	3.3705	12.6872	3.1181

